### University of Alberta

Low Voltage Multi-level Converters using Split-wound Coupled Inductors

by

Jeffrey Ross Ewanchuk

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> Doctor of Philosophy in Energy Systems

Electrical and Computer Engineering

© Jeffrey Ross Ewanchuk Spring 2013 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

## Abstract

In low-voltage applications, an alternative approach to multi-level capacitorbased converters can be obtained by interleaving the switching of two converters across split-wound coupled inductors. When compared to traditional capacitor-based multi-level converters, using split-wound coupled inductors can double the effective switching frequency while eliminating the problem of voltage balancing inherent to split-capacitor connections. Furthermore, the number of voltage levels, relative to the number of devices, can be maximized by using an asymmetrical half-bridge topology with the splitwound coupled inductor. This thesis focuses on the topological attributes of asymmetrical half-bridge converters that use split-wound coupled inductors as a basis for low-cost, low voltage, multi-level converters.

In three-phase dc/ac applications, the use of coupled inductors and asymmetric bridges is examined for a three-level converter. To reduce converter weight and costs, the three-phase coupled inductors can be integrated into a single three-limb coupled inductor by eliminating the common mode winding voltages present in traditional interleaved pulse-width modulation schemes. Reduced conversion quality and increased device switching frequency are identified as the challenges in the elimination of these windings voltages. These challenges are experimentally examined with a modification to the modulation of the three-level converter. A three-phase, five-level coupled inductor dc/ac converter is then presented, and space vector based analysis is used to overcome the challenges inherent to three-limb coupled inductor operation. Thus, a compact five-level dc/ac converter is enabled as a low-cost solution to loss sensitive applications, such as low-inductance electric drive systems.

Automatic voltage balancing is also identified as a topological attribute of asymmetric half-bridges employing split-wound coupled inductors. With this attribute, a

modular balancing converter is presented for the automatic balancing of serially connected voltage sources, e.g. lithium ion batteries in electric vehicles. Two modes of voltage balancing are identified, and the circuit parameters that influence the balancing currents for each mode are described. The circuit parameters are then used to size commercial transformers, and the practical considerations of the power electronics are discussed for the experimental prototype. Therefore, a balancing converter that uses modular components is enabled for low-cost, non-dissipative, voltage balancing which does not require voltage feedback for operation.

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. John Salmon, for his guidance throughout my time at the University of Alberta. I feel that under his supervision, I have grown not only as an engineer, but as a person as well.

Additionally, I would also like to thank my supervisory committee, Dr. Li, Dr. Knight, Dr. Cockburn, Dr. Miller and Dr. Nowicki for their time and effort in reviewing this thesis.

Special thanks go to Albert Terheide, Russell Dodd, Chris Chapelsky, Junwei He, Frank Wang, Reaz Ul Haque and everyone in the common power electronics laboratory for their help over the years. Lastly, I would like to thank my wife, Jackie, for being relatively patient with the working hours that I chose, and the amount of time I spent in the lab.

This research work was financially supported by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC), Alberta Innovates Technology Futures (AITF), and the University of Alberta.

## **Table of Contents**

Chapter 1 - Split-wound Coupled Inductors in Multi-level Converter Systems			
	1.0	Introduction	1
	1.1	Motivation	2
	1.1.1	Lithium ion Battery Strings	2
	1.1.2	High-speed Electric Machines in Flywheel Battery Systems	3
	1.2	General Power Electronic Converters	5
	1.2.1	Multi-level Pulse-width Modulation	5
	1.2.2	Multi-level PWM Converters	6
	1.3	Split-wound Coupled Inductors for Multi-level Converters	7
	1.4	Thesis Objective and Outline	8
	1.5	Thesis Contributions	9
Chapte	er 2 - Lov	v Voltage Multi-level Converter Systems	
	2.1	General Three-Phase Multi-level Voltage Sourced Converters	11
	2.2	Multi-level Voltage Sourced Converters suitable for Low Voltage	13
	2.2.1	Neutral Point Clamped (NPC) Topologies	13
	2.2.2	T-Type Converters	14
	2.2.3	Three-phase Paralleled Converters with Reactors	15
	2.2.3.1	Parallel Three-phase Converters	15
	2.2.3.2	Research Trends in Three-phase Parallel Converter Systems	17
	2.2.3.3	Advanced Coupled Inductor Based Topologies	18
	2.3	Pulse-width Modulation in Multi-level Voltage Sourced Converters	21
	2.3.1	Space Vector Modulation for a Two-level Voltage Sourced Converter	21
	2.3.2	Multi-level Carrier based Techniques	24
	2.3.4	Space Vector Modulation for Multi-level Inverters	25
	2.4	Voltage Balancing Circuits	29
	2.4.1	Dissipative Balancing Circuits	30
	2.4.2	Non-Dissipative - Capacitor Charge Shuttling	31
	2.4.3	Non-Dissipative - Current Shunting	32
	2.4.4	Non-Dissipative - Converter-based Balancing	32
	2.5	Chapter Summary	34
Chapte	r 3 - Asy	mmetric Coupled Inductor Bridge as a Three-level Three-phase Co	nverter
	3.1	Basic Operation of the Six-Switch Coupled Inductor Converter	35
	3.1.1	Switching States within a Coupled Inductor Converter	35
	3.1.2	Interleaved Modulation of Split-wound Coupled Inductor Converters	36
	3.1.3	Summary of SS-CIC Benefits	38
	3.1.4	Simulation Models of Three-Level Coupled Inductor Converters	39

	3.2	Three Separate Single Phase and Combined Three-limb	
		Coupled Inductors	39
	3.3	Challenges of Three-limb Coupled Inductor Operation	42
	3.3.1	Common Mode Winding Voltages	42
	3.3.2	Modified DPWM1	45
	3.3.3	Consequences of Modifying DPWM1 for Common Mode	
		Winding Voltage Elimination	48
	3.4	Experimental Setup	50
	3.5	Experimental Results and Discussion	52
	3.5	Chapter Summary	56
Chapter	r 4 - Asy	mmetric Coupled Inductor Bridge as a Five-level Three-phase Conv	erter
	4.1	The Five-Level Neutral Point Clamped Coupled Inductor Converter	58
	4.1.1	Switching States of the NPC-CIC	58
	4.1.2	Weight Reduction of the Coupled Inductor with the NPC Topology	60
	4.1.3	Simulation Model for the NPC-CIC	62
	4.2	Interleaved Pulse-Width Modulation of the NPC-CIC	63
	4.2.1	'Flipped Carrier' DPWM with Interleaving Carriers	64
	4.3	Elimination of the Common-mode Winding Voltages in the NPC-CIC	67
	4.3.1	A Complete Picture of the Space Vector Approach to	
		Common mode Winding Voltage Elimination in the NPC-CIC	69
	4.3.2	Implementation of 'WCME' SVPWM	71
	4.3.3	Effect of 'WCME' SVPWM on Winding Currents and Line Voltages	74
	4.3.4	Average Device Switching Frequency	75
	4.3.5	Neutral Point Balancing	76
	4.4	Experimental Setup	78
	4.4.1	Construction of a 10kW Three-phase NPC-CIC prototype	79
	4.4.2	Three-limb Coupled Inductor Core	79
	4.4.3	Software Setup	80
	4.5	Experimental Results and Discussion	81
	4.5.1	General NPC-CIC performance	81
	4.5.1	Winding Current Reduction with the 'WCME' SVPWM Approach	83
	4.5.2.	Performance with No Common Mode Winding Voltages	85
	4.6	Chapter Summary	86
Chapter	r 5 - Asy	mmetric Coupled Inductor Bridge as a Modular Balancing Bridge	
	5.1	The Modular Balancing Bridge	88
	5.2	Intra-bridge Voltage Balancing of the MBB	89

	5.2.1	Basic Operation of the MBB for Unbalanced	
		Intra-bridge Voltages	90
	5.2.2	First Order Approximation of the Device Parameter Effects	94
	5.2.3	Resultant Voltage Balancing	97
	5.3	Inter-Bridge Voltage Balancing	97
	5.3.1	Basic Operation of the MBB for Unbalanced	
		Inter-bridge Voltages	98
	5.3.2	First Order Approximation of the Device Parameter Effects	102
	5.3.3	Resultant Voltage Balancing	106
	5.4	Peak Balancing Power versus Transformer Size	107
	5.5	Practical Device Switching Issues	110
	5.6	Experimental Setup	111
	5.7	Experimental Results	112
	5.8	Discussion	113
	5.9	Chapter Summary	115
Chapte	r 6 - Cor	clusion and Future Work	
	6.1	Summary of Contributions	116
	6.2	Future Work	117
	6.3	Concluding Remarks	119
Bibliog	raphy		120
Append	lix		
	Switch	Selection Tables (with index input)	126

# List of Tables

Table 4-1. Three-limb coupled inductor losses (in W) and weight (in lbs) for the six-	61
switch CIC and the NPC-CIC for a) 208V designs and b) 480V designs	
Table 5-1. HP2 Series six-winding coupled inductor from Coilcraft	109

# **List of Figures**

Fig. 1-1. High-level overview of a series hybrid drive train	1
Fig. 1-2. A multi-modular converter	2
Fig. 1-3. A 24 cell lithium-ion battery pack	3
Fig. 1-4. Flywheel battery system: a) example photograph and b) equivalent electrical circuit for a permanent magnet synchronous machine. 'Vemf' is the back electromotive force of the electric machine, and ' $V_{PWM}$ ' is the pulse-width modulated converter voltage	4
Fig. 1-5. Single-phase voltage converter topology illustrating the pulse-width modulated output of the input dc voltage, $V_{\rm DC}$	5
Fig. 1-6. a) Two-level and b) three-level pulse-width modulation across a load, with c) the corresponding harmonic spectrum to the two-level and d) the three-level pulse-width modulation	6
Fig. 1-7. a) Three-level voltage sourced converter (neutral point clamped), and b) general multi-level dc/dc converter [12]	7
Fig. 1-8. a) Center-tapped capacitors and the equivalent center-tapped reactors providing access to half the dc-link voltage and b) split-wound coupled inductor arrangement with high $(4L_W)$ and low impedance $(L_E/2)$ states defined.	8
Fig. 1-9. The asymmetric half-bridge and split-wound coupled inductor	9
Fig. 1-10. The ACIB configured as a) a five-level, NPC, dc/ac coupled inductor converter, and b) a modular balancing bridge for voltage balancing in a serially connected voltage sources.	9
Fig. 2-1. The cascaded H-bridge topology a), with b) phase-shifted transformers and c) batteries supplying cell isolated cell	12
Fig. 2-2. Single-phase legs: a) multi-module converter (MMC), b) flying capacitor configuration (FC) and c) neutral point clamped based configuration (NPC)	12
Fig. 2-3. NPC-based topologies: a) general NPC b) Active-NPC and c) Hybrid-Active NPC	14
Fig. 2-4. Two T-type configurations based on bi-directional devices: a) single switch and b) dual switch, back-to-back configuration	15
Fig. 2-5. Single phase legs of filtered VSI topologies: a) half-bridge, b) parallel half- bridges and c) parallel half-bridges with ICT and interleaved switching.	16
Fig. 2-6. Paralleled half-bridges a) showing the module currents $i_1$ and $i_2$ for a general interleaving period $T_D$ and b) general interleaving time $T_D$ between two carriers in a parallel three-phase converter with output module voltages and differential voltage labelled.	17
Fig. 2-7. Coupled inductor with a) general mutual coupling, $M_{12}$ , between $L_1$ and $L_2$ , with b) impedance from port (1) to (2) and c) impedance from ports (1) and (2) to port (3), due to coupling $M_{12}$ . L is the self-inductance of a winding.	17
Fig. 2-8. Four winding cascaded coupled inductor a) electrical equivalent circuit as implemented with b) single phase reactors or b) monolithic reactors	19
Fig. 2-9. Four winding coupled inductor configurations: a) whiffle-tree and b) combinatorial shunt configurations	20
Fig. 2-10. Single phase legs for parallel-based converters a) 5-level whiffle tree based,	20

b) 4-level six-switch per phase with three-limb coupled inductor, c) NPC-based and d) ANPC with internal coupled inductor	
Fig. 2-11. Two-level space vector map showing phase output vectors $\{A,B,C\}$ and a reference voltage vector, $V_{OUT}$ , with vectorial lengths depicted. ' $  V_{OUT}  $ , $V_1$ ' refers to the length of vector $V_{OUT}$ projected onto the vector $V_1$ . Converter states are scaled by 'E', e.g. $\{E, -E, -E\}$ to $\{1,-1,-1\}$ for simplicity.	22
Fig. 2-12. Synthesis of $V_{OUT}$ in Fig. 2-11, over switching period $T_S$ , based on the vectors $V_1$ , $V_2$ and $V_Z$ in center-aligned space vector modulation	23
Fig. 2-13. Phase voltage reference over a fundamental cycle for SVM, with offset, at a modulation depth of 0.9.	24
Fig. 2-14. Phases A and B references under DPWM1 with resultant line voltage, $V_{AB}$ over a fundamental cycle	24
Fig. 2-15. Five-level carrier based modulation for NPC based converters with a) POD, b) APOD and c) PD arrangement of carriers	25
Fig. 2-16. Five-level space vector map showing phase voltage states {A, B, C} and the highlighted triangle for Fig. 2-17. Converter states, e.g. {2E, -E, -2E}, are scaled by 'E', e.g. {2,-1,-2} for simplicity.	, 26
Fig. 2-17. Highlighted group of triangles from Fig. 2-17 with labelling (1)-(4)	26
Fig. 2-18. Five-level space vector map showing phase voltage states in the $\{g,h\}$ domain	29
Fig. 2-19. Voltage balancing circuits a) for a five-level NPC converter, b) split input and output dc/dc boost converter, and c) fault tolerant 3-level NPC operation	30
Fig. 2-20. Resistive balancing of serially connected battery cells a) resistor divider and b) switched resistor	31
Fig. 2-21. Switched capacitor approach to balancing serially connected battery strings: a) single tier capacitors and b) double tiered capacitors	31
Fig. 2-22. Current shunting approach to balancing serially connected battery strings: a) unidirectional and b) bidirectional topologies	32
Fig. 2-23. Converter based balancing approach to serially connected battery strings: a) flyback based with single transformer and b) forward converter based with single transformer	33
Fig. 2-24. Modular staged approach to battery balancing showing converter topology for four batteries with two inter-module transformers and four intra-module transformers. SSR denotes solid-state relay.	34
Fig. 3-1. The six-switch coupled inductor converter (SS-CIC) and the parallel-based CIC using coupled inductors with: module currents, e.g $i_{A,1}$ , module voltage, e.g. $V_{A,1}$ , winding voltage, e.g. $V_{A,W}$ , phase output voltage, e.g. $V_{A,N}$ and circulating current, e.g. $i_{A,DF}$ .	36
Fig. 3-2. Per phase switching states for a) SS-CIC and b) the parallel-based CIC according to state $\{S_{A,1}S_{A,2}\}$ as defined in Fig. 3-1	37
Fig. 3-3. Sinusoidal modulation with interleaved carriers for three-phase coupled inductor converters: gating signals for phase A, $S_{A,1}$ and $S_{A,2}$ , output voltage for phase A (relative to N), $V_{A,N}$ , and the winding voltage, $V_{A,W}$ .	38
Fig. 3-4. Simulated module, circulating currents and phase currents for the a) SS-CIC and b) parallel-based CIC	38
Fig. 3-5. Simulated coupled inductor converter model: a) generic modulator producing	40

six gating signals $S_{A,1}$ to $S_{B,2}$ ,b) the circulating (or differential) mode and c) the ac output mode of the converter	
Fig. 3-6. Three separately wound single-phase cores (two-limb) on the left and a single three-phase three-limb core with three-phase windings on the right	41
Fig. 3-7. Reluctance networks, under dc-current excitation, for a) three-limb coupled inductor core and b) three separate single-phase cores	41
Fig. 3-8. Approximate geometric comparison of the three-limb coupled inductor and (three) single phase two-limb coupled inductors	42
Fig. 3-9. High frequency paths for the a) three-limb coupled inductor core and b) the three separate single-phase cores	43
Fig. 3-10. DPWM1 three-phase references over a fundamental electric cycle at a modulation depth of 0.9/1.15, showing the switching period marked '*'	44
Fig. 3-11. The carrier cycle marked by '*' in Fig. 3-9 with a) the active switch gating signals and output voltages (relative to N) with A held inactive, b) the winding voltages and the inverted winding voltage for phase C producing the common mode voltage and c) the flux paths for the three-limb core produced. Note that states i) to iv) correspond to the winding voltages of b) and the flux paths identified in c). $f_c = 2 \text{ kHz}$	45
Fig. 3-12. Average $(V_{\sigma})$ and differential $(V_{\Delta})$ phase references for sector 0 (Fig. 3-10), with increasing modulation depth from 0.1 to 1.0 in steps of 0.1. $f_{O} = 60$ Hz.	46
Fig. 3-13. Post modulation digital logic manipulation of the gating pulses to produce the actual gating pulses for the six-switch coupled inductor converter	47
Fig. 3-14. At the reference point '*' of Fig. 3-10: gating signals produced by the average and differential reference signals, winding and corresponding common mode voltages, and output voltages (relative to N) for phases B and C. $f_C = 2 \text{ kHz}$	47
Fig. 3-15. Sector '0' phase references (Fig. 3-10), output voltages and line voltage $V_{BC}$ for: a) DPWM1 with interleaved carriers and b) modified DPWM1 with interleaved carriers. $f_0 = 60$ Hz, $f_C = 2$ kHz	48
Fig. 3-16. Sector '0' (see Fig. 3-10) of the modified DPWM1 over a carrier cycle, $T_s = 500 \mu s$ , illustrating the gate (or switching) signals	49
Fig. 3-17. Phase B and C winding voltages and differential currents for a) DPWM1 with interleaved carriers and three single-phase coupled inductors, b) modified DPWM1 and a single three-limb coupled inductor and c) DPWM1 with interleaved carriers and a single three-limb coupled inductor (note: $L_W = 4$ mH for all inductors)	50
Fig. 3-18. Experimental prototypes: a) parallel-based ICT converter with three single phase coupled inductors (60 kW six-switch modules) and b) SS-CIC prototype using commercial asymmetric half-bridge modules (20 kW)	51
Fig. 3-19. Experimental LabView development system: pictured with oscilloscope, current probes, and 3 kW dc power supply	52
Fig. 3-20. Experimental non-zero $V_{CM}$ : a) common-mode currents over a fundamental cycle, and b) three-phase differential currents over a 60° period, under DPWM1. $V_{DC} = 100V$ , $m_A = 1.0$ , $f_O = 60$ Hz, $f_C = 5$ kHz, $L_W = 4$ mH, $L_{AC} = 5$ mH, and $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$	53
Fig. 3-21. Experimental three-phase power conversion efficiency $(P_{OUT}/P_{IN})$ for DPWM1 with interleaved carriers using three single phase coupled inductors, modified DPWM1 and a three-limb coupled inductor and DPWM1 with interleaved carriers and a three-limb coupled inductor. $V_{DC} = 300V$ , $f_O = 60Hz$ , $f_C = 5kHz$ , $L_W = 4mH$ , $L_{AC} = 5$ mH, and $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$	53
Fig. 3-22. Experimental module currents for the platform in Fig. 3-18 b), the SS-CIC,	54

using a three-limb coupled inductor with a) modified DPWM1 and b) DPWM1 with interleaved carriers (flipped excitation). $V_{DC} = 300V$ , $m_A = 1.0$ , $f_O = 60Hz$ , $f_C = 5kHz$ , $L_W = 4mH$ , $L_{AC} = 5$ mH, and $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$	
Fig. 3-23. Experimental conversion efficiency of the platform in Fig. 3-18 b), the SS-CIC, using a three-limb coupled inductor with a) modified DPWM1 and b) DPWM1 with interleaved carriers (flipped excitation). $V_{DC} = 300V$ , $f_O = 60Hz$ , $f_C = 5kHz$ , $L_W = 4mH$ , $L_{AC} = 5$ mH, and $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$	54
Fig. 3-24. Experimental volt-seconds (in per-unit) versus modulation depth for: a) output line voltage harmonics: modified DPWM1, two-level SVPWM, and DPWM1 with interleaved switching; b) winding voltages for modified DPWM1 and DPWM1 with interleaved switching. $V_{DC} = 300V$ , $f_O = 60Hz$ , $f_C = 5kHz$ , $L_W = 4mH$ , $L_{AC} = 5$ mH, and $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$	55
Fig. 3-25. SS-CIC operation with a) Experimental line voltage, $V_{AB}$ , and b) experimental phase currents with interleaved DPWM1 and modified DPWM1. $V_{DC} = 300V$ , $m_A = 0.9$ , $f_O = 60$ Hz, $f_C = 5$ kHz, $L_W = 4$ mH, $L_{AC} = 5$ mH, and $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$	55
Fig. 3-26. Experimental three-phase motor currents for the SS-CIC under the modified DPWM1 scheme and a three-limb coupled inductor. $V_{DC} = 300V$ , $m_A = 1.0$ , $f_O = 60Hz$ , $f_C = 5kHz$ , $L_W = 4$ mH, $P_{OUT} = 2HP$ , and $n_S = 1800$ rpm.	56
Fig. 4-1 - ACIB configuration: a three-phase neutral point clamped coupled inductor converter	57
Fig. 4-2. The three-phase neutral point clamped coupled inductor converter (NPC-CIC)	58
Fig. 4-3. Phase A of the NPC-CIC with the switches $(S_N)$ , upper and lower winding currents $(i_{U,A} \text{ and } i_{L,A})$ , output voltage $(V_{A,N})$ and winding voltage $(V_{W,A})$ defined	58
Fig. 4-4. The sixteen switching states of phase A in the NPC-CIC, with each switching state defined using the switching logic to control the on and off states as per $\{S_1S_2S_3S_4\}$ , of Fig 4-3. Non-useful switching states are denoted in italics.	59
Fig. 4-5. Two simulator modes used for realization of the modulation schemes developed. A switch between the behavioral model and the actual device model used to reduce simulation time in the development procedure.	62
Fig. 4-6. The MATLAB/SIMULINK twelve-switch NPC-CIC device model (three- limb coupled inductor shown in Fig. 4-7)	63
Fig. 4-7. The three-limb, three-phase coupled inductor model used in the device simulation mode with a) six-winding coupled inductor, b) electrical equivalent model and c) mutual coupling co-efficient ( $M_{XY}$ ) of winding X to winding Y matrix with winding inductance $L_W$	63
Fig. 4-8. Sinusoidal PWM, with interleaved switching based on three-level PD modulation, for the NPC-CIC with switching states and output phase voltage, $V_{A,N}$ , shown.	64
Fig. 4-9. DPWM1 with interleaved carriers over a fundamental cycle, with the 'invert carrier logic' sectors defined.	65
Fig. 4-10. 'Flipped carrier' DPWM1 in sector 0 of Fig. 4-9, with the winding voltages of each phase illustrated (with $V_{A,W} = 0$ ) where phase C has inverted switch logic, resulting in the winding voltage $V_{W,C}$ . $f_C = 3$ kHz.	66
Fig. 4-11. Three-limb, three-phase coupled inductor excitation states for the NPC-CIC produced over the switching cycle highlighted in Fig. 4-10.	66
Fig. 4-12. Two-dimensional voltage output states produced by the NPC-CIC inverter considering all possible switching states.	67

Fig. 4-13. Reduced space vector map after the application of the constraint in (4.7), on the output voltage states of the NPC-CIC	68
Fig. 4-14. The effect of redundant output voltage states from the constraint in (4.7), on the triangle highlighted in Fig. 4-12	68
Fig. 4-15. The resultant three-phase winding voltages and output voltages over a carrier cycle, $T_s = 333 \ \mu s$ , under the 'WCME' space vector approach for the NPC-CIC at the point 'V <sub>OUT</sub> ' in Fig. 4-13.	70
Fig. 4-16. MATLAB/SIMULINK representation of the translation of the three-phase references for triangle determination, and then calculation of duty cycles	71
Fig. 4-17. MATLAB/SIMULINK representation of the translation of the 'triangle number' and 'vector number' to an index position for the LUT, which stores the 'switching state' for the NPC-CIC	72
Fig. 4-18. Simulated module currents for phase A of the NPC-CIC with the 'flipped carrier' DPWM1 and 'WCME' space vector approach with $f_0 = 50$ Hz, $f_C = 3$ kHz, $V_{DC} = 300V$ , $L_W = 4$ mH, $L_{AC} = 800 \mu$ H, and $R_{AC} = 18 \Omega$ (delta connected)	75
Fig. 4-19. Simulated line voltage, $V_{AB}$ , of the NPC-CIC under the 'WCME' space vector approach showing under increasing modulation depths of 0.7, 0.8 and 0.9 with $f_0 = 50$ Hz, $f_C = 3$ kHz, $V_{DC} = 300$ V, $L_W = 4$ mH, $L_{AC} = 800$ µH, and $R_{AC} = 18$ $\Omega$ (delta connected)	75
Fig. 4-20. Phase A gating signals (or switching signals) over five carrier cycles, where $T_S = 333 \mu s$ , for a modulation depth of 0.7 and 0.2.	76
Fig. 4-21. Neutral point balancing of the NPC-CIC where a) illustrates the transformer effect present due to the three-phase coupled inductor and b) the simulated effect of the three-phase coupled inductor against the standard three-level NPC converter. The split-capacitors are unbalanced with resistances at power levels relative to the load resistance (e.g. 10% meaning the unbalancing resistance are sized to draw 10% of the power relative to the ac output power)	77
Fig. 4-22. Three-phase NPC-CIC prototype with three-phase, three-limb coupled inductor pictured	78
Fig. 4-23. Experimental prototype construction from two ACIB modules from Semikron. Six asymmetric half-bridges are used to construct the NPC-CIC with the modules arranged as illustrated.	79
Fig. 4-24. Three-phase windings used on the three-limb core: a) 128 windings per coil, with $L_W = 4 \text{ mH} (L_T = 12 \text{ mH})$ , and b) 64 windings per coil, with $L_W = 1 \text{ mH} (L_T = 4 \text{ mH})$ . Both coils are constructed by winding two parallel sets of wires together, but using 16 AWG in a) and 15 AWG in b).	80
Fig. 4-25. Experimental LabView development system: pictured with oscilloscope, current probes, and 3 kW dc power supply	80
Fig. 4-26. Motor validation with a) on an unloaded 600 Hz (18,000 rpm) induction machine, illustrating the NPC-CIC phase currents (lower set) against phase currents generated by a six-switch inverter under SVPWM and b) the neutral point stability of the NPC-CIC under a step change in load on a 2HP 60Hz (1800 rpm) induction machine. $f_C = 15 \text{ kHz}$ , $V_{DC} = 260\text{V}$ .	81
Fig. 4-27. Experimental: a) phase voltage, $V_{A,N}$ and b) phase currents at a modulation depth of 0.7, $f_C = 3 \text{ kHz}$ , $V_{DC} = 300V$ , $f_O = 50 \text{ Hz}$ , $L_W = 4 \text{ mH}$ , $L_{AC} = 1.5 \text{ mH}$ , $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$ (in delta)	82
Fig. 4-28. Experimental line voltage, $V_{AB}$ , at modulation depths 0.35, 0.65 and 0.95, $f_C = 3 \text{ kHz}$ , $V_{DC} = 300V$ , $f_O = 50 \text{ Hz}$ , $L_W = 4 \text{ mH}$ , $L_{AC} = 1.5 \text{ mH}$ , $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$ (in delta)	82

Fig. 4-29. Circulating winding current, $i_{CW}$ , of phase A for 'flipped carrier' DPWM1 and 'WCME' SVPWM with a modulation depth of 0.7, $f_C = 3 \text{ kHz}$ , $V_{DC} = 300\text{ V}$ , $f_O = 50 \text{ Hz}$ , $L_W = 4 \text{ mH}$ , $L_{AC} = 1.5 \text{ mH}$ , $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$ (in delta)	84
Fig. 4-30. Circulating winding current, $i_{CW}$ , of phase A for a) 'flipped carrier' DPWM1 and b) 'WCME' SVPWM at the modulation depths 0.35, 0.65 and 0.95, $f_C = 3$ kHz, $V_{DC} = 300V$ , $f_O = 50$ Hz, $L_W = 4$ mH, $L_{AC} = 1.5$ mH, $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$ (in delta)	84
Fig. 4-31. Experimental 'flipped carrier' DPWM1 and 'WCME' SVPWM with a) the three-phase common mode current, $i_{CM}$ , and b) the winding volt-seconds on phase A versus modulation depth; $f_C = 3$ kHz, $V_{DC} = 300V$ , $f_O = 50$ Hz, $L_W = 4$ mH, $L_{AC} = 1.5$ mH, $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$ (in delta)	84
Fig. 4-32. Experimental 'flipped carrier' DPWM1 and 'WCME' SVPWM with a) the total harmonic distortion of the phase current and b) the line voltage harmonic volt-seconds of $V_{AB}$ versus modulation depth; $f_C = 3 \text{ kHz}$ , $V_{DC} = 300 \text{ V}$ , $f_O = 50 \text{ Hz}$ , $L_W = 4 \text{ mH}$ , $L_{AC} = 1.5 \text{ mH}$ , $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$ (in delta)	86
Fig. 4-33. Experimental 'flipped carrier' DPWM1 and 'WCME' SVPWM total conversion efficiency (i.e. $P_{OUT}/P_{IN}$ ) versus modulation depth; $f_C = 3 \text{ kHz}$ , $V_{DC} = 300V$ , $f_O = 50 \text{ Hz}$ , $L_W = 4 \text{ mH}$ , $L_{AC} = 1.5 \text{ mH}$ , $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$ (in delta)	86
Fig. 5-1. ACIB configuration: a modular balancing bridge for balancing a series of unbalanced voltage sources	88
Fig. 5-2. Relationship between the battery management system and balancing cell for a series of connected battery cells	89
Fig. 5-3. The ACIB: a) as a single modular balancing bridge (MBB) and b) the four- winding 1:1:1:1 coupled inductor showing: inter-bridge and intra-bridge windings	89
Fig. 5-4. SPICE simulation model of a single MBB to illustrate the intra-voltage balancing between two internal voltage sources	91
Fig. 5-5. Ideal equivalent circuits with magnetizing current paths for a) positive excitation and b) negative excitation with c) the differential current, $i_{\Delta}$ , equivalent circuit	91
Fig. 5-6. Simulated a) module and magnetization currents for $\Delta = 1\%$ and b) the intrabridge balancing current $i_{\Delta}$ with $\Delta$ - 1% and 2%. Device parameters: $r_{ON} = 30 \text{ m}\Omega$ , $r_{OFF} = 55 \text{m}\Omega$ , $V_D = 0.34 \text{V}$ , $f_C = 100 \text{ kHz}$ , Epn = 4V, $I_{BASE} = 400 \text{ mA}$ , $L_W = 100 \mu\text{H}$ and $L_{pu} = 10\%$ .	93
Fig. 5-7. Predicted and simulated average intra-bridge balancing current from (4.7) against the per-unit voltage unbalance to leakage inductance ratio for $I_{BASE} = 200, 400$ and 800 mA. Device parameters: $r_{ON} = 30 \text{ m}\Omega$ , $r_{OFF} = 55 \text{m}\Omega$ , $V_D = 0.34 \text{V}$ , Epn = 4V, $L_W = 100 \mu\text{H}$ and $L_{pu} = 10\%$ . Base currents are obtained with $f_C = 200, 100$ and 50 kHz.	94
Fig. 5-8. Approximate parasitic equivalent circuits with magnetizing current paths for a) positive excitation and b) negative excitation with the differential current, $i_{\Delta}$ , equivalent circuit during c) the switch conduction time and d) the diode conduction time	95
Fig. 5-9. Average intra-bridge average current: predicted using (5.7), predicted using (5.20) and simulated values for a) $I_{BASE} = 4A$ , and b) $I_{BASE} = 8A$ . Simulated device parameters: $r_{ON} = 30 \text{ m}\Omega$ , $r_{OFF} = 55\text{m}\Omega$ , $V_D = 0.34\text{V}$ , $Epn = 4\text{V}$ , $L_W = 5 \mu\text{H}$ and $L_{pu} = 10\%$ . Base currents obtained with $f_C = 100 \text{ kHz}$ and 50 kHz.	97
Fig. 5-10. Simulated intra-bridge voltage balancing of a pair of 1 mF capacitors with $\Delta$ = 4%. Simulated device parameters: $r_{ON}$ = 30 m $\Omega$ , $r_{OFF}$ = 55m $\Omega$ , $V_D$ = 0.34V, $f_C$ = 50 kHz, Epn = 4V, $I_{BASE}$ = 800 mA, $L_W$ = 50 $\mu$ H and $L_{pu}$ =10%.	97
Fig. 5-10. Topological configuration of two cascaded MBBs with two four-winding	98

toroids to illustrate the inter-bridge winding connection to adjacent MBBs	
Fig. 5-11. SPICE simulation of the power electronics model for the two MBBs	99
Fig. 5-12. SPICE simulation model of the two cascaded four-winding coupled inductors used in the inter-bridge balancing for the MBBs	99
Fig. 5-13. Ideal equivalent circuits for the inter-bridge voltage balancing with magnetizing current illustrated: a) positive excitation and b) negative excitation with c) inter-bridge balancing current	100
Fig. 5-14. Bridge currents for an inter-bridge unbalance $\alpha = 1, 2$ , and 3% for MBB <sub>1</sub> and MBB <sub>2</sub> . $r_{ON} = 30 \text{ m}\Omega$ , $r_{OFF} = 55 \text{m}\Omega$ , $V_D = 0.34 \text{V}$ , $f_C = 100 \text{ kHz}$ , $E_{BASE} = 4 \text{V}$ , $I_{BASE} = 400 \text{ mA}$ , $L_W = 100 \mu\text{H}$ and $L_{pu} = 10\%$ .	101
Fig. 5-15. Inter-bridge balancing current, $i_{\alpha}$ , between MBB1 and MBB2 for an inter- bridge voltage unbalance $\alpha = 1$ , 2, and 3%. $r_{ON} = 30 \text{ m}\Omega$ , $r_{OFF} = 55 \text{m}\Omega$ , $V_D = 0.34 \text{V}$ , $I_{BASE} = 400 \text{ mA}$ , $f_C = 100 \text{ kHz}$ , Epn = 4V, $L_W = 100 \text{ \mu}\text{H}$ and $L_{pu} = 10\%$ .	101
Fig. 5-16. Predicted and simulated average inter-bridge balancing current from (5.23) against the per-unit voltage unbalance to leakage inductance ratio for $I_{BASE} = 200, 400$ and 800 mA. Device parameters: $r_{ON} = 30 \text{ m}\Omega$ , $r_{OFF} = 55\text{m}\Omega$ , $V_D = 0.34\text{V}$ , $E_{12} = 4\text{V}$ , $L_W = 100 \mu\text{H}$ and $L_{pu} = 10\%$ . Base currents are obtained with $f_C = 200, 100$ and 50 kHz.	102
Fig. 5-17. Module currents for MBB <sub>1</sub> and MBB <sub>2</sub> with $\alpha = \Delta = 1\%$ . Device parameters: r <sub>ON</sub> = 30 mΩ, r <sub>OFF</sub> = 55mΩ, V <sub>D</sub> = 0.34V, f <sub>C</sub> = 100 kHz, Epn = 4V, I <sub>BASE</sub> = 400 mA, L <sub>W</sub> = 100 µH and L <sub>pu</sub> = 10%.	102
Fig. 5-18. Approximate parasitic equivalent circuits with magnetizing current paths for a) positive excitation and b) negative excitation with the differential current, $i_{\alpha}$ , equivalent circuit during c) the switch conduction time and d) the diode conduction time	103
Fig. 5-19. Bridge currents for an inter-bridge unbalance $\alpha = 1\%$ for MBB <sub>1</sub> and MBB <sub>2</sub> . Device parameters: $r_{ON} = 30 \text{ m}\Omega$ , $r_{OFF} = 55\text{m}\Omega$ , $V_D = 0.34\text{V}$ , $f_C = 50 \text{ kHz}$ , $E_{12} = 4\text{V}$ , $I_{BASE} = 8 \text{ A}$ , $L_W = 5 \mu\text{H}$ and $L_{pu} = 10\%$ .	104
Fig. 5-20. Inter-bridge balancing current, $i_{\alpha}$ , between MBB <sub>1</sub> and MBB <sub>2</sub> for an inter- bridge voltage imbalance $\alpha = 1$ %. Device parameters: $r_{ON} = 30 \text{ m}\Omega$ , $r_{OFF} = 55 \text{m}\Omega$ , $V_D = 0.34 \text{V}$ , $I_{BASE} = 8 \text{ A}$ , $f_C = 50 \text{ kHz}$ , $E_{12} = 4 \text{V}$ , $L_W = 5 \mu\text{H}$ and $L_{pu} = 10\%$ .	105
Fig. 5-21. Average inter-bridge average current: predicted using (5.23), predicted using (5.31) and simulated values for a) $I_{BASE} = 4A$ , and b) $I_{BASE} = 8A$ . Simulated device parameters: $r_{ON} = 30 \text{ m}\Omega$ , $r_{OFF} = 55 \text{m}\Omega$ , $V_D = 0.34 \text{V}$ , $T_S = 10 \mu\text{s}$ , Epn = 4V, $L_W = 5 \mu\text{H}$ and $L_{pu} = 10\%$ . Base current values are obtained for $f_C = 100 \text{ kHz}$ in a) and 50 kHz in b).	106
Fig. 5-22. Simulated inter-bridge voltage balancing of four 1 mF capacitors with a) $\alpha$ = 4% and b) $\alpha$ = 4% and $\Delta$ = 2%. Simulated device parameters: $r_{ON}$ = 30 m $\Omega$ , $r_{OFF}$ = 55m $\Omega$ , $V_D$ = 0.34V, $f_C$ = 50 kHz, $E_{12}$ = 4V, $I_{BASE}$ = 800 mA, $L_W$ = 50 $\mu$ H and $L_{pu}$ =10%.	107
Fig. 5-23. Commercially available "hexa-path" inductors from Coilcraft with peak balancing power and inductor weight shown as a function of balancing currents, $i_{\alpha}$ and $i_{\Delta}$ . $\Delta = \alpha = 5\%$ , Lpu = 10%. Ideal devices assumed, and power is obtained at the switches frequencies in Fig. 5-24.	108
Fig. 5-24. Commercially available hexa-path inductors from Coilcraft with corresponding switching frequency required to obtain the peak power illustrated in Fig. 5-23 for each inductor. $\Delta = \alpha = 5\%$ , Lpu = 10%. Ideal devices are assumed.	109
Fig. 5-25. The effect of a non-linear $C_{DG}$ (simulated via external capacitor) on the module currents of a single MBB with $\Delta = 5\%$ . $f_C = 95$ kHz, $L_W = 78.6\mu$ H, $E_{12} = 4V$	110

and Lpu = 10%.

Fig. 5-26. Device blocking voltage $V_{DS}$ versus device capacitances for two example devices: a) 30V, 5A MOSFET and b) 20V, 6A MOSFET. Device capacitances for MOSFETs are illustrated in c).	111
Fig. 5-27. Experimental prototype shown with four 20Ah batteries and two HP2-0116L 'hexa-winding' transformers	112
Fig. 5-28. Module currents a) simulated versus b) experimental for MBB <sub>1</sub> and MBB <sub>2</sub> when $\alpha = 4.25\%$ , $\Delta_1 = 2.4\%$ , $\Delta_2=0.30\%$ . Simulated device parameters: $E_{12}=4V$ , $f_C = 100$ kHz, $L_{pu} = 15\%$ and $L_W = 10.6 \mu$ H, $V_D = 0.3V$ , $r_{OFF} = 60 \text{ m}\Omega$ and $r_{ON} = 30 \text{ m}\Omega$	114
Fig. 5-29. Module currents: a) simulated versus b) experimental for MBB <sub>1</sub> and MBB <sub>2</sub> when $\alpha = 1.81\%$ , $\Delta_1 = 0.73\%$ , $\Delta_2=0.89\%$ . Simulated device parameters: E <sub>12</sub> =4V, f <sub>C</sub> = 95 kHz, L <sub>pu</sub> = 5% and L <sub>W</sub> = 5.6 $\mu$ H, V <sub>D</sub> = 0.3V, r <sub>OFF</sub> = 60 m $\Omega$ and r <sub>ON</sub> = 30 m $\Omega$	114
Fig. 5-30. Experimental bridge currents for MBB <sub>1</sub> and MBB <sub>2</sub> : a) $\alpha = 2$ and 4% with L <sub>pu</sub> = 15%, L <sub>W</sub> = 10.6 $\mu$ H and f <sub>C</sub> = 100 kHz, b) $\alpha = 1$ , 2 and 3% with L <sub>pu</sub> = 5%, L <sub>W</sub> = 5.6 $\mu$ H, and f <sub>C</sub> = 95 kHz. Simulated device parameters: E <sub>12</sub> =4V, V <sub>D</sub> = 0.3V, r <sub>OFF</sub> = 60 mΩ and r <sub>ON</sub> = 30 mΩ	114
Fig. 5-31. MBB <sub>1</sub> and MBB <sub>2</sub> battery cell voltages against time (in hours) with an initial unbalance of $\alpha = 1\%$ using two 'hexa-path' transformers: HP2-1600L (L <sub>W</sub> = 78.6 µH) and HP2-0116L (L <sub>W</sub> = 5.6 µH) design with L <sub>pu</sub> = 5% and f <sub>C</sub> = 95 kHz.	115
Fig. 6-1. Three-level space vector map of the SS-CIC with common mode winding voltage producing vectors eliminated. The first sextant is used as an example for segmenting the switching of vectors for regions a, b, c and d.	118

## Nomenclature

 $A_C$  - cross-sectional area of a iron core (m<sup>2</sup>)  $B_{AC}$  - ac flux density (T) E - A fraction of the input voltage,  $V_{DC}$  $E_{BASE}$  - Base voltage (V)  $E_N$  - Battery voltage with lower than average charge (V)  $E_P$  - Battery voltage with higher than average charge (V) f<sub>C</sub> - switching frequency (Hz) f<sub>o</sub> - fundamental output frequency (Hz)  $i_A$  - ac output current of phase A (A)  $i_{A,1}$  - module current of phase A, module 1 (A) i<sub>CM</sub> - common mode circulating current (A) i<sub>CWA</sub> - circulating winding current of phase A (A) i<sub>DF,A</sub> - differential circulating current of phase A (A) i<sub>M</sub> - magnetizing current (A) i<sub>p</sub> - module current of 'p' device (A)  $i_{\alpha}$  - inter-bridge balancing current (A)  $i_{\Delta}$  - intra-bridge balancing current (A) L<sub>AC</sub> - ac filter inductance (H) L<sub>E</sub> - leakage inductance of a winding (H  $l_{M}$  - mean magnetic length of path M (m) Lpu - per-unit leakage inductance of a winding  $L_{T}$  - total inductance (H)  $L_{W}$  - winding self-inductance (H) M - Mutual inductance (H) MBB<sub>N</sub> - the N<sup>th</sup> modular balancing bridge  $R_{AC}$  - ac load resistance ( $\Omega$ )  $R_{C}$  - reluctance of the iron core (H<sup>-1</sup>)  $R_{le}$  - reluctance of the air (H<sup>-1</sup>)  $r_{OFF}$  - total resistance in the diode-on path ( $\Omega$ )  $r_{ON}$  - total resistance in the switch-on path ( $\Omega$ )  $T_s$  - switching period (s)  $V_{A,B}$  - Line voltage of phase A relative to phase B (V)  $V_{A,N}$  - Output voltage for phase A (V)  $V_{AW}$  - Winding voltage for phase A (V)  $V_{CM}$  - Common mode winding voltage (V)  $V_{\rm D}$  - Diode voltage drop (V) v<sub>D</sub> - per-unit diode voltage drop

V<sub>DC</sub> - dc input voltage (V)

 $\alpha$  - per-unit inter-bridge voltage unbalance

- $\Delta$  per-unit intra-bridge voltage unbalance
- $\boldsymbol{\theta}$  electrical angle in degrees or radians
- $\varphi$  flux (Wb)

## Chapter 1 - Split-wound Coupled Inductors in Multi-level Converter Systems

Split-wound coupled inductors are an alternative approach to generating extra voltage states over stacked capacitors in multi-level converter systems. Combined with an asymmetric half-bridge and interleaved switching, coupled inductor based converters are particularly well suited to low voltage applications, such as three-phase drives for low-inductance electric machines, due to their high effective switching frequency and the high number of voltage levels per device. Due to current sharing within the coupled inductor, these converters are also applicable in voltage balancing for batteries. Based on the use of the asymmetric half-bridge and split-wound coupled inductors, the thesis objective and outline are presented, along with a summary of the contributions from this thesis.

#### 1.0 Introduction

As the earth's population continues to grow and our access to non-renewable resources decreases, the need for efficient energy conversion is of paramount importance. Therefore, due to their role in energy conversion, power electronics has seen an explosion in applications since the early 1970's [1]. As an example, consider the simplified diagram of Fig. 1-1, which illustrates a typical drive-train configuration for electric vehicles [2]. In this system, power electronics play a significant role in the generator systems (in the form of AC/DC converters), the batteries (in the form on DC/DC converters) and the actual drive of the high-speed electric machine (in the form of a DC/AC converter).



Fig. 1-1. High-level overview of a series hybrid drive train [2]

However, as power electronics have matured over the years, the focus on topological configurations has evolved into specialized converters, in an attempt to optimize the power conversion efficiency in specific applications. An example of this focus is the AC/DC converters used in on-board battery charging systems of electric vehicles. While standard AC/DC topologies can charge the battery systems, specialized converter topologies are necessary to maximize efficiency, meet reliability standards and

minimize converter weight [3]. This is just one example where the application drives a trend in the topological development of a power electronic converter.

Furthermore, while converters are becoming more specialized, another growing trend is the modularization of the power electronic units, within converters, to reduce costs [4, 5]. Additionally, modular converters can also accommodate redundant units - potentially improving the overall reliability. As an example, Fig. 1-2 illustrates the topology of a multi-modular converter, with the 'cell' (or base unit) being the commercially available half-bridge module [5].



Fig. 1-2. A multi-modular converter

By employing split-wound coupled inductors over stacked capacitors, this thesis focuses on the development of low-voltage multi-level converter topologies based around the use of an asymmetric half-bridge and a split-wound coupled inductor. Two motivating examples are given for development of these multi-level converters: chemical based battery systems and high-speed flywheel battery systems.

#### 1.1 Motivation

In chemical based batteries, such as lithium ion batteries, stacked multi-level dc/dc converters are required to balance the internal cell voltages. Likewise, in high-speed flywheel battery systems, a power electronic converter drives the electrical machine connected to the flywheel. As such, the efficiency and compactness of this battery system can be improved by using multi-level dc/ac converters. This section details the converter requirements for both applications as motivating examples to develop coupled inductor based converters.

#### 1.1.1 Lithium ion Battery Strings

It is commonly acknowledged that one of the major limiting factors in electric vehicles is the battery system [6]. In automotive applications, high energy density, high output power, long life, operation under a wide range of temperatures, low internal

resistance, fast charging, stability, and low cost are required from the battery [6]. Currently, lithium ion polymer batteries are an attractive option to meet these requirements, but they are much less tolerant of 'abuse' than other types of batteries [6, 7].

Overcharging and overdischarging reduces the battery cell life span, and even overcharging by a few percent can lead to catastrophic failures [6]. In order to maintain safe operation for automotive applications, battery protection circuits must be designed for a given battery pack configuration. Furthermore, due to slight differences in battery cell manufacturing, each cell can have slightly difference internal parameters, affecting the distribution of charge in a series string of batteries [6]. As charging/discharging cycles tend to create further differences among the characteristics of each cell, a series connected string of these cells tends to become unbalanced over time [6]. As the total stored energy is dependent on the lowest cell voltage [6], it is imperative to balance these cells to maximize energy storage.

In Fig.1-3, a typical automotive-grade assembly of lithium polymer battery packs is depicted. As modern electric vehicle systems can run with 400V main dc levels, it is clear that the battery cell equalization technique must be applied across hundreds of cells. Therefore, this application requires low cost and reliable power electronics that are capable of multi-level converter operation across hundreds of low-voltage cells.



Fig. 1-3. A 24 cell lithium-ion battery pack [8]

#### 1.1.2 High Speed Electric Machines in Flywheel Battery Systems

High speed flywheel battery systems are another emerging energy storage system that requires high performance power electronics. In these applications, mechanical energy is stored in the high speed rotation of a low inertia flywheel system, allowing much higher peak power delivery compared to chemical batteries [9]. These high speed flywheels, e.g. Fig. 1.4 a), are driven by high-speed electric machines, and due to requiring high power dynamic performance, these machines typically feature a low series inductance, i.e. small  $L_E$  in Fig. 1.4 b) [9, 10]. In transportation applications, the operational dc-voltage on the converter is kept within the low voltage region, e.g. 600-



Fig. 1-4. Flywheel battery system: a) example photograph and b) simplified electrical model of a permanent magnet synchronous machine. 'Vemf' is the back electromotive force of the electric machine, and ' $V_{PWM'}$  is the pulse-width modulated converter voltage.

900V, to keep design costs low [11]. Therefore, the converters used are typically twolevel, three-phase converters with inductive filters to limit the converter's impact on the high speed electric machine [9, 10].

As high-speed electric machines are at the heart of high-speed flywheel battery systems, the performance of these machines directly impact the efficiency of the battery system. More specifically, the harmonic distortion produced by standard power electronic converters can induce losses in the rotors of these high speed electric machines and potentially increase the temperature of the rotor's magnets. These losses are often difficult to remove due to the operational nature of the flywheel battery system, and can potentially cause permanent damage in the magnets of these machines [9].

Fig. 1-4 a) illustrates a 36,000 rpm flywheel battery systems intended for transit applications [11], and Fig. 1-4 b), the equivalent per-phase electrical diagram of a permanent magnet synchronous machine. Consider that for high speed electric machines, the series inductance,  $L_E$  in Fig. 1-4 b), can be low. Effectively then, this inductance provides inadequate filtering for the switched voltage harmonics produced by the power electronic converter, potentially resulting in damaged rotor components in the electric machine [9]. Thus, a series inductive filter is used to significantly reduce these induced rotor losses, but at the expense of power density of the system. By reducing the filtering requirement, i.e. by altering the power electronic topology to provide substantially better conversion quality, the converter could be directly connected to the flywheel battery system - maximizing the power density of this application.

In power electronic dc/ac converters, a topological method to increase the conversion quality is to increase the number of 'levels' used to synthesize the output ac voltage. In order to understand these concepts, a discussion on voltage sourced converter topologies is necessary, along with the basic concepts of power conversion.

#### **1.2 General Power Electronic Converters**

In general, for power electronic converters, there are two main configurations: voltage sourced and current sourced. In voltage sourced converters (or VSC), the main energy storage element is the capacitor, and the voltage conversion occurs by modulating the input dc voltage across a load. Conversely, for current sourced converters (or CSC), the main storage element is the inductor, and the conversion process occurs by pulse-width modulating the average current of this inductor into a load. In both cases, varying the amount of time of the voltage or current supplied load, is termed 'pulse-width modulation' (PWM). This section provides an overview the concept of multi-level pulse-width modulation in VSCs.

#### 1.2.1 Multi-level Pulse-width Modulation

The voltage sourced converter topology, shown in Fig 1.5, can be sinusoidally modulated and sampled with a high frequency carrier, as in Fig. 1-6 a), which produces the voltage harmonic spectrum of Fig. 1-6 c), across the per-phase load. Consider though, that if the access to the center point of the two dc sources were available, an extra voltage stage for the pulse-width modulation would exist, as per Fig. 1-6 b). With the same sinusoidal pulse-width modulation across the per-phase load of Fig. 1-6 b), the voltage harmonic spectrum of Fig. 1-6 d) is produced.

Comparing Figs. 1-6 c) and d), it is clear that the magnitudes of the voltage harmonics have decreased - i.e. the converter produces a closer approximation to the ideal sinsoidal output. If the inductance of the load filters these harmonics, it can be visually appreciated that by increasing the number of 'dc levels' available in the conversion, the filter size would then decrease given a certain filtering requirement.



Fig. 1-5. Single-phase voltage converter topology illustrating the pulse-width modulated output of the input dc voltage,  $V_{DC}$ 



Fig. 1-6. a) Two-level and b) three-level pulse-width modulation across a load, with c) the corresponding harmonic spectrum to the two-level and d) the three-level pulse-width modulation

#### 1.2.2 Multi-level PWM Converters

In order to provide access to an increasing number of dc voltage levels, the power electronic converter topology must increase in complexity. As an example, compared to the two-level topology of Fig. 1.5, Fig. 1-7 a) depicts a standard three-level VSC termed the neutral point clamped (NPC) topology. Note that for a three-level pulse-width modulated converter, two dc voltage sources are necessary. While multi-level pwm conversion has obvious advantages for dc/ac or ac/dc conversion, multi-level pwm dc/dc converters also exist, as depicted in the general case in Fig. 1-7 b). In these converters, the dc voltages are stacked to buck or boost the input dc voltage, with minimal inductive



Fig. 1-7. a) Three-level voltage sourced converter (neutral point clamped), and b) general multi-level converter [12]

components required. In either case, note that the general multi-level voltage sourced converter is derived from a series of stacked capacitors.

#### 1.3 Split-wound Coupled Inductors for Multi-level Converters

With stacked capacitors, as per Fig. 1-8 a), each capacitor provides access to a given voltage level required in the converter operation. However, an equivalent center tap can be created by a series connection of two inductors, as seen in Fig. 1-8 a). By coupling these two inductors together on a common core, as in Fig. 1-8 b), the windings can be arranged such that the fundamental ac frequency does not contribute to flux in the core - thereby keeping the coupled inductor small. Additionally, with the winding arrangement of Fig. 1.8 a), the fundamental ac output can change quickly as it is only limited by the leakage reactance of the core - giving similar transient characteristics as the stacked capacitor alternative.

Furthermore, whereas the split-capacitors provide a center tap voltage relative to the stored charge between the two capacitors, the split-wound coupled inductors inherently feature balanced output voltages as a result of voltage division in a fixed set of windings. Conversely, with split-capacitors, the topology must balance the charge stored in the capacitors - potentially at the cost of converter complexity. Additionally, due to the use of capacitors, the reliability of the converter is affected [1], a significant consideration in transportation applications.

In the low voltage application region, such as those applications given in Section 1.1, device voltages stress are not an issue. While traditional multi-level voltage sourced converters were developed to minimize device voltage stresses [1], it is therefore not obvious which topologies are ideally suited for the low voltage application region.



Fig. 1-8. a) Center-tapped capacitors and the equivalent center-tapped reactors providing access to half the dc-link voltage and b) split-wound coupled inductor arrangement with high  $(4L_W)$  and low impedance  $(L_E/2)$  states defined.

#### 1.4 Thesis Objective and Outline

This thesis describes the asymmetric half-bridge combined with a split-wound coupled inductor as a basis for multi-level converter systems. This topology, as seen in Fig. 1-9, has two appealing aspects: three output voltage states ( $V_{A,N}$ ) for two active devices and the natural balancing ability of coupled inductors due to the common core between two windings. In this thesis, the asymmetric half-bridge and split-wound coupled inductor topology is termed the *asymmetric coupled inductor bridge* (ACIB).

To clarify the operation in three-phase dc/ac applications, the ACIB is presented in Chapter 3 as a three-level, six-switch coupled inductor converter (SS-CIC). The threephase coupled inductors can be integrated into a three-limb coupled inductor to save converter weight and costs. However, it is shown that the use of traditional interleaved PWM techniques produces inefficient converter operation due to the presence of common mode winding voltages. Therefore, to illustrate the challenges of eliminating these voltage states in the SS-CIC, a simple modification to a traditional PWM technique is discussed and experimentally examined.

While it is shown in Chapter 2 that the NPC topology is commonly applied in low voltage applications, Chapter 4 presents a NPC version of the ACIB for five-level, dc/ac converters, as seen in Fig. 1-10 a). This converter features five voltage levels with the same number of active devices as the three-level NPC - potentially allowing for lowcost, filter-less operation in applications such as flywheel battery systems. With the challenges identified in common mode winding elimination from Chapter 3, Chapter 4 uses space vector analysis to minimize these consequences to enable the use of a threelimb coupled inductor for compact operation of the five-level coupled inductor converter.

In Chapter 4, it is observed that the ACIB has a natural tendancy to balance the split-capacitor connection shown in Fig. 1-10 a). Taking advantage of this ability, the ACIB is presented in Chapter 5 as a modular balancing bridge for the automatic balancing of a series connection of batteries, as shown in Fig. 1-10 b). The balancing current produced by the ACIB is shown to be dependent on the parameters of the converter, and is related to a per-unit system for ease of design using a commercial line of transformers. Finally, these transformers are used to illustrate the balancing power relative to size possible with the ACIB-based automatic balancing converter.



Fig. 1-9. The asymmetric half-bridge and split-wound coupled inductor



Fig. 1-10. The ACIB configured as a) a five-level, NPC, dc/ac coupled inductor converter, and b) a modular balancing bridge for voltage balancing with series connected voltage sources.

#### **1.5** Thesis Contributions

The work presented in this thesis contributes to the development of coupled inductor based multi-level converter systems suited for low-voltage (i.e. less than 600V) applications.

The main contribution of this thesis are as follows:

- Presentation of three-limb coupled inductor operation for three-phase coupled inductor converters. The overall aim behind this contibution is to increase the power density of coupled inductor converters, and to extend the operating range to all switching frequencies.
- Identification of non-zero common mode winding states that exist when a threelimb coupled inductor is used in a three-phase coupled inductor converter, see Chapters 3 and 4.
- Presentation of a carrier-based modulation technique for the SS-CIC to highlight the challenges involved in the elimination of these common mode winding voltages, see Chapter 3.
- The development of a three-phase, five-level NPC coupled inductor converter (NPC-CIC) from the ACIB. By moving to a five-level platform, the potential to eliminate the output filter is possible, thereby increasing the power density of the multi-level converter, and lowing costs, as seen in Chapter 4.
- Based on the consequences of common mode winding elimination presented in Chapter 3 for the SS-CIC, a space vector approach is presented to minimize these consequences for the NPC-CIC, see Chapter 4.
- The development of a modular balancing bridge (MBB) based on the ACIB. The MBB can balance any number of voltage sources, independant of the characteristics of that voltage source, and without the requirement of cell voltage feedback. This low-cost approach is further enhanced by the complete modularity of the MBB, as seen in Chapter 5.
- The derivation of the balancing currents for balancing voltages internal to the MBB and for balancing voltages between MBBs to the per-unit circuit parameters. These per-unit circuit parameters are derived to aide in the design of the MBB for an arbituary number of voltage sources, and is related to a transformer size to illustrate the power density of the MBB, see Chapter 5.
- Use of the MBB as a balancing circuit for automotive applications, where the primary storage element is lithium ion (or polymer) battery strings. The MBB is presented with commercial (not custom) transformers, and without the requirement of voltage feedback or balancing co-ordination from a master battery controller, provides a low cost solution for the non-dissipative balancing of batteries.

## Chapter 2 – Low Voltage Multi-level Converter Systems

In this chapter, background information is presented to place the contribution of this thesis in context. Firstly, a brief introduction to traditional three-phase, multi-level voltage source converters is given, and each topology is discussed in context to low voltage operation. Specific low-voltage multi-level pwm converter topologies are then highlighted, with research topics for both capacitor-based and inductor-based solutions identified. Secondly, a space vector modulation approach is used to reduce converter weight for the five-level coupled inductor converter presented in this thesis. Therefore, a review of multi-level pulse-width modulation is presented covering both carrier-based and space vector approaches. Lastly, since the automatic balancing feature of the ACIB is highlighted as a topological approach to balancing batteries, the state of the art in this subject area is discussed in brief.

#### 2.1 General Three-Phase Multi-level Voltage Source Converters

Multi-level voltage source converters are widely deployed in medium voltage applications. However, some characteristics of these converter topologies are suitable for lower voltage application, a central topic of this thesis.

Historically, the first multi-level voltage sourced converter developed was the cascaded full-bridge converter, as seen in Fig. 2-1[13-19]. In this topology, each single-phase H-bridge requires separate dc power supplies, using either phase-shifted transformers [14] or individual battery cells [17]. Additionally, this topology allows for '2N+1' voltage levels – where N is the number of cells per phase – when each cell is charged to the same dc voltage, or the cascaded inverter is termed 'symmetric' [15]. Conversely, by using asymmetric voltage levels, i.e. each level has a different dc voltage, a maximum of  $3^{N}$  levels can be present per-phase, but at the expense of asymmetric power losses in the converter [16].

The cascaded topology is not limited to single-phase H-bridges, and can also feature a combination of other multi-level topologies, such as the neutral point clamped inverters [19]. Such configurations are deemed 'hybrid inverters', as they mix the various topological approaches for conversion. Relative to lower voltage systems, a six-switch inverter with cascaded H-bridges has been shown for electric vehicle applications. This topology is motivated by the desire to remove the bulky inductors in the boost converter, which are often necessary to regulate the battery voltage [20]. Another variation called



Fig. 2-1. The cascaded H-bridge topology a), with b) phase-shifted transformers and c) batteries supplying cell isolated cell



Fig. 2-2. Single-phase legs: a) multi-module converter (MMC), b) flying capacitor configuration (FC) and c) neutral point clamped based configuration (NPC)

the 'multi-module converter' or MMC, see Fig. 2.2 a), was developed in 1990 to reduce the filter requirements for high voltage, direct dc transmission systems (HVDC), but have shown to be ill-suited for variable speed drive systems [21, 22]. Overall, these topologies require either a large number of devices, or isolated power sources for each level, making low voltage application expensive.

The 'flying capacitor' configuration, Fig. 2-2 b), was invented in the late 1980s and requires only one input dc power source, but is not created from a modular concept - unlike the cascaded H-bridge converter [18, 23, 24]. Due to switching state redundancies, the floating capacitor voltage levels are regulated without external circuitry. However, this capacitor voltage regulation comes at the cost of increased device switching frequency [18]. Thus, due to the increased switching frequency, and large number of potentially unreliable capacitors being used, this topology is also not ideal for low voltage applications.

In 1982, the neutral point clamped (NPC) inverter, Fig. 2-2 c), was developed, which could also be powered by a single dc source. Additionally, for the three-level version, the split-capacitor connection can be regulated without any external circuitry or increase in device switching frequency [18, 25]. Therefore, out of the traditional medium voltage topologies, the NPC is the most suitable for low-voltage operation as it features simple modulation techniques, a small number of active devices and low switching losses (as this topology was motivated by lower the device voltage stresses).

#### 2.2 Multi-level Voltage Sourced Converters suitable for Low Voltage

Several published works have recently highlighted the importance of using multilevel pulse-width modulated converters in low voltage applications [26]. The main topological trends in this area are described, i.e.: the neutral point clamped; T-type; and parallel converters using interleaved switching and inter-cell transformers (ICTs) or coupled inductors.

#### 2.2.1 Neutral Point Clamped (NPC) Topologies

The three-level NPC inverter can have significant advantages over the standard two-level converter when the switching frequency is greater than 10 kHz [26-35]. This is because the switching losses are proportional to the commutation voltage, and for the NPC topology, this voltage is reduced by half [26]. Furthermore, when compared to other low voltage topologies, the actual devices can be rated for half of the input dc voltage, enabling the use of higher efficiency (but lower blocking voltage) devices.

The lower device voltage stress of the NPC topology also allows for application of either MOSFET or IGBT based devices [27-32]. As an example, at a switching frequency of 80 kHz, and an output power of approximately 6 kW, MOSFET-based three-level NPC converters have shown an improvement in efficiency of 2.5% over IGBT-based three-level NPC converters [27]. Note [27] illustrates the application of MOSFET based NPC converters, specifically for PMSM machines with low inductance, e.g. flywheel battery systems. Furthermore, [28] illustrates how MOSFET-based three-level NPC converters can be designed to incorporate floating gate driver designs - enabling a low cost, high efficiency converter option.

However, the three-level NPC topology has basic limitations in terms of loss distribution in amongst components [33-35]. Several works have investigated novel topological modifications to the three-level NPC inverter, and in particular, [33] highlights four variations, Fig. 2-3 a)-c), along with a T-type configuration. In particular,

the primary limitation of Fig. 2-3 a), i.e. the standard NPC configuration, is that the devices within a phase leg experience unequal losses, which varies with the load power factor. Thus, the active NPC topology can be used to redistribute these losses equally within the converter, enabling even higher power densities [34]. Furthermore, [33] then proposes Fig. 2-3 c), as a compromise between high asymmetric loss distribution and active device count. In this approach, the additional IGBTs do not require additional isolated power supplies, due to the common source connection with the inner IGBT pair of the NPC topology - potentially lowering the overall cost of Fig. 2-3 c).

In summary, for the low voltage region, the lower voltage stresses of the NPC topology enable the use of MOSFETs over IGBTs. While the NPC topology does experience asymmetrical losses, the advantages in higher switching frequency applications make this topology appealing as a low-voltage converter topology.



Fig. 2-3. NPC-based topologies: a) general NPC, b) Active-NPC, and c) Hybrid-Active NPC

#### 2.2.2 T-Type Converters

In low voltage applications, the reduction in losses is of greater importance than the particular blocking voltage of the devices within a topology, motivating the 'T-type' inverter topology [35-37] – named for the characteristic appearance of each inverter leg, as seen in Fig. 2-4. While the overall device count can be similar for the T-type converter compared to the NPC topology, it is possible to eliminate one gate driver per leg (which can be comparable in cost of the actual device) [36]. However, the main advantage to this topology is the reduction of conduction losses (as compared to the NPC topology), due to a lower number of series-connected devices, and switching losses, due to the reduced commutation voltage (as compared to the standard two-level topology) [37].

However, since the main devices still must block the full input dc voltage, higher voltage devices must be used, and therefore, depending on the operating voltage and



Fig. 2-4. Two T-type configurations based on bi-directional devices: a) single switch and b) dual switch, back-to-back configuration

switching frequency, the overall efficiency can be less than the NPC inverter. A further investigation of which topology is ideal under various power/switching frequencies, [33] compares the distribution of losses in a T-Type inverter and a NPC inverter. The main conclusion from [33] is that the T-type converter is ideal for medium switching frequencies (10-20 kHz, due to conduction losses dominating), with the NPC being ideal for higher switching frequencies.

#### 2.2.3 Three-phase Paralleled Converters with Reactors

In industrial applications, paralleling three-phase converters is a common practice to cope with increasing power requirements [38]. Additionally, as in parallel dc/dc converters [39, 40], the switching of the three-phase converters can be interleaved, and with an inter-cell transformer (ICT), used to produce multi-level PWM outputs. With this approach, the required passive filter sizes are reduced and the effective switching frequency is increased [41-61]. This section explains the basic concepts in parallel three-phase converters (with interleaved switching), and highlights key research areas with these converters.

#### 2.2.3.1 Parallel Three-phase Converters

Consider the single-phase leg in Fig. 2-5 a) and its two parallel configurations in Fig. 2-5 b) and c). Note that the output filter ' $L_{AC}$ ' has been fixed for a given phase current ripple at the output of the topologies given in Fig. 2-5 a)-c). In the paralleled configuration of Fig. 2-5 b), the output current splits between the two converter legs, reducing the current stress in each leg by half. However, to fix phase current ripple magnitude to the converter in Fig. 2-5 a), the output filters in Fig. 2-5 b) are  $2L_{AC}$  (this does not imply that the filter increases in size, only that the inductance is increased). If a center-tapped coupled inductor is placed between the two converter legs, as in Fig. 2-5 c), and the pulse-width modulation is 'interleaved', a three-level voltage output is created at



Fig. 2-5. Single phase legs of filtered VSI topologies: a) half-bridge, b) parallel half-bridges and c) parallel half-bridges with ICT and interleaved switching.

twice the carrier frequency - thereby reducing the required filter inductance to  $L_{AC}/4$  [57-61].

Interleaved switching refers to the amount of carrier overlap that exists for each converter phase leg of Fig. 2-5 b) and c). Considering the parallel converter case, shown in Fig. 2-5 b), the PWM output of each converter leg is interleaved, by a time  $T_D$ , because of the phase difference in each carrier, as shown in Fig. 2-6. In this manner, the overlap of voltages between the two legs (i.e.  $V_1 + V_2$ ) causes a component of current to flow between converters ( $i_1 - i_2$ , in Fig. 2-6), restrained only by the inductance common to each converter. This circulating current component is commonly referred to as the 'differential mode' circulating current [45, 48, 52]. Moreover, as the PWM voltage common to each leg is at the PWM switching frequency, these harmonic components are removed from the ac output path, doubling the effective switching frequency. Furthermore, for three or more sets of parallel converters, the effective switching frequency is similarly tripled, quadrupled, and so forth - allowing for a significant benefit for low-voltage, high current systems limited by the device switching frequency [46].

As the amount of carrier overlap increases, due to the coupling of windings in the ICT, the presence of the low frequency ac flux is increasingly reduced for the converter arrangement in Fig. 2-5 c) [50-53, 58]. To appreciate how this result is possible, note Fig. 2-7 a) and the corresponding coupled inductor models shown in b) and c) of that figure. As analyzed in [51, 52], from the common path linking port (1) to (2) in Fig. 2.7 b), the total inductance seen is  $4L_1$  (if  $L_1 = L_2 = M_{12}$ ). However, for the differential output path, i.e. (1) and (2) to (3) in Fig. 2-7 c), the effective inductance is  $(L_1-M_{12})/2$  - which is half of the leakage inductance of the coupled inductor. Thus, if the switching is interleaved such that the ac output is produced by the differential of the two converters, then the ac flux does not exist in the coupled inductor - enabling a dramatic size reduction [56].

The filter mass reduction, e.g. as demonstrated in [58], is only possible with interleaved switching. In particular, with a carrier phase angle difference of  $180^{\circ}$  or  $T_{\rm D}$  =

 $T_s/2$  in Fig. 2-6 b), the interleaved switching angle produces its maximum amount of circulating differential current at the switching frequency of the converter. In addition, relative to the output, i.e. ports (1) and (2) to (3), are 180° out of phase, producing a three-level voltage at the output, i.e.  $(V_1+V_2)/2$ . Therefore, the output voltage step across the load is reduced by half by interleaved switching and, since the differential component is not present at the output, cancellation of the odd order switching harmonics, producing an effective filter reduction of 4 when compared to the single phase leg of Fig. 2-5 a).



Fig. 2-6. Paralleled half-bridges a) showing the module currents  $i_1$  and  $i_2$  for a general interleaving period  $T_D$  and b) general interleaving time  $T_D$  between two carriers in a parallel three-phase converter with output module voltages and differential voltage labelled



Fig. 2-7. Coupled inductor with a) general mutual coupling, M<sub>12</sub>, between L<sub>1</sub> and L<sub>2</sub>, with b) impedance from port (1) to (2) and c) impedance from ports (1) and (2) to port (3), due to coupling M<sub>12</sub>. L is the self-inductance of a winding.

#### 2.2.3.2 Research Trends in Three-phase Parallel Converter Systems

While parallel converters offer the potential to decrease the filter mass and improve the conversion quality/efficiency [52, 56], several issues exist relating to the 'differential mode' circulating current, as depicted in Fig. 2.6 as ' $i_1$ -  $i_2$ '. This section highlights the limitations of paralleled three-phase converters and the research that exists to mitigate these problems.

In parallel three-phase converter systems, e.g. for utility applications, non-ideal device characteristics can cause circulating currents to exist, regardless of whether the switching is interleaved or not [36, 44, 48]. With a large number of parallel converters, these device characteristics can cause dc currents to flow, potentially saturating the filter inductors. When the switching is interleaved, non-ideal device effects can cause net drifts in the circulating current component, often with both low and high frequency components present [48]. To control the high-frequency circulating component, passive components, such as common mode chokes, are often employed [41].

The choice of the pulse-width modulator for each three-phase module also plays a significant role in the low-frequency component of the circulating current [38, 45, 48]. In [38], the power distribution of parallel modules is controlled with a fundamental phase shift, but due to the use of space vector modulation (SVM) in each converter, certain switching states can cause large circulating currents. Therefore, [38] focuses on the development of a current control regulator that allows for independent power sharing between parallel modules, but mitigates the low frequency circulating component up to certain modulation depths.

Furthermore, with discontinuous modulation, with the attractive benefit of having lower switching losses, methods for parallel converters have been the subject of much research. Like [38], the focus is on the restraint of the low frequency circulating currents that can cause excessive losses in the system [48, 49]. Additionally, the impact of the interleaving angle (i.e. not fixed at 180°) on the passive component (i.e. filter sizes) is the subject of [58-60]. In these latter works, that while the interleaving carrier angles of 180° produce the smallest ICT size, other angles can reduce the ac filter size by spreading the resultant converter switching harmonics across higher frequencies.

Finally, modulation schemes for parallel inverters have not been limited to just circulating current regulation. In parallel converters, with interleaved switching and ICTs, modulation schemes can reduce the dc-capacitor size [57], peak flux density present in the ICTs [56] and improve the conversion quality [52].

#### 2.2.3.3 Advanced Coupled Inductor Based Topologies

While parallel converters exist in many practical industrial applications, e.g. active filters [44], novel converter topologies have also been developed with ICTs (or split-wound coupled inductors). Due to the attractive characteristics of ICT based multi-level conversion, this section details a few topologies that move outside the typical two-
module parallel converter system. While much research has been published on coupled inductors as a basic building block for filters and in converters, [62, 63]; coupled inductor based converter topologies can essentially be grouped into two categories: parallel-based, with identical modules configurations used, or hybrid topologies, which are a combination of traditional multi-level voltage sourced inverters and coupled inductors.

In parallel systems with more than two modules, e.g. four modules in Fig. 2-8 a), [64] and [50, 51] illustrate two methods of coupling the four converter legs together: electrically, Fig. 2-8 a), with single phase cores shown in Fig. 2.8 b) [64], or with combined 'monolithic' magnetic cores, as shown in Fig. 2-8 c) [50, 51]. These monolithic cores are the subject of [50], where several configurations are presented for multi-module systems. In addition, the electrical configurations of Fig. 2-8 a) is one of seven possible, as per [65]. Two such examples are the 'whiffle-tree' and the 'combinatorial shunt', as shown in Fig. 2-9 a) and b).



Fig. 2-8. Four winding cascaded coupled inductor a) electrical equivalent circuit as implemented with b) single phase reactors or c) monolithic reactors

In terms of parallel-based topologies, three-phase converters have been demonstrated in triplen configurations [66]. By using three-limb modules per phase, as shown in Fig 2-10 a), commercial transformer cores can be used, lowering the converter cost. With four parallel modules, as seen in Fig. 2-10 b), [67] demonstrates the operation of a five-level converter based on using the standard two-level converter and the whiffle-tree inductor arrangement of Fig. 2-9 a).

Fig. 2-10 c) and d) illustrate coupled inductor converter topologies that arise from a single-phase coupled inductor, and a traditional multi-level voltage sourced inverter configuration. As an example, Fig. 2-10 c) demonstrates an active neutral point clamped configuration that uses a coupled inductor stage at the output to create a five-



Fig. 2-9. Four winding coupled inductor configurations: a) whiffle-tree and b) combinatorial shunt configurations [67]



Fig. 2-10. Single phase legs for parallel-based converters a) 5-level whiffle tree based, b) 4level six-switch per phase with three-limb coupled inductor, c) NPC-based and d) ANPC with internal coupled inductor

level inverter with eight active devices [68]. A benefit of the topology is that the 'coupled inductor' stage does not see the full dc voltage, and therefore small inductor sizes are possible. In Fig. 2-10 d), a three-level NPC converter is paralleled to create a five-level PWM converter [67], and a five-level NPC converter is paralleled to create a seven-level PWM converter. [69]. Other configurations exist which combine topological functions, i.e. a buck-boost inverter from an 'Inverse Watkins-Johnson' topology [70], or a high-

quality audio amplifier based on a standard parallel half-bridge, using a switched center point to create a single-phase five-level inverter [71].

Clearly, in the low voltage domain, a large variety of multi-level converter topologies exists, as demonstrated by the wide variety of topologies discussed in this section.

# 2.3 Pulse-width Modulation in Multi-level Voltage Sourced Converters

In this thesis, space vector modulation (SVM) is used to allow for an integrated three-limb coupled inductor in a five-level coupled inductor converter. Therefore, background information is presented on the concepts behind multi-level SVM to appreciate some of the contributions made by this thesis. However, basic two-level SVM must first be presented to understand the concept of multi-level SVM. In addition, terminology used for carrier-based multi-level modulation is also presented, as these schemes are used throughout the thesis.

Furthermore, as digital controllers are commonplace in commercial applications, this thesis will only consider regular sampled pulse-width modulation [72]. Regular sampled modulation refers to implementation with up/down counters with modulating reference sampled at every carrier interval.

# 2.3.1 Space Vector Modulation for a Two-level Voltage Sourced Converter

Developed in the mid-1980s, space vector modulation is a digital pulse-width modulation technique that improves the dc-bus utilization by 15.4% over traditional sinusoidal pulse-width modulation, while also providing better conversion quality [73]. This pulse-width modulation technique has become the standard in industrial applications today, in part due to its ease in digital implementations [73]. As an example of recent topics in this area, SVM has been extended to novel converter topologies [74], common mode voltage elimination [75], and noise reduction [76].

The operation of SVM models the three-phase inverter outputs as a state machine, e.g. {E,-E,-E}, which synthesizes the output voltage based on the nearest vectors, or states. The output of each phase leg of the three-phase converter, as seen in Fig. 1-6, can either be either 'E' or '-E', depending on the state of the power electric switch; note these outputs are given as the integer multiples of 'E' for simplicity, e.g. '1' or '-1' on Fig. 2-11. Since the application considered is a three-phase, three-wire system, the phase voltages sum to zero and therefore, one phase is a linear combination of the remaining two. Thus, two variables describe the three-phase system, and the phase output

voltages map to the real and imaginary plane, creating the complex output voltage, as per (2.1).



Fig. 2-11. Two-level space vector map showing phase output vectors {A,B,C} and a reference voltage vector,  $V_{OUT}$ , with vectorial lengths depicted. ' $||V_{OUT}||$ ,  $V_1$ ' refers to the length of vector  $V_{OUT}$  projected onto the vector  $V_1$ . Converter states are scaled by 'E', e.g. {E, -E, -E} to {1,-1,-1} for simplicity.

$$V_{OUT} = V_{A,N} + V_{B,N} \cdot e^{-j\frac{2\pi}{3}} + V_{C,N} \cdot e^{-j\frac{4\pi}{3}}$$
(2.1)

Considering the possible phase voltage combinations of the two-level VSC, the resulting 'space vector map' is depicted in Fig. 2-11. The desired output voltage,  $V_{OUT}$ , is located in Fig. 2-11, between active vectors  $V_1$  and  $V_2$ , and the length of the vector,  $V_{OUT}$ , is relative to the maximum output voltage  $V_{DC}/2$  by the modulation depth,  $m_A$ . The length of  $V_{OUT}$  can then be decomposed into components using the basis of  $V_1$  and  $V_2$ , and then scaled by the lengths of  $V_1$  and  $V_2$ , with the ratio denoted as  $d_1$  and  $d_2$ . These are the active duty cycles necessary to achieve the average voltage of  $V_{OUT}$ , from the bounding vectors. As an example, in the first sextant, these duty cycles are calculated via (2.2).

$$d_1 = m_A \sin \theta, \quad d_2 = m_A \sin(\pi/3 - \theta)$$
 (2.2)

However, to produce the correct average output voltage, the 'zero vectors', i.e.  $\{1,1,1\}$  and  $\{-1,-1,-1\}$ , which produce no voltage from phase to phase, must be switched for the remaining duration of the switching cycle, i.e. (2.3). In order to minimize distortion, the order of vectors selected should be  $T_Z$ ,  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$ , for half the carrier cycle, with the reverse sequence following [72]. Therefore, the duty cycles  $d_1$ ,  $d_2$  and  $d_Z$  should scale to half the switching period,  $T_S/2$ , to achieve the durations  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$ , and  $T_Z$ , (2.4).

$$d_Z = 1 - d_1 - d_2 \tag{2.3}$$

$$T_1 = d_1 \cdot \frac{T_S}{2}, \quad T_2 = d_2 \cdot \frac{T_S}{2}, \quad T_Z = d_Z \cdot \frac{T_S}{2},$$
 (2.4)



Fig. 2-12. Synthesis of  $V_{OUT}$  in Fig. 2-11, over switching period  $T_S$ , based on the vectors  $V_1$ ,  $V_2$  and  $V_Z$  in center-aligned space vector modulation

Furthermore, in order to minimize the switching frequency, Holmes *et al.* [72] states that the transition from one vector to the next should produce only one switching transition. Therefore, for 'center-aligned' space vector modulation, both zero state vectors are used, with the duration equally distributed, i.e.  $d_Z/4$ , per half carrier cycle. Over a switching cycle, the output voltage,  $V_{OUT}$ , is then synthesized, as demonstrated in Fig. 2-12. Over a fundamental cycle, the equivalent analog reference signal for phase A in space vector modulation is illustrated in Fig. 2-13. It has been demonstrated that the space vector implementation and carrier based schemes are equivalent, but for an offset added to the sinusoidal reference. This offset is given in (2.5), as described in [72].

$$V_{A,N}^{*} = V_{A,N} - \frac{\max(V_{A,N}, V_{B,N}, V_{C,N}) + \min(V_{A,N}, V_{B,N}, V_{C,N})}{2}$$
(2.5)

While the 'center-aligned' space vector modulation described above minimizes the current distortion, 'discontinuous' modulation techniques have also been developed - which sacrifice conversion quality at low modulation depth for a reduction in the average switching frequency. In discontinuous modulation, the two zero vectors, i.e. '{1,1,1}' and '{-1,-1,-1}', need not be symmetrically distributed at the beginning and end of the half-switching cycle, as shown in Fig. 2-12 [77]. Rather, discontinuous modulation techniques minimize the switching frequency by holding a device inactive for an entire 60° of a fundamental cycle, and therefore only uses one zero vector per switching cycle. With each phase reference being cyclic, this results in 120° of switch inactivity out of 360° over the fundamental cycle. As the zero voltage vectors result in zero voltage from phase to phase, the line voltage is not affected and the average voltage to the three-phase load is maintained.



Fig. 2-13. Phase voltage reference over a fundamental cycle for SVM, with offset, at a modulation depth of 0.9.



Fig. 2-14. Phases A and B references under DPWM1 with resultant line voltage, V<sub>AB</sub> over a fundamental cycle

There are several methods of discontinuous modulation, varying with where the inactivity occurs in the fundamental cycle. DPWMMIN and DPWMMAX refer to using only one zero vector for the entire fundamental cycle, and therefore, each phase has a region of inactivity, where the phase voltage is clamped high or low for an entire 120° [78]. Whereas DPWM2 and DPWM3 alternate the zero vectors per 60°, but differ on when the inactivity occurs. Ideally, the switch inactivity occurs when the phase current is at its peak: reducing the switching losses by one-third. Lastly, DPWM1 clamps the phase reference at 30° around the peaks of the phase reference, and is shown in Fig. 2-14.

# 2.3.2 Multi-level Carrier based Techniques

While modulation techniques, such as 'phase-shifted PWM' for cascaded Hbridges exist as summarized in [73], the primary focus of this section is to introduce the carrier-based modulation concepts for the multi-level NPC converter. This focus is due to the similar modulation concepts used between coupled inductor converters (with interleaved switching) and NPC converters.

In general, the 'N' level, three-phase NPC converter is modulated by 'N-1' carriers. Furthermore, there are three main configurations of the carriers: alternative phase opposition (APOD), phase opposition disposition (POD) and phase disposition (PD) [72]. Note that the standard two-level six-switch VSC has only one carrier, and therefore all carrier schemes are equivalent for this converter.

With a five-level converter, each carrier based modulation scheme has four carriers, which occupy four different segments, as shown in Fig. 2-16. With POD modulation, in Fig. 2-15 a), the carriers above and below the zero reference are phase shifted by 180°, whereas with APOD modulation, as in Fig. 2-15 b), each carrier is 180° out of phase with its neighboring carriers. However, the best conversion quality is

obtained by using PD modulation, which has all carriers in phase for each carrier band, as illustrated in Fig. 2-15 c). While more detailed analysis of these modulation schemes exists (particularly for the wide variety of multi-level topologies), they are briefly covered here to familiarize multi-level carrier-based PWM concepts and terminology, as used in Chapter 3.



Fig. 2-15. Five-level carrier based modulation for NPC based converters with a) POD, b) APOD and c) PD arrangement of carriers

#### 2.3.4 Space Vector Modulation for Multi-level Inverters

Multi-level SVM is extended from the two-level SVM approach. However, there are two major points of consideration: the possible switching states is substantially more when compared to the two-level VSC, and the selection of vectors now depend on modulation depth ( $m_A$ ), as well as angular position of  $V_{OUT}$ . This section discusses the basic concepts of multi-level SVM as applied to a five-level three-phase NPC converter. This discussion is necessary as multi-level SVM techniques are used to eliminate unwanted voltage states in the five-level coupled inductor converter.

Using the possible phase voltage outputs and (2.1), the space vector map of a five-level NPC converter is pictured in Fig. 2-16. Note here that the maximum voltage level is denoted '2' and '-2' for simplicity over fractional values of the dc-link, i.e. instead

of '2E' and '-2E'. Compared to the two-level VSC, the five-level space vector map has 96 equilateral triangles, with a total of 512 vector combinations, resulting in 61 unique output voltage states. Whereas the two-level VSC only has one output voltage state with two redundant vectors, the five-level converter has a maximum of five redundant vectors, decreasing by 1 per level until the outside edge, as shown in Fig. 2-16.



Fig. 2-16. Five-level space vector map showing phase voltage states {A, B, C} and the highlighted triangle for Fig. 2-17. Converter states, e.g.  $\{2E, -E, -2E\}$ , are scaled by 'E', e.g.  $\{2,-1,-2\}$  for simplicity.



Fig. 2-17. Highlighted group of triangles from Fig. 2-17 with labelling (1)-(4)

Due to these redundant vectors, two guidelines for selecting the appropriate vectors are as follows [79]:

- Select two vectors where the number of redundant vectors will be an even number, and consequently, the remaining vector will be selected from the vertex with odd number of redundant vectors
- Select one vector from the vertex with an even number of redundant vectors, and the remaining two vectors are selected from vertices with an odd number of redundant vectors

Consider Fig. 2-17, which is the highlighted four triangles of Fig. 2-16, and their bounding vertices (as well as their redundant vector combinations). With the two conditions as per [79], and assuming center alignment of the zero vectors, triangles (1) and (4) have multiple choices for vectors used. However, knowing that only one switching cycle must occur per vector transition, and due to the neighboring vectors, these choices are eliminated to achieve an optimized operation. Note that triangles (2) and (3) only have one vector sequence: {2,2,-1}, {2,2,-2}, {2,-1,-2}, {1,1,-2} and {2,1,-1}, {2,1,-2}, {2,0,-2}, {1,0,-2} respectively.

Specifically, triangle (1) has the vector sequences:

- a)  $\{2,2,0\}, \{2,2,-1\}, \{2,1,-1\}, \{1,1,-1\}$
- b)  $\{0,0,-2\}, \{1,0,-2\}, \{1,1,-2\}, \{1,1,-1\}$
- c)  $\{2,1,-1\}, \{1,1,-1\}, \{1,1,-2\}, \{1,0,-2\}$
- d)  $\{2,2,-1\}, \{2,1,-1\}, \{1,1,-1\}, \{1,1,-2\}$

Similarly, triangle (4) has two possible sequences:

- a)  $\{2,1,-1\}, \{2,1,-2\}, \{1,1,-2\}, \{1,0,-2\}$
- b)  $\{2,2,-1\}, \{2,1,-1\}, \{2,1,-2\}, \{1,1,-2\}$

On examination of these latter two vector sequences, it is clear that these are most similar to sequences c) and d) for triangle one, but for one vector in each sequence. Therefore, to minimize the switching transitions, only c) and d) of triangle (1) and a) and b) of triangle (4) are used. According to [79], all odd vectors with greater than two redundancies will only result in one vector being used, if the lowest number of switching transitions is desired. Similarly, all even vectors greater than three will only use two vectors of even redundancy to achieve 'optimal' switching within SVM.

Unlike the two-level VSC, where the angular position of  $V_{OUT}$  determines which triangle (or bounding vectors) is to be used, the appropriate triangle in multi-level VSCs also depends on the modulation depth of  $V_{OUT}$ . As the number of voltage levels increases, the determination of this triangle location becomes increasingly computationally difficult, and therefore algorithms have been developed to simplify this procedure for a general N-level NPC converter, e.g. [80]. With the appropriate bounding vectors known, the duration of these vectors (or duty cycles) is calculated in order to synthesize the output voltage.

In [80], the multi-level SVM algorithm begins with the assumption that the line voltages of three-phase inverters sum to zero, and only two variables are needed to describe the vector locations (i.e.  $V_A + V_B + V_C = 0$ , thus one voltage can be expressed as

the sum as the remaining two). Therefore, a set of non-orthogonal vectors are selected as a new basis, creating a 'hexagonal' co-ordinate system as defined in (2.6). Note that these vectors are selected using the line voltages, and not the phase voltages.

$$\{\vec{g}_{(V_{AB}, V_{BC}, V_{CA})}, \vec{h}(V_{AB}, V_{BC}, V_{CA})\} = \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} E \\ 0 \\ -E \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ E \\ -E \end{bmatrix} \right\}$$
(2.6)

The reference vector, e.g.  $V_{REF}$ , is then transformed into a two-dimensional coordinate system using the transformation matrix, T, as defined in (2.7), using (2.8), as developed in [80].

$$V_{\text{REF}(g,h)} = T \cdot V_{\text{REF}(V_{AB}, V_{BC}, V_{CA})}$$
(2.7)

$$T = \frac{1}{3E} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 2 & -1 & -1 \\ -1 & 2 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.8)

Taking (2.7) and (2.8) and applying it to the five-level NPC converter results in the space vector map depicted in Fig. 2-18, but expressed in the hexagonal co-ordinate system (as opposed to an orthogonal co-ordinate system). After the transformation, the reference voltage is bounded by an equal-sided parallelogram, with the bounding vectors found via (2.9).

$$\vec{V}_{ul} = \begin{bmatrix} V_{REF(g)} \\ V_{REF(h)} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$\vec{V}_{lu} = \begin{bmatrix} V_{REF(g)} \\ V_{REF(h)} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$\vec{V}_{uu} = \begin{bmatrix} V_{REF(g)} \\ V_{REF(h)} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$\vec{V}_{ll} = \begin{bmatrix} V_{REF(g)} \\ V_{REF(h)} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.9)

This parallelogram is composed of two equal-sided triangles, and the vectors  $V_{lu}$  and  $V_{ul}$  are always two of the three vectors nearest to the reference voltage. The last vector can be determined from the expression, (2.10), as per [2.69].

$$V_{\text{REF}(g)} + V_{\text{REF}(h)} - \left[ \left( \overrightarrow{V}_{ul} \right)_g + \left( \overrightarrow{V}_{ul} \right)_h \right] > 0$$
(2.10)

If (2.10) is true, then  $V_{uu}$  is the last vector in the triangle bounding the reference vector, otherwise,  $V_{ll}$  is the vector. By knowing the co-ordinates of the bounding triangle for the reference vector, the duty cycles can easily be determined, with (2.11) being the expression if  $V_{ll}$  is the last vector of the triangle, and (2.12) otherwise.

$$d_{ul} = V_{REF(g)} - (\vec{V}_{ll})_g$$

$$d_{lu} = V_{REF(h)} - (\vec{V}_{ll})_h$$

$$d_{ll} = 1 - d_{ul} - d_{lu}$$
(2.11)



Fig. 2-18. Five-level space vector map showing phase voltage states in the {g,h} domain

# 2.4 Voltage Balancing Circuits

In this thesis, due to tightly coupled windings within the split-wound coupled inductor allowing for a natural balancing effect in series-connect voltage sources, a configuration of the ACIB is presented as a solution for balancing battery voltages. Therefore, to develop an appreciation for the contributions of the proposed balancing circuit, a review of the major voltage balancing methods is necessary.

The problem of balancing of voltage sources is not unique to batteries. In fact, ultra-capacitors [81], split-capacitor dc/dc converters [82], and multi-level pwm inverter systems [83] also present difficulties with unbalanced voltages. Specifically, for a five-level NPC converter, Fig. 2-19 a) illustrates a solution presented in [84] that balances the four capacitors of this converter. Unlike three-level NPC converter, which can balance the split-capacitor connection within the modulation strategy, four levels or more require an external balancing circuit for stable operation [84]. With split-capacitor dc/dc boost converters, Fig. 2-19 b) illustrates a single-switch solution that automatically balances four capacitors with no closed loop control, as per [82]. Finally, Fig. 2-19 c) is an asymmetric half-bridge, which actively balances split-capacitor systems. Note that while this thesis focuses on balancing battery voltages, the ACIB-derived circuit balances arbitrary voltage sources, as the balancing property exhibited by this topology is not specific to the type of voltage source being balanced (e.g. lithium ion or nickel metal hydride batteries versus capacitors).

(2.12)



Fig. 2-19. Voltage balancing circuits a) for a five-level NPC converter [85] b) split input and output dc/dc boost converter [83] and c) fault tolerant 3-level NPC operation [84]

However, for the balancing of serially connected batteries, depending on whether energy is recovered during the balancing process, the approaches can be split into the following categories [85, 86]:

- Dissipative
- Non-dissipative

With non-dissipative circuits, i.e. circuits that do not dissipate energy as heat during the balancing procedure, the major categories are:

- Capacitor Charge Shuttling
- Current Shunting
- Converter Based Balancing

# 2.4.1 Dissipative Balancing Circuits

The simplest method of ensuring balanced voltages is to use a series connection of resistors across each battery cell, as per Fig. 2-20 a), as discussed in [85]. In this approach, larger cell voltages draw more current, and therefore will naturally correct for any over voltage situations. However, one of the motivations for battery balancing is due to the actual manufacturing differences, i.e. internal impedances, present between cells and therefore this approach would have limited success in ensuring precise balanced voltages within a string [85].

A common approach, used in commercial and industrial battery balancing units, is the switched resistor configuration, as shown in Fig. 2-20 b) [86]. In this approach, a battery monitoring system individually controls each cell by a power electronic device,

and the cells are switched according to their differences across the string. This approach allows smaller resister values to control the battery voltages faster. However, for both resistive approaches, the downside is clearly that the energy is wasted in the balancing.



Fig. 2-20. Resistive balancing of serially connected battery cells a) resistor divider and b) switched resistor

# 2.4.2 Non-Dissipative - Capacitor Charge Shuttling

Whereas dissipative circuits burnt off excess energy to balance the batteries, nondissipative circuits use the extra charge stored in those cells with the higher than average voltages, and put that charge into the cells with lower than average voltages. In this sense, the energy is not wasted in the balancing process, and instead can be used elsewhere.

Capacitor charge shuttling, as shown in Fig. 2-21, is an approach using purely capacitors to move charge along a series string of unbalanced batteries. There are two main reported configurations [87]: single tier, as shown in Fig. 2-21 a), and double tier, as shown in Fig. 2-21 b). In either configuration, the balancing occurs by switching in parallel, a capacitor that charges (limited by the lead or externally placed resistance) to the battery voltage. Once charged, this capacitor switches in parallel with another battery, and those charges equalize. This process is then repeated until the entire battery string is balanced.



Fig. 2-21. Switched capacitor approach to balancing serially connected battery strings: a) single tier capacitors and b) double tiered capacitors

The charge shuttling technique is reportedly low in efficiency [87], and slow when balancing is required in large strings of batteries. In fact, the double-tier configuration [88], as shown in Fig. 2-21 b), is a direct attempt to improve the balancing speed of the circuit.

# 2.4.3 Non-Dissipative - Current Shunting

Instead of relying on the equalization time of capacitors to balance battery strings, another approach is to use the charging current to balance the string by diverting this current to lower cells as necessary [89]. This approach involves pulse-width modulating the switches, as pictured in Fig. 2-22, according to a battery management system, i.e. voltage feedback and knowledge of the battery chemistry is required.

This approach is motivated by reported research that indicates that lithium ion battery cells have the greatest potential for unbalance during the charge operation [85]. Therefore, a cost effective implementation is the unidirectional charge shunt circuit, shown in Fig. 2-22 a). Naturally, a bi-directional configuration of this circuit also exists, and this is shown in Fig. 2-22 b). However, the limitations of this circuit are that it involves two active devices per cell (bi-directional), increasing the potential for failure. Furthermore, compared to other converters which actively monitor the battery voltage, the balancing control can be complicated [86].



Fig. 2-22. Current shunting approach to balancing serially connected battery strings: a) unidirectional and b) bidirectional topologies

#### 2.4.4 Non-Dissipative - Converter-based Balancing

Naturally, another common approach to battery balancing is by using various dc/dc converter topologies. Due to the scope of dc/dc converter topologies, only the general converter and a modular balancing circuit, that uses a similar approach to the ACIB in this thesis, are considered.

The simplest converter topology to use is the fly-back based topologies, as seen in Fig. 2-23. In these implementations, the total battery string can be used to excite a central transformer, and due to the fixed turns ratio on the secondaries of the transformer, balances each individual cell [85]. This approach is shown in Fig. 2-23 a), and requires only a single active device, with no cell voltage monitoring required. On the other hand, the circuit of Fig. 2-23 a) is unable to balance in a bi-directional fashion - meaning that higher voltage cells simply do not receive charge and therefore, are not actively discharged. In this situation, if a battery cell were to become overcharged, this energy could not be used to charge a lower voltage battery cell – affecting the balancing speed.



Fig. 2-23. Converter based balancing approach to serially connected battery strings: a) flyback based with single transformer and b) forward converter based with single transformer

The circuit in Fig. 2-23 b) is a forward converter version of the circuit in Fig. 2-23 a), as per [86]. Many other isolated topologies have been demonstrated, as per [86], with various differences in transformer configurations, balancing speed and active device count. However, the main limitation of the converter balancing circuits is the actual transformer used in the balancing operation. In modern electric vehicles, where battery strings can approach 100 series connected cells, an implementation of Fig. 2-23 a) or b) would require 100 secondary windings - an obvious impracticality.

Several circuits demonstrate methods to circumvent the multi-winding limitation of the converter-based circuits [86]. One approach is to place several transformers in series, [90], and have several identical transformers. However, while this remedies the transformer complexities, this configuration does not allow itself to be easily configured to different battery arrangements, e.g. one application with 96 cells against another application with 75 cells - a distinct disadvantage for a battery manufacturer.

Therefore, circuits have been demonstrated with a modular concept in mind, e.g. the four cell balancing circuit of Fig. 2-24 [91-93]. The goal behind these circuits is to have simple, high volume parts, but allow for simple adaptability to any number of battery cells. In Fig. 2-24, a flyback converter is used internally for 'intra-module' balancing, and an 'inter-module' transformer balances each module. Note the terminology used here is similar to the presentation of the ACIB based balancing circuit. A minimum

of three transformers, one pulse-width modulated switch and two solid state relays make up a balancing circuit for two battery cells. With any number of battery cells, the transformer turns ratio must be customized for the secondary 'intra-module' balancing. However, a central controller is still required for balancing the entire battery string, and the battery cells cannot be actively discharged in this approach.



Fig. 2-24. Modular staged approach to battery balancing [94] showing converter topology for four batteries with two inter-module transformers and four intra-module transformers. SSR denotes solid-state relay.

# 2.5 Chapter Summary

Several topological approaches to low-voltage multi-level PWM converters were identified. One topology, three-phase parallel converters with interleaved switching, was highlighted as a common solution to increasing power levels when the device blocking voltage is not an issue. Several configurations based on the parallel converter approach were discussed, which are similar in operation to the ACIB based converters developed in this thesis. Additionally, since this thesis involves the presentation of a SVM approach for a five level coupled inductor converter (based on the ACIB), SVM is discussed in its two-level and multi-level form. Finally, as the ACIB is also presented as a balancing circuit in this thesis, a literature review of common balancing circuits was presented to provide context to the contributions of the proposed approach.

# Chapter 3 – Asymmetric Coupled Inductor Bridge as a Three-Level Three-Phase Converter

In this chapter, the ACIB is employed in a three-level, three-phase dc/ac converter - motivated by the low cost aspect of having three output voltage levels per two active devices. As a three-phase dc/ac converter, the ACIB-based circuit is termed the 'six-switch coupled inductor converter' (SS-CIC), and as presented along with a parallel-based coupled inductor converter (CIC) for clarity of operation. A modulation scheme is presented to improve the power density of three-phase converters that use coupled inductors, by combining the three-phase coupled inductors into a single three-limb coupled inductor.

In more detail, the key points of this chapter are as follows:

- The operation and benefits of the SS-CIC is highlighted to familiarize key concepts in ACIB-based three-phase dc/ac converters.
- Three-limb coupled inductor operation using a carrier-based modulation approach. This approach is intended to highlight the challenges of developing a modulation scheme for three-limb coupled inductor operation for three-phase dc/ac coupled inductor converters.

# 3.1 Basic Operation of the Six-Switch Coupled Inductor Converter

The SS-CIC, and the parallel-based CIC are shown in Fig 3-1. Note the operation of the parallel-based CIC is given due to the familiarity of this converter thus far. This section details the switching states, interleaved switching, and simulation model for these two converters. Finally, the benefits of the SS-CIC are highlighted in terms of being a low-cost, three-level dc/ac converter.

#### 3.1.1 Switching States within a Coupled Inductor Converter

Applying a voltage across a split-wound coupled inductor produces a mid-point voltage at the center-tap. Note however, the module current that flows, e.g.  $i_{A,2}$  from Fig 3.1, for the SS-CIC is always defined as positive, in contrast to the parallel-based CIC. Therefore, a circulating winding current,  $i_{CW}$ , in the SS-CIC is the addition of the two module currents, (3.1), but in the parallel-based CIC, the circulating current is defined as the differential mode current,  $i_{DF}$ , and it is the difference between the two module currents, (3.2).



Fig. 3-1. The six-switch coupled inductor converter (SS-CIC) and the parallel-based CIC using coupled inductors with: module currents, e.g  $i_{A,1}$ , module voltage, e.g.  $V_{A,1}$ , winding voltage, e.g.  $V_{A,W}$ , phase output voltage, e.g.  $V_{A,N}$  and circulating current, e.g.  $i_{A,DF}$ .

$$i_{CWA} = (i_{A1} + i_{A2})/2$$
 (SS-CIC) (3.1)

$$i_{DF,A} = i_{A,1} - i_{A,2}$$
 (Parallel-based CIC) (3.2)

Considering only a phase leg for each respective topology in Fig. 3-1, four switch combinations exist,  $\{S_{A,1}, S_{A,2}\} = \{0,0\}, \{0,1\}, \{1,0\}$  and  $\{1,1\}$ , where S is either 'on' (1) or 'off' (0). In addition, the remaining active devices within each phase leg of the parallel-based CIC are switched complimentary to avoid short circuit currents. These switching states are summarized in Fig. 3-2 a), for the SS-CIC and Fig. 3-2 b) for the parallel-based CIC, illustrating the output phase voltage and the polarity of the winding voltage with each combination. In Fig. 3-2, note that SS-CIC produces identical output voltages and winding voltages to the parallel-based CIC for each switching combination (or state).

# 3.1.2 Interleaved Modulation of Split-wound Coupled Inductor Converters

To produce the third voltage state, each phase reference is compared with two carriers, ideally at a phase angle difference of 180°, to minimized the size of the coupled inductor (i.e. the carriers are interleaved, see chapter 2). Assuming a sinusoidal reference



Fig. 3-2. Per phase switching states for a) SS-CIC and b) the parallel-based CIC according to state  $\{S_{A,1}S_{A,2}\}$  as defined in Fig. 3-1

signal, the resulting logic signals for phase A are illustrated, i.e.  $S_{A,1}$  and  $S_{A,2}$ , producing the phase output  $V_{A,N}$  and the winding voltage  $V_{A,W}$ , in Fig. 3-3. Note in Fig. 3-3, the ratio between the switching frequency and fundamental frequency is intentionally low for illustrative purposes.

In Fig. 3-3, the output voltage in phase A,  $V_{A,N}$ , relative to 'N' in Fig. 3-1, has three voltage levels: 'E', '0', '-E', i.e. three-level PWM is achieved over the fundamental cycle. In the SS-CIC, the output voltages and winding voltages produced by sinusoidal modulation with interleaved carriers, i.e. Fig. 3-3, are identical, despite having twice as many active devices in the parallel-based CIC.

However, due to the diodes in each ACIB, the module currents of the SS-CIC are always positive, resulting in a dc offset seen in Fig. 3-4 a) compared to b). While this does increase the device current stress, note that the presence of this dc-offset in the circulating current is not necessary a negative feature of the SS-CIC. In fact, as mentioned in chapter 2, dc-offsets can exist in the circulating current of the parallel-based ICT as well. However, for the latter topology, complex current control is needed to insure stable operation of the converter. In the SS-CIC, the asymmetric bridge in each phase causes a net negative dc offset in the winding voltage - keeping the circulating current stable without any need for closed loop control.



Fig. 3-3. Sinusoidal modulation with interleaved carriers for three-phase coupled inductor converters: gating signals for phase A,  $S_{A,1}$  and  $S_{A,2}$ , output voltage for phase A (relative to N),  $V_{A,N}$ , and the winding voltage,  $V_{A,W}$ .



Fig. 3-4. Simulated module, circulating currents and phase currents for the a) SS-CIC and b) parallelbased CIC

# 3.1.3 Summary of SS-CIC Benefits

As a three-phase, three-level, dc/ac converter, the ACIB-based SS-CIC has several attractive benefits when compared to the parallel-based CIC. In the low voltage domain, at lower power levels, the cost of the converter is a significant issue. Therefore, while the SS-CIC has all the advantages of the parallel-based CIC in terms of output performance, several factors contribute to the SS-CIC potentially being more suitable as a low cost topology in the low-voltage domain, when compared to the parallel-based CIC:

- Half the number of active devices
- Half the number of required gate drivers and control signals

- No overlap protection of phase leg devices required (i.e. 'inter-lock' protection), and therefore each gate driver is reduced in complexity.
- Device voltage drops (and the device turn off time) contribute to a negative bias in the winding voltages, allowing for stable open-loop operation of the SS-CIC.

# 3.1.4 Simulation Models of Three-Level Coupled Inductor Converters

To aide in the development of the modulation techniques, the operation of either converter is separated into two models: the winding voltage model - which characterizes the high-frequency circulating current in each phase; and the ac output voltage model - which characterizes the ac output voltage of each converter.

A generic modulator, Fig. 3-5 a), produces the switching signals  $S_{A,1}$ ,  $S_{A,2}$ , etc, resulting in the output voltage,  $V_{A,N}$  ( $V_{B,N}$  and  $V_{C,N}$ ), and winding voltage  $V_{A,W}$  ( $V_{B,W}$  and  $V_{C,W}$ ), as in (3.3) and (3.4) respectively.

$$V_{A,N} = \frac{V_{DC}}{2} \cdot (V_{A,1} + V_{A,2}) = E \cdot (S_{A,1} + S_{A,2} - 1) \quad \{0,1\} \in S_{A,1}, S_{A,2}$$

$$V_{A,W} = \frac{V_{DC}}{2} \cdot (V_{A,1} - V_{A,2}) = 2E \cdot (S_{A,1} - S_{A,2}) \quad \{0,1\} \in S_{A,1}, S_{A,2}$$
(3.3)
(3.4)

Therefore, a three-phase ac voltage, as per (3.3), composes the output mode of the converter, as per Fig. 3-5 c), and the winding voltages, as per (3.4), drive the three-phase circulating mode of the converter, as per Fig. 3-5 b). Note that for the circulating mode of the circuit, a coupling factor, e.g.  $k_{W,AB}$ , is shown - which is the coupling co-efficient between phases A and B. A zero coupling factor would mean each phase is independent from one another, i.e. phase A does not influence phase B.

In Fig. 3-5 b), the winding self-inductance, e.g.  $L_{W,A}$ , opposes the rate of change in the circulating currents,  $i_{DF,A}$  or  $i_{CW,A}$ , only and is ideally independent of the phase current,  $i_A$ . Due to the tight coupling between the upper and lower windings, the total inductance in the circulating path of phase A is  $4L_{W,A}$ , as leakage can be ignored due to its relatively small per-unit size. Finally, in the output mode, as seen in Fig. 3-5 c), the leakage reactance of each winding can be included with the ac inductance,  $L_{AC}$ , or again ignored due to being small when compared to the ac load inductance.

# 3.2 Three Separate Single Phase and Combined Three-limb Coupled Inductors

Typically, for the parallel-based CIC, the three-phase coupled inductors are electrically separate, with no coupling between phases, as seen in Fig. 3-6 [52, 94]. As discussed in chapter 2, the coupled inductors can be integrated into a monolithic core



Fig. 3-5. Simulated coupled inductor converter model: a) generic modulator producing six gating signals S<sub>A,1</sub> to S<sub>B,2</sub>,b) the circulating (or differential) mode and c) the ac output mode of the converter

but due to the difficulties in manufacturing these cores, this is not a common practice [51]. However, a three-limb core, as seen in Fig. 3.6, is commonly used in paralleled dc/dc converters [96], and three-phase commercial transformers. Therefore, in addition to the weight savings of using a three-limb coupled inductor, three-limb operation is also cost effective, due to their common use in industrial applications.

In addition, with a three-limb coupled inductor, the SS-CIC can operate without current control to ensure stable operation, and the dc current present in the circulating current no longer produces a large dc-flux in each coupled inductor. In Fig. 3-7 a), under dc excitation, the reluctance network for a three-limb coupled inductor is illustrated with three separate single-phase coupled inductors, Fig. 3-7 b). If the MMF in each phase were equal (i.e. equal dc currents), the dc flux is small, due to having to use the air paths (high reluctance, or low permeability) in the three-limb core to complete the magnetic circuit. Thus, operation with a three-limb core offers a significant advantage in terms of weight reduction for ACIB-based three-phase coupled inductor converters.



Fig. 3-6. Three separately wound single-phase cores (two-limb) on the left and a single threephase three-limb core with three-phase windings on the right



Fig. 3-7. Reluctance networks, under dc-current excitation, for a) three-limb coupled inductor core and b) three separate single-phase cores

To appreciate the approximate difference in size between the three-limb and three separate coupled inductors, consider the dimensions of the two core configurations in Fig. 3-8, under identical PWM voltage excitation, along with each phase winding having an identical number of turns, core permeability and lamination thickness. It is reasonable to assume that the dimensions  $H_2$ ,  $H_3$ ,  $W_2$ , and  $W_1$  are similar between the two inductor designs, as these dimensions are dependent on the winding dimensions on each limb. Thus, the two inductors differ by the winding stack height – i.e. there are half the windings on each limb for the separate cores, reducing the winding height ( $H_1$ ) by half.

Since the high frequency flux is voltage driven, the cross-sectional area is also identical for both core configurations in order to obtain the same high flux density magnitude in either core;



Fig. 3-8. Approximate geometric comparison of the three-limb coupled inductor and (three) single phase two-limb coupled inductors

hence, both configurations have the same iron loss density. Therefore, an expression for the approximate total volume of the iron for each core (three cores for the separate case) given in (3.5) and (3.6).

$$\operatorname{Vol}_{3L} \approx A_{C} \cdot [6 \cdot (H_{2} + H_{3}) + 3 \cdot (H_{1}) + 4 \cdot (2W_{1} + W_{2})]$$
 (3.5)

$$Vol_{1L} \approx A_{C} \cdot [12 \cdot (H_{2} + H_{3}) + 3 \cdot (H_{1}) + 6 \cdot (2W_{1} + W_{2})]$$
(3.6)

Using (3.5), consider a gap-less, three-limb core constructed from 'Thomas and Skinner' 7/8 three-phase, 6 mil laminations, wound for 12 mH total inductance with:  $H_1 = 5.1$ cm,  $(2H_2 + 2H_3) = 3.9$ cm and  $2W_1+W_2=5$ cm. The equivalent separate inductors, from (3.8), would be 57% heavier. Therefore, under this approximate weight reduction, a coupled inductor converter with a three-limb coupled inductor, has 57% less iron weight than if it used three single-phase coupled inductors.

# 3.3 Challenges of Three-limb Coupled Inductor Operation

While integrating the three-phase coupled inductors into a three-limb coupled inductor saves weight, standard three-phase interleaved modulation, e.g. Fig. 3-3, is no longer applicable. This section identifies the presence of 'common mode winding voltages' in standard interleaved modulation techniques, and presents a simple modification scheme to illustrate the challenges in eliminating these common mode winding voltages. To reduce the complexity of the discussion, the terminology of the parallel-based converters is assumed (e.g. differential mode currents).

# 3.3.1 Common Mode Winding Voltages

With a parallel-based CIC, as in Fig. 3-1, if the output phase voltage of each inverter is defined as:

Inverter 1:  $(V_{A,1}, V_{B,1}, V_{,C,1})$ Inverter 2:  $(V_{A,2}, V_{B,2}, V_{,C,2})$ (3.7)Then a common-mode output voltage for each inverter can be defined as:Inverter 1: $V_{CM,1} = (V_{A,1} + V_{B,1} + V_{C,1})/3$ (3.8)

Inverter 2:  $V_{CM,2} = (V_{A,2} + V_{B,2} + V_{C,2})/3$  (3.9)

The voltage drop across the coupled inductor in each phase is then defined as:

$$V_{CM} = (V_{A,W} + V_{B,W} + V_{C,W})/3 = V_{CM,U} - V_{CM,L}$$
(3.10)

Therefore, the currents circulating between the set of three-phase inverters introduced by  $V_{CM}$ , is defined as representing a common code current,  $i_{CM}$ , flowing through the three-limb coupled inductor windings:

$$i_{CM} = (i_{A,DF} + i_{B,DF} + i_{C,DF})/3$$
 (3.11)

Alternatively, this means that, under the presence of a common mode winding voltage, the differential current, such as  $i_{A,DF}$ , has a common mode current component.

Consider the reluctance model of the three-limb and single phase coupled inductors, shown in Fig. 3-9, along with the winding voltage in each phase. Since  $V_{CM}$  is defined as the sum of the winding voltages across the three phases, it is clear that for the three-limb coupled inductor, Fig. 3-9 a), all three-limbs would then have a component of equal excitation under the presence of a common mode winding voltage. Since the sum of the fluxes at every point must equal zero, the flux produced by the common mode winding voltage must therefore not flow from phase to phase (through the high permeability iron), but instead through the low permeability air paths. However, in the case of the single-phase separate cores, see Fig. 3-9 b), each phase is independent to one another. Therefore, the presence of the common mode winding voltage would merely induce more flux in each limb in the iron (or high permeability) paths.



Fig. 3-9. High frequency flux ( $\phi$ ) paths for the a) three-limb coupled inductor core and b) the three separate single-phase cores

The process of high frequency flux leaving the core, through low permeability states, is better understood with the illustration of an interleaved discontinuous PWM scheme and its application to a three-limb coupled inductor. Consider the same interleaved carrier arrangement as Fig. 3-3, but with the three-phase modulating

references, as defined Fig. 3-10. This modulation reference is commonly called DPWM1, and is segmented in 60° sectors, as seen in Fig. 3-10 [77]. DPWM1 has only two phases active per 60° cycle, and in sector 0, these two phases are B and C.



Fig. 3-10. DPWM1 three-phase references over a fundamental electric cycle at a modulation depth of 0.9/1.15, showing the switching period marked '\*'.

Consider the excitation states of the parallel-based CIC under the period labelled '\*' in Fig. 3-10, as shown in Fig. 3-11 a). Since the mid-level voltages depend on the magnetization of the three-phase coupled inductors, Fig. 3-11 b) illustrates the winding voltages over the same switching period marked '\*'. As the three-phase winding voltages would nearly always be at the same polarity, an obvious improvement is to flip the winding voltage on phase C. Flipping the polarity of the winding voltage has no consequence on the output voltage, as per (3-3). Therefore, the resultant sum of the three-phase windings voltage is highlighted in grey along the V<sub>CM</sub> axis of Fig. 3-11 b)

Fig. 3-11 c) illustrates the flux states within the three-limb core, during the switching states illustrated in Fig. 3-11 a) and b). Even by inverting the polarity of one of the winding voltages, only the switching states i) and v) maintain flux within the high permeability iron core. Otherwise, in states ii) and iv), the flux is driven outside the core, and returns through the three leakage paths (i.e. low permeability), completing the magnetic circuit. Given the self-inductance of the winding, as defined by (3.12) [97], the peak differential circulating current is high, as per (3.13), thereby significantly increasing the current stresses in each module, and reducing the converter efficiency.

$$L_{W} = \frac{N^{2}}{R}, R = \frac{l_{M}}{\mu A_{C}}$$
 (3.12)

$$\hat{i}_{DF,A} = \frac{V_{DC}}{2L_W \cdot f_C}$$
(3.13)



Fig. 3-11. The carrier cycle marked by '\*' in Fig. 3-9 with a) the active switch gating signals and output voltages (relative to N) with A held inactive, b) the winding voltages and the inverted winding voltage for phase C producing the common mode voltage and c) the flux paths for the three-limb core produced. Note that states i) to iv) correspond to the winding voltages of b) and the flux paths identified in c).  $f_C = 2 \text{ kHz}$ .

# 3.3.2 Modified DPWM1

The presence of common mode winding voltages in standard interleaved modulation techniques, e.g. DPWM1, limits the efficiency of the coupled inductor converter. This section describes a modification to DPWM1 to eliminate these winding voltages in coupled inductor converters. However, this scheme is mainly presented to highlight the challenges of three-limb coupled inductor operation, and therefore it is not intended to be an optimal solution.

Considering that the winding voltage, as described by (3.4), is only active when the mid-level voltage is needed, the approach to the modified DPWM1 starts with no coupled inductor switching. In the active phases, i.e. phases B and C in sector 0, see Fig. 3-10, an average reference signal can be created ( $V_{\sigma}$ ) – representing output voltage states that do not involve coupled inductor excitation, as defined in (3.14). Those states that produce the 'mid-level' or '0' voltages at the output of the coupled inductor, involve the excitation of the coupled inductor, and can be defined as the differential voltage reference



Fig. 3-12. Average  $(V_{\sigma})$  and differential  $(V_{\Delta})$  phase references for sector 0 (Fig. 3-10), with increasing modulation depth from 0.1 to 1.0 in steps of 0.1.  $f_0 = 60$  Hz.

 $(V_{\Delta})$ , as shown in (3.15). Over a 60° sector (at 60Hz, this is 2.667ms), the reference signals  $V_{\Delta}$  and  $V_{\sigma}$  appear in Fig. 3-12 with an increasing modulation depth from 0.1 to 1.0. The low and high modulation depths of each reference signal are highlighted for clarity of operation.

$$V_{\sigma} = \frac{\left(V_{\text{REF},B} + V_{\text{REF},C}\right)}{2}$$
(3.14)

$$V_{\Delta} = 1 - \left\| \frac{V_{\text{REF,C}} - V_{\text{REF,B}}}{2} \right\|$$
 (3.15)

By separating the reference signals in this manner - after a comparison with interleaved references - the resultant PWM represents pulses are those that excite the coupled inductor  $(S_{\Delta})$ , and those pulses that do not  $(S_{\sigma})$ . Therefore, by altering the 'differential' pulses, the excitation periods of the coupled inductor can be modified. As altering these 'differential' pulses  $(S_{\Delta})$  would result in a change in the average output voltage over the switching cycle, 'average' pulses  $(S_{\sigma})$  are added or subtracted to maintain this average. Using logic gates, e.g. from an FPGA, each differential pulse is modified such that an equal and opposite 'differential' pulse in the other active phase. Otherwise, the average pulses should pass to the gate of each switch. Essentially, this means that a switch should be high when 'the differential pulses are not active' and the 'average pulse is active' or when the 'differential pulses are active' and with a certain polarity. Using a digital logic approach, while still using sector 0 in the example, results in the expressions (3.16)-(3.19), or the diagram in Fig. 3-13. Note that the signal 'S<sub>POS</sub>' represents the polarity of V<sub>Δ</sub>, and is used to ensure opposing winding voltage polarity in the active phases, e.g. phases B and C for sector 0.



Fig. 3-13. Post modulation digital logic manipulation of the gating pulses to produce the actual gating pulses for the six-switch coupled inductor converter

$$\overline{\mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{B},1}} = \overline{\left(\mathbf{S}_{\Delta} + \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{\Delta}\right)} \cdot \mathbf{S}_{\sigma} + \left(\mathbf{S}_{\Delta} + \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{\Delta}\right) \cdot \mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{POS}}$$
(3.16)

$$\mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{B},2} = \overline{\left(\mathbf{S}_{\Delta} + \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{\Delta}\right)} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{\sigma} + \left(\mathbf{S}_{\Delta} + \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{\Delta}\right) \cdot \mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{POS}}$$
(3.17)

$$\overline{\mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{C},1}} = \overline{\left(\mathbf{S}_{\Delta} + \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{\Delta}\right)} \cdot \mathbf{S}_{\sigma} + \left(\mathbf{S}_{\Delta} + \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{\Delta}\right) \cdot \overline{\mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{POS}}}$$
(3.18)

$$\mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{C},2} = \overline{\left(\mathbf{S}_{\Delta} + \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{\Delta}\right)} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{\sigma} + \left(\mathbf{S}_{\Delta} + \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{\Delta}\right) \cdot \overline{\mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{POS}}}$$
(3.19)

The result of the differential/average approach, herein referred to as 'modified' DPWM1, is that in Fig. 3-14: illustrating the same carrier cycle and reference point '\*' as in Fig. 3-11, but for the modified DPWM1 approach. As can be seen in Fig. 3-14, the common mode winding voltage is held at zero over the carrier cycle  $T_s$ , while the output voltages maintains three-level operation.



Fig. 3-14. At the reference point '\*' of Fig. 3-10: gating signals produced by the average and differential reference signals, winding and corresponding common mode voltages, and output voltages (relative to N) for phases B and C.  $f_C = 2 \text{ kHz}$ .

# **3.3.3** Consequences of Modifying DPWM1 for Common Mode Winding Voltage Elimination

The modification to interleaved DPWM1 eliminates the common mode winding voltages at every switching instant over a carrier cycle. However, as some differential pulses are eliminated in this process, the duration of the three-level voltage states is reduced, lowering the conversion quality. Furthermore, in order to keep the net average of the output the same over a switching cycle, the device switching frequency increases. This section discusses the consequences of the modified DPWM1 approach, but also demonstrates the significant benefit in terms of current stress reduction inherent to common mode winding voltage elimination (compensating the increase in device switching frequency).

In terms of the output voltage, Fig. 3-15 compares the modified DPWM1 approach to DPWM1, over sector 0, of Fig. 3-10. It is clear from Fig. 3-15 that the phase output voltage is three-level (i.e. E, 0, and -E) for each modulation approach. However, in this region, for the modified DPWM1, one of the line voltages (in this case,  $V_{BC}$ ) is three-level (i.e. 2E, 0, -2E), as shown in Fig. 3-15 b), while the interleaved DPWM1 approach is five-level (i.e. 2E, E, 0, -E, -2E), as shown in Fig. 3-15 a). Although at this point in the modulation cycle, the remaining line voltage has full five-level operation, Fig. 3-15 b) highlights an important point: for common mode winding voltage elimination, the conversion quality can be impacted.



Fig. 3-15. Sector '0' phase references (Fig. 3-10), output voltages and line voltage  $V_{BC}$  for: a) DPWM1 with interleaved carriers and b) modified DPWM1 with interleaved carriers.  $f_0 = 60$  Hz,  $f_C = 2$  kHz.

In the modified DPWM1 approach, the average switching frequency of each active device must increase to maintain the same average output voltage as in DPWM1. As seen in Fig. 3-16, the switching signals for the active devices is shown during a switching period in sector 0 (in Fig. 3-10, where the phase A winding voltage is held inactive) and illustrates two 'high-low' transitions (this would be equivalent to turning on and of the device twice each carrier cycle). If one compares this to Fig. 3-11 a), the active device switching frequency doubles, and the switching losses could increase. Thus, there are two main challenges when eliminating the common mode winding voltages: increased device switching frequency, and decreased conversion quality.



Fig. 3-16. Sector '0' (see Fig. 3-10) of the modified DPWM1 over a carrier cycle,  $T_s = 500 \ \mu s$ , illustrating the gate (or switching) signals

The main motivation to the modification of DPWM1 is to allow for three-limb coupled inductor operation - potentially allowing for a significant increase in compactness and converter weight. By eliminating the common mode winding currents, the device stresses should significantly decrease. Fig. 3-17 illustrates the differential current in phases B and C, for sector 0 in Fig. 3-10, using: DPWM1 and separately wound coupled inductors, shown in Fig. 3-17 a); modified DPWM1 with a three-limb three-phase coupled inductor, shown in Fig. 3-17 b); and DPWM1 with a three-limb three-phase coupled inductor, as shown in Fig. 3-17 c). Note that for each waveform in Fig. 3-17, the simulated magnetizing inductance is identical ( $L_W = 4$  mH).

In the modified DPWM1 approach (using a three-limb core), the peak differential current is approximately half of that produced by DPWM1 using separately wound coupled inductors (3.5A versus 1.4A), as seen in Fig. 3-17 a) compared to Fig. 3-17 b). The frequency of the winding voltages in either of the two schemes is identical; however,



Fig. 3-17. Phase B and C winding voltages and differential currents for a) DPWM1 with interleaved carriers and three single-phase coupled inductors, b) modified DPWM1 and a single three-limb coupled inductor and c) DPWM1 with interleaved carriers and a single three-limb coupled inductor (note:  $L_W = 4$  mH for all inductors)

due to the differential pulse reduction, the winding volt-seconds is reduced for the modified DPWM1 approach - resulting in lower peak differential currents. Illustrating the motivation for the proposed approach, in comparing Fig. 3-17 b) and Fig. 3-17 c), the differential current ripple has a peak magnitude of 19A under the standard DPWM1 scheme with a three-limb core, compared to that of 1.4A produced by the modified DPWM1 with the same core. It can also be observed from Fig. 3-17 c), that  $i_{B,DF}$  and  $i_{C,DF}$  are in phase with each other, and nearly identical - indicating a large common mode circulating current component,  $i_{CM}$ .

# 3.4 Experimental Setup

To confirm the conclusions made from simulation, two three-phase inverter testbeds were constructed to obtain the experimental results, as seen in Fig. 3-18. Dual six-switch parallel inverter modules, as seen in Fig. 3-18 a), and a SS-CIC, as seen in Fig. 3-18 b) are used to compare the two converter topologies, and present a more optimally designed SS-CIC respectively.



Fig. 3-18. Experimental prototypes: a) parallel-based CIC with three single phase coupled inductors (60 kW six-switch modules) and b) SS-CIC prototype using commercial asymmetric half-bridge modules (20 kW)

The dual six-switch converter pictured in Fig. 3-18 a) uses SkiM306GD12E4 modules (300A, 1.2kV six-pack IGBT modules), driven by isolated gate drivers, also from SEMIKRON. A three-phase 5mH reactor and a three-phase delta connected resistive load are used with this converter configuration, giving a base power of 2.78kW, with  $V_{DC}$  = 300V at m<sub>A</sub> = 1.15. A WT1030 power analyzer, from Yokogawa, is used for efficiency results on both modulation and core arrangements.

As the conversion efficiency of either modulation scheme is influenced by the switching behavior of the larger three-phase converter, a smaller 10 kW prototype, Fig. 3-18 b) is constructed to allow the experimental tests to be run closer to the rating of the equipment. This experimental prototype uses 600V, 50A IGBT modules (SK75GARL065W) from SEMIKRON, driven by a custom designed isolated gate driver system.

A LabView FPGA system, as shown in Fig. 3-19, generated the pulse-width modulation for either converter configuration. While the detail of the development of each LabView program exceeds the detail necessary for this chapter, the graphic nature of this program allows for easy reconstruction from discussion in this thesis. However, it is important to note that the 7851R FPGA provided the gating signals and the pulse-width modulation on a 40MHz clock (i.e. the PWM clock was 40 MHz) resolution.

In regards to the coupled inductors, 'Thomas and Skinner' 7/8 three-phase, 6-mil iron laminations are used to construct the three-limb core and wound to achieve a self-inductance of 12 mH (total dimensions: width 12cm, height: 11cm, depth: 3cm, weight: 3.5kg) [99]. The separate inductors are constructed by using a single winding on the center limb of the three-phase core. In either core configuration, the two windings are

split-wound in separate layers to reduce voltage stress on the insulation. Each coil has 36 effective series connected turns, wound in hand with two 15AWG wires.



Fig. 3-19. Experimental LabView development system: pictured with oscilloscope, current probes, and 3 kW dc power supply

# 3.5 Experimental Results and Discussion

The experimental results are used to clarify the challenges that exist in three-limb operation for converters that use three-phase split-wound coupled inductors. It has been demonstrated that using the modified DPWM1 approach to eliminate the common mode winding voltages results in an increased device switching frequency and a decreased conversion quality. This section experimentally examines the benefits of the modified DPWM1 approach, and highlights the challenges that exist for an improved modulation scheme.

Using standard interleaved DPWM1 and a three-limb coupled inductor, Fig.3-20 highlights the impact of the common mode winding voltages on the high-frequency circulating currents in the CIC. In Fig. 3-20 b), it is clear that the differential current ripple across the three-phases is identical to one another, indicative of the presence of common mode current, as confirmed in Fig. 3-20 a). Since this common mode current ripple is only limited by the leakage reactance of the three-limb coupled inductor, the magnitude is large (10A peak), and comparable to the peak of the ac load current. Note that the 'jumps' present in the common mode current in Fig. 3-20 a), are a consequence of the symmetrical current paths present in the parallel-based CIC topology.

Furthermore, the impact of the common mode winding voltages is further examined by the experimental power conversion efficiency of the parallel-based converter under: interleaved DPWM1 with a three-limb core; interleaved DPWM1 with separate cores; and modified DPWM1 with a three-limb core, as shown in Fig. 3-21. It is



Fig. 3-20. Experimental non-zero V<sub>CM</sub>: a) common-mode currents over a fundamental cycle, and b) three-phase differential currents over a 60° period, under DPWM1.  $V_{DC} = 100V$ ,  $m_A = 1.0$ ,  $f_O = 60Hz$ ,  $f_C = 5kHz$ ,  $L_W = 4mH$ ,  $L_{AC} = 5$  mH, and  $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$ 



Fig. 3-21. Experimental three-phase power conversion efficiency  $(P_{OUT}/P_{IN})$  for DPWM1 with interleaved carriers using three single-phase coupled inductors, modified DPWM1 and a three-limb coupled inductor and DPWM1 with interleaved carriers and a three-limb coupled inductor.  $V_{DC} = 300V$ ,  $f_{O} = 60Hz$ ,  $f_{C} = 5kHz$ ,  $L_{W} = 4mH$ ,  $L_{AC} = 5$  mH, and  $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$ 

clear from Fig. 3-21, that for efficient operation with a three-limb core, the common mode winding voltages must be eliminated.

Using the 10 kW SS-CIC prototype, as pictured in Fig. 3-18 b), the module currents produced under the modified DPWM1 scheme and the standard DPWM1 scheme (with flipped carrier excitation to limit the stress on the prototype unit) are shown in Fig. 3-22 a) and b). Comparing Fig 3-22 a) and b), the modified DPWM1 scheme lowers the peak module current from 20A to 13A. As a result, the conversion efficiency of the SS-CIC is improved throughout the modulation range, as confirmed in Fig. 3-23. Note that even with the increased device switching frequency, the lowered current stresses significantly improves the conversion efficiency, as the switching losses are approximately proportional to the device current and switching frequency in an IGBT.



Fig. 3-22. Experimental module currents for the platform in Fig. 3-18 b), the SS-CIC, using a three-limb coupled inductor with a) modified DPWM1 and b) DPWM1 with interleaved carriers (flipped excitation).  $V_{DC} = 300V$ ,  $m_A = 1.0$ ,  $f_O = 60Hz$ ,  $f_C = 5kHz$ ,  $L_W = 4mH$ ,  $L_{AC} = 5$  mH, and  $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$ 



Fig. 3-23. Experimental conversion efficiency of the platform in Fig. 3-18 b), the SS-CIC, using a three-limb coupled inductor with a) modified DPWM1 and b) DPWM1 with interleaved carriers (flipped excitation). $V_{DC} = 300V$ ,  $f_O = 60Hz$ ,  $f_C = 5kHz$ ,  $L_W = 4mH$ ,  $L_{AC} = 5$  mH, and  $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$ 

As previously mentioned, the consequence of the differential pulse modification is the reduction of mid-level voltage states in the CIC. Fig. 3-24 a) illustrates the twolevel, SVPWM baseline harmonic volt-seconds, with modified and standard DPWM1 shown for comparison. While below the modulation depths of 0.8, the two three-level DPWM1 schemes are close to one another, it is clear that beyond this point, the modified DPWM1 approach becomes more two-level. Note that the use of harmonic volt-seconds is an approximate measure of the size of the ac load filter required for each modulation scheme and topology. Ergo, from the results of Fig. 3-24 a), to obtain the same conversion quality at the output of an ac filter, a converter using the modified DPWM1 would have to be larger. However, it is important to note that the use of a three-limb


Fig. 3-24. Experimental volt-seconds (in per-unit) versus modulation depth for: a) output line voltage harmonics: modified DPWM1, two-level SVPWM, and DPWM1 with interleaved switching; b) winding voltages for modified DPWM1 and DPWM1 with interleaved switching.  $V_{DC} = 300V$ ,  $f_O = 60Hz$ ,  $f_C = 5kHz$ ,  $L_W = 4mH$ ,  $L_{AC} = 5 mH$ , and  $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$ 



Fig. 3-25. SS-CIC operation with a) Experimental line voltage,  $V_{AB}$ , and b) experimental phase currents with interleaved DPWM1 and modified DPWM1.  $V_{DC} = 300V$ ,  $m_A = 0.9$ ,  $f_O = 60Hz$ ,  $f_C = 5kHz$ ,  $L_W = 4mH$ ,  $L_{AC} = 5 mH$ , and  $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$ 

coupled inductor would not be feasible without eliminating the common mode winding voltages, and therefore, it is not entirely fair to suggest that ac filter should be larger.

The reduction of the differential pulses reduces the winding volt-seconds, as confirmed by Fig. 3-24 b). This result implies that despite the increase in device switching frequency with the modified DPWM1, the standard DPWM1 approach would also have to increase its switching frequency to match peak flux densities produced within a coupled inductor of similar design.

To validate converter operation, the line voltages, as shown in Fig. 3-25 a) and phase currents, as shown in Fig. 3-25 b), of the SS-CIC are illustrated under interleaved DPWM1 and modified DPWM1. As discussed in section 3.3, the line voltages under the modified DPWM1 approach has regions of 'three-level' characteristics, unlike the standard interleaved DPWM1 approach. However, due to the high per-unit ac load

inductance (12%,  $V_{BASE} = 208V$ ,  $P_{BASE} = 2.78$  kW), the differences in phase current ripple in Fig. 3-25 b) is relatively small. Finally, to verify performance as an electric drive system, the SS-CIC with a three-limb coupled inductor and modified DPWM1 is illustrated in Fig. 2-26, driving a 2HP, 1800 rpm induction machine.



Fig. 3-26. Experimental three-phase motor currents for the SS-CIC under the modified DPWM1 scheme and a three-limb coupled inductor.  $V_{DC} = 300V$ ,  $m_A = 1.0$ ,  $f_O = 60Hz$ ,  $f_C = 5kHz$ ,  $L_W = 4$  mH,  $P_{OUT} = 2HP$ , and  $n_S = 1800$  rpm.

# 3.5 Chapter Summary

This chapter presented the ACIB as a three-phase, three-level converter system, termed the six-switch coupled inductor converter. The operation of the SS-CIC is explained and highlighted against the parallel-based CIC, and is found to achieve the same output performance with half the number of active devices. Furthermore, due to the module currents always being positive, an inherent negative dc winding voltage exists to keep the circulating currents stable in the SS-CIC. Due to these points, the ACIB when used as a three-phase dc/ac converter has advantages over the parallel-based converter in terms of cost and operational complexity.

To increase the power density, three limb coupled inductor operation for coupled inductor converters is proposed. However, the common mode winding voltages that exist in traditional interleaved modulation schemes limit the conversion efficiency of the coupled inductor converters when a three-limb coupled inductor is used. A simple modification to DPWM1 is examined with the goal of highlighting the challenges in eliminating the common mode winding voltages. It is found that simple alignment of the coupled inductor winding voltage states can increase the device switching frequency, and impact the conversion quality. Therefore, when considering a modulation approach to eliminating these common mode winding voltage states, a new form of converter analysis is required, i.e. space vector modeling of the converter.

# Chapter 4 - Asymmetric Coupled Inductor Bridge as a Five-level Three-phase Converter

In this chapter, a neutral point clamped (NPC) configuration of the ACIB is presented as a five-level dc/ac converter, as seen in Fig. 4-1. A space vector approach is used to analyse the operation of the converter to select switching states that minimize the device switching frequency and the impact on conversion quality, when operated with a three-limb coupled inductor. The space vector approach is justified due to the complexity of the five-level dc/ac converter over the SS-CIC, and from the limitations identified for the DPWM1 modified approach for three-limb coupled inductor operation.

The ACIB-based NPC topology has the same number of output voltage levels as a standard 24-switch NPC converter, with the same number of devices as the three-level NPC converter. Therefore, due to the five-level output, the neutral point clamped coupled inductor converter (NPC-CIC) can potentially eliminate the filter used in certain applications, such as high-speed electric machines, with a cost effective device count. Thus, the main contributions of this chapter are as follows:

- The operation of the five-level NPC-CIC is described.
- A space vector approach to common mode winding voltage elimination is presented for the NPC-CIC to enable three-limb coupled inductor operation.



Fig. 4-1 - ACIB configuration: a three-phase neutral point clamped coupled inductor converter

Specifically, a basic description of the operation of the NPC-CIC, as shown in Fig. 4-2, and its switching states are given. A brief discussion on the weight reduction of the three-limb coupled inductor mass for the NPC-CIC is given, along with the simulation model used for the NPC-CIC. The modulation of the NPC-CIC is discussed and the impact of the common mode winding voltage is examined specifically for this converter. A space vector based approach is then presented to minimize the impact on device switching frequency and conversion quality when eliminating the common mode

winding voltages. An experimental prototype validates the modulation approach and confirms high conversion efficiency while using a three-limb coupled inductor.



Fig. 4-2. The three-phase neutral point clamped coupled inductor converter (NPC-CIC)



Fig. 4-3. Phase A of the NPC-CIC with the switches  $(S_N)$ , upper and lower winding currents  $(i_{U,A} \text{ and } i_{L,A})$ , output voltage  $(V_{A,N})$  and winding voltage  $(V_{W,A})$  defined

#### 4.1 The Five-Level Neutral Point Clamped Coupled Inductor Converter

By embedding the ACIB within the neutral point clamped converter structure, as seen in Fig. 4-2, the NPC-CIC is created. Note that the phase output voltage, for a single input dc voltage of  $V_{DC}$  has five-levels ('4E') as compared with the three-levels of the standard NPC converter ('2E'). This section details the switching states of the NPC-CIC, the coupled inductor mass reduction compared to the SS-CIC, and the simulation model used for an arbitrary modulator.

#### 4.1.1 Switching States of the NPC-CIC

Fig. 4-3 identifies the switch, current and voltage notation for the NPC-CIC, with phase A used as an example. The four-switch phase leg of the NPC-CIC produces sixteen switching states, as seen in Fig. 4-4. Within the sixteen switch state combinations, eleven result in either positive or negative excitation of the coupled inductor. Furthermore, due to the split-capacitor configuration, switching states exist that excite the coupled inductor with either '2E' or '4E' (alternatively, half input dc voltage or the full dc voltage across the



Fig. 4-4. The sixteen switching states of phase A in the NPC-CIC, with each switching state defined using the switching logic to control the on and off states as per  $\{S_1S_2S_3S_4\}$ , of Fig 4-3. Non-useful switching states are noted in italics.

coupled inductor of each phase). Considering these switching states, Fig. 4-4 illustrates all sixteen switching states with their respective output and winding voltages.

Upon examination of Fig. 4-4, a general expression for the output voltage and the winding voltage is expressed in (4.1) and (4.2) respectively. Note that ' $S_N$ ' refers to the switch number, as defined in Fig. 4-3, and the 'over-bar' refers to the negated logic state of that switch. Switch 'on' is defined as 'H' or '1', and switch off is defined as 'L' or '0'.

$$V_{A,N} = E \cdot (S_2 \cdot (1+S_1) - S_3(1+S_4)) \quad \{0,1\} \in S_N$$
(4.1)

$$V_{W,A} = E \cdot (S_4 + S_3 - S_2 - S_1 - S_2 S_1 - S_3 S_4) \quad \{0,1\} \in S_N$$
(4.2)

While sixteen total switching states exist within the NPC-CIC phase leg, not every state is practical to include within a modulation scheme. Consider the output voltage,  $V_{A,N}$ , as defined in (4.1), in regards to the individual switching states. If the switches  $S_2$  and  $S_3$  are in a logic '0' state, then switches  $S_1$  and  $S_4$  have no influence on the

output voltage; therefore, the switching combinations  $\{S_1S_2S_3S_4\} = \{1101\}, \{1011\}, \{0101\}$  or  $\{1010\}$  are redundant as they increase the number of devices that are active, without altering the output voltage of the converter. Furthermore, as one of the motivations for considering the NPC configuration is the reduction of dc voltage across the coupled inductors (thereby decreasing the size of the inductors), the switching states:  $\{S_1S_2S_3S_4\} = \{1111\}, \{0001\}, \{1001\}, \{1000\}$  and  $\{0000\}$  can also be eliminated - reducing the number of useful switching states to seven.

As in Chapter 3 for the SS-CIC, the circulating winding current (common to each winding),  $i_{CW,A}$ , is defined in (4.3), according to the positive current direction of the module currents,  $i_{U,A}$  and  $i_{L,A}$ , depicted in Fig. 4-3. Similarly, (4.4) defines the ac output current, relative to the positive module current definitions, as per Fig. 4-3.

$$i_{CW,A} = \frac{i_{U,A} + i_{L,A}}{2}$$
 (4.3)

$$\dot{\mathbf{i}}_{\mathrm{A}} = \dot{\mathbf{i}}_{\mathrm{U,A}} - \dot{\bar{\mathbf{i}}}_{\mathrm{L,A}} \tag{4.4}$$

## 4.1.2 Weight Reduction of the Coupled Inductor with the NPC Topology

In addition to the increased number of voltage levels over the SS-CIC, the NPC configuration can potentially reduce the weight and losses of the three-limb coupled inductor. Note that for this claim to hold true, the switching states used within the NPC-CIC must not include those with '4E' or '-4E' magnetization, as discussed in Section 4.1.1. By eliminating these states, the three-phase coupled inductors are exposed to half the voltage stress when compared to the SS-CIC (or the parallel-based converter).

To provide some context into the size reduction when using a three-limb coupled inductor for the NPC-CIC versus the SS-CIC, spreadsheet designs were created in Table 4-1 a) and b), to compare the approximate losses and weight for 460V ( $650V_{DC}$ ) and  $208V (280V_{DC})$  designs. These spreadsheets assume square wave switching (i.e. the worst case winding voltage scenario), with fixed copper and iron fill factors between the designs. To simplify the design process, two three-limb core configurations (E-E and E-I) were selected, and the iron loss density is approximated (at 400 Hz) by using (4.5) - obtained from the lamination manufacturer's datasheet (for 6-mil laminations) [98]. In brief, for a fixed three-limb core lamination thickness, but with a range of geometric sizes (height and width), each power rating, in Table 4-1, was iteratively matched to a cross-sectional area, and kept below an 80°C temperature rise (in the iron).

$$P_{\text{loss}} = k_1 f_c B_{\text{ac}}^b + k_2 (f_c B_{\text{ac}})^{1.5} + k_3 (f_c B_{\text{ac}})^2 \quad W/\text{lb}$$
(4.5)

 $b_1k_1k_2k_3$  are constants derived from core loss characteristics,  $f_C =$  switching frequency (15 kHz).  $B_{ac} =$  high frequency peak ac flux density and b = 2.7628,  $k_1 = 5.6972$ ,  $k_2 = 9.9054$ ,  $k_3 = 0.5298$ , factors from [98]

Core Geo.	E-I				E-E								
kVA	10	20	40	60	10	20	40	60					
SS-CIC													
Fe Wt.	7.2	20.8	46.4	95.1	5.7	12.2	23.7	41.0					
Cu Wt.	5.8	9.6	18.7	27.0	4.7	9.1	17.8	27.5					
Tot. Wt.	13.1	30.5	65.4	122	10.4	21.3	41.7	68.5					
Fe Loss	64.6	92.4	114.1	101.0	94.9	125.0	164.0	125.0					
Cu Loss	45.8	76.0	147.6	300.1	37.0	71.4	140.2	305.1					
Tot Loss	110.0	168.3	261.6	400.7	131.9	196.8	304.2	430.6					
NPC-CIC													
Fe Wt.	4.1	7.4	20.8	38.1	2.5	5.7	9.3	23.7					
Cu Wt.	2.7	5.7	9.6	17.2	2.5	4.6	10.1	9.8					
Tot. Wt.	6.9	13.2	30.5	55.4	5.0	10.3	19.4	33.6					
Fe Loss	52.8	64.5	92.4	55.7	73.2	97.7	120.5	164.0					
Cu Loss	21.1	45.2	76.0	191.0	20.0	36.3	79.7	109.3					
Tot Loss	74.0	109.7	168.3	246.8	93.2	134.0	200.2	273.3					
a)													

Core Geo.	E-I				E-E							
kVA	10	15	20	25	10	15	20	25				
SS-CIC												
Fe Wt.	6.8	17.1	19.2	28.7	5.7	9.1	9.1	12.1				
Cu Wt.	5.4	6.2	9.3	9.8	3.9	5.8	9.1	12.2				
Tot. Wt.	12.3	23.2	28.4	38.2	9.7	14.7	18.0	24.1				
Fe Loss	55.8	92.5	74.5	99.9	93.7	130.7	104.5	84.9				
Cu Loss	52.1	53.7	90.9	103.6	37.9	49.5	88.9	129.6				
Tot Loss	108.0	146.2	165.4	203.5	131.6	180.3	193.3	214.6				
NPC-CIC												
Fe Wt.	4.1	7.2	9.4	16.6	2.9	6.3	5.9	6.4				
Cu Wt.	2.3	3.5	4.8	4.6	1.4	2.7	3.9	5.1				
Tot. Wt.	6.5	10.6	14.0	21.1	4.3	8.9	9.7	11.4				
Fe Loss	49.6	65.0	58.0	86.5	33.0	98.4	90.7	83.6				
Cu Loss	22.4	29.7	46.6	48.8	53.2	23.5	38.3	54.5				
Tot Loss	72.0	94.8	104.6	135.3	86.2	122.0	129.0	138.1				

Table 4-1. Three-limb coupled inductor losses (in W) and weight (in lbs) for the six-switch CIC and the NPC-CIC for a) 208V designs and b) 480V designs



Fig. 4-5. Two simulator modes used for realization of the modulation schemes developed. A switch between the behavioral model and the actual device model used to reduce simulation time in the development procedure.

The approximate designs from Table 4-1 show that the weight of the three-limb coupled inductor, at the same power level, in the NPC-CIC is approximately half of that required in the SS-CIC. Therefore, while having the same number of active devices as the standard three-level NPC converter, the NPC-CIC requires a smaller three-limb coupled inductor as compared to the SS-CIC, with the same number of voltage levels as a 24-switch NPC converter. Thus, this converter is ideal for filter-less operation of certain applications, such as the flywheel battery system described in chapter 1.

#### 4.1.3 Simulation Model for the NPC-CIC

A MATLAB-based simulation was used to verify the modulation schemes in this chapter. This section details the model of the NPC-CIC used outside the modulator.

Two simulation models, at a fixed switching frequency,  $f_c$ , producing twelve gating signals are employed with an arbitrary modulator: a behavioral model based on (4.1) and (4.2), and the actual device model, as shown in Fig. 4-5. The motivation behind the behavioral model is to reduce simulation time for modulation development. However, to verify stable operation (due to the presence of the split capacitors), and analyze the reduction in circulating winding current ripple, the active device model is also used.

Fig. 4-6 illustrates the twelve-switch device model, which employs ideal switching devices to shorten the compilation time. Fig. 4-7 a) and b) illustrate the three-phase, three-limb coupled inductor model as a six winding coupled inductor, with the mutual coupling co-efficient matrix (scaled by  $L_W$ ) defined in Fig. 4-7 c). Within this mutual coupling co-efficient matrix, the two inter-limb windings, i.e. winding 1 and 2 from Fig. 4-7 b), have near ideal coupling, while the limb-to-limb (i.e. winding 1 to 3) coupling has a co-efficient of 0.425 (ideal is 0.5). The limb-to-limb mutual coupling of 0.425 is justified based on experimental measurements of the three-limb coupled inductor. Note that for this simulation model, a discrete solver is used with a variable time step (maximum time step is limited to 1e-6).



Fig. 4-6. The MATLAB/SIMULINK twelve-switch NPC-CIC device model (three-limb coupled inductor shown in Fig. 4-7).



Fig. 4-7. The three-limb, three-phase coupled inductor model used in the device simulation mode with a) six-winding coupled inductor, b) electrical equivalent model and c) mutual coupling co-efficient (M<sub>XY</sub>) of winding X to winding Y matrix with winding inductance L<sub>W</sub>.

# 4.2 Interleaved Pulse-Width Modulation of the NPC-CIC

While Chapter 2 introduced several carrier-based multi-level modulation schemes, this section addresses the basic adaptation of three-level interleaved modulation for five-level, NPC-CIC operation. In addition, an interleaved DPWM1 scheme for the NPC-CIC is introduced, which reduces (but does not eliminate) the common mode winding voltages for high-switching frequency operation. The goal of this section is to



Fig. 4-8. Sinusoidal PWM, with interleaved switching based on three-level PD modulation, for the NPC-CIC with switching states and output phase voltage, V<sub>A,N</sub>, shown.

discuss interleaved pulse-width modulation for the NPC-CIC to appreciate the space vector-based approach to common mode winding voltage elimination.

Two additional carriers are introduced to the three-level PD modulation approach, at an interleaved angle of  $180^{\circ}$ , to produce four carriers: two carriers in the upper band, and two carriers in the lower band, as shown in Fig. 4-8. Note here that switches S<sub>1</sub> and S<sub>3</sub> form an interleaved pair, while the switches S<sub>2</sub> and S<sub>4</sub> form another interleaving pair. Fig. 4-8 illustrates five output voltage levels as produced from a sinusoidal reference and a low switching to fundamental frequency ratio. However, like the three-level coupled inductor converter, for three-limb operation, co-ordination between the three phases is necessary to enable efficient operation.

# 4.2.1 'Flipped Carrier' DPWM with Interleaving Carriers

Consider the DPWM1 pattern, with interleaving carriers in Fig. 4-9, and recall that the winding voltage, as per (4.2), can produce the same output voltage state, as per (4.1), regardless of the excitation. A simple modification to DPWM1 is to 'flip' or invert the switch logic for one phase, reversing the winding excitation voltage for that same phase. Consequently, a flux return path is created in the three-limb core, reducing the common mode winding voltages, as described in [99]. Since the output voltages are unaffected, the conversion quality also remains unaffected at all modulation depths. Note this modulation approach is also described in Chapter 3 for the three-level coupled inductor converters.

By employing a discontinuous modulation approach, only two phases are active for a given 60° segment (or sector, as per Fig. 4-9) - leading to the three-phase coupled inductor being energized by only two-phases at any given instant. By inverting the



Fig. 4-9. DPWM1 with interleaved carriers over a fundamental cycle, with the 'invert carrier logic' sectors defined.

switching logic for a given phase, the net result is demonstrated in Fig. 4-10, where the winding voltages produced by the 'flipped carrier' DPWM1 approach is examined over a carrier cycle, where  $T_S = 333 \ \mu$ s. In Fig. 4-10, the inverted winding voltage for one phase causes the common mode winding voltage to sum to zero at some instances - i.e.  $V_{W,A} + V_{W,B} + V_{W,C} = 0$ . However, the highlighted grey sections of Fig. 4-10 illustrate the non-zero common mode winding voltage, which drives high-frequency flux outside the three-limb core. Over the carrier cycle depicted in Fig. 4-10, Fig. 4-11 identifies the corresponding high frequency flux paths within the three-limb coupled inductor.

Specifically, to emphasize how the common mode winding voltage states influence the converter efficiency for the NPC-CIC (as opposed to the SS-CIC addressed in Chapter 3), consider Fig. 4-11. The high-frequency flux paths in the three-limb core are highlighted in this figure, and for winding voltage combinations '1)' and '5)', the flux produced by the winding voltages across coils 'B' and 'C' is driven through the iron core, linking the two phases. However, for the switching states '2)' and '4)', only phase B is active, resulting in the flux produced by coil 'B' to be driven outside the core - and therefore returning through the 'leakage' paths shown in Fig. 4-11. At low switching frequencies, e.g. 3 kHz, (which might be required at higher power levels) the amount of circulating current ripple caused from this modulation approach, would cause excessive heating in the semiconductors and potentially the windings themselves.

Compared to the SS-CIC, the NPC-CIC has more switching states that produce no excitation of the coupled inductor, as seen in Fig. 4-4. Therefore, the duration of the non-zero common mode winding voltage states is generally smaller, as shown in Fig. 4-10. However, as the percent duration, relative to the switching period, is fixed and the circulating current ripple produced by the non-zero states is only limited by the leakage



Fig. 4-10. 'Flipped carrier' DPWM1 in sector 0 of Fig. 4-9, with the winding voltages of each phase illustrated (with  $V_{W,A} = 0$ ) where phase C has inverted switch logic, resulting in the winding voltage  $V_{W,C}$ .  $f_C = 3$  kHz.



Fig. 4-11. Three-limb, three-phase coupled inductor excitation states for the NPC-CIC produced over the switching cycle highlighted in Fig. 4-10.

reactance of the coupled inductor, a relatively high switching frequency is required for efficient operation. Therefore, for a relatively low output power and high switching frequency, the 'flipped carrier' DPWM1 approach can employ a three-phase, three-limb coupled inductor with relatively high conversion efficiencies, as shown in [99].

To enable efficient conversion at a greater range of power levels (and therefore operation without a lower bound on the switching frequency) a scheme must therefore



Fig. 4-12. Two-dimensional voltage output states produced by the NPC-CIC inverter considering all possible switching states.

eliminate the common mode winding voltages completely, as done in Chapter 3 for the three-level coupled inductor converters.

# 4.3 Elimination of the Common-mode Winding Voltages in the NPC-CIC

This section details the development of the space vector based approach to common mode winding voltage elimination. The common mode voltage states are described using space vector based analysis, and a modulation approach is detailed using well-known rules for minimizing the switching frequency and output voltage distortion. The development of this modulation approach is detailed using a MATLAB simulation and the limitations of this approach are identified.

While the number of output voltage states for the NPC-CIC increased by two over the SS-CIC, the number of possible switch combinations increases exponentially with the NPC topology. As an example, with four switches per-phase leg in the NPC-CIC, and with all possible switch combinations used, the three-phase converter has 4096 combinations, compared to 64 in the SS-CIC. Furthermore, using (4.2), each switching state can map into the complex output voltage,  $V_{OUT}$ , as per (4.6).

$$V_{OUT} = V_{A,N} + V_{B,N} \cdot e^{-j\frac{2\pi}{3}} + V_{C,N} \cdot e^{-j\frac{4\pi}{3}}$$
(4.6)

Considering (4.6), the NPC-CIC produces 61 unique voltage output states, compared to 18 generated by the SS-CIC, resulting in the two-dimensional space vector map in Fig. 4-12. As there are only 61 unique output vectors from 4096 switching combinations, there are a significant number of 'redundant' voltage output vectors, and these can be obtained by multiple switching states. Therefore, with the



Fig. 4-13. Reduced space vector map after the application of the constraint in (4.7), on the output voltage states of the NPC-CIC



Fig. 4-14. The effect of redundant output voltage states from the constraint in (4.7), on the triangle highlighted in Fig. 4-12

consequences of the modified DPWM1 approach in mind, and the number of redundant vectors available, a space vector based approach can be used to optimize the modulation of the NPC-CIC.

The first step in the space vector approach is to eliminate each vector combination where the sum of the winding voltages, as per (4.7), is not zero. In other words, for each output vector state, the winding voltage can be determined via (4.2), and that switching combination/output vector state is eliminated if it does not satisfy (4.7). With the remaining vectors, and using (4.6), the two-dimensional output states create the space vector map of Fig. 4-13, in the same manner as Fig. 4-12.

$$V_{W,CM} = V_{W,A} + V_{W,B} + V_{W,C} = 0$$
(4.7)

The net result of the constraint of (4.7) has two consequences:

- The number of redundant output voltage states is reduced
- Certain triangles are no longer bounded by any output vectors

Specifically, to appreciate the consequence of (4.7), Fig. 4-14 illustrates the reduction of the redundant output voltage states with the bounding triangle highlighted in Fig. 4-12. One can see that only the voltage vectors:  $\{2,1,-1\}$ ,  $\{1,0,-1\}$  and  $\{1,-1,-2\}$  can

possibly satisfy (4.7), and therefore are the only bounding vectors remaining in that triangle. In each case, the bounding vectors of the triangle include **only** those vectors in which the common mode winding voltages sum to zero. Thus, the number of high-frequency flux paths in the three-limb coupled inductor is reduced to one, with each limb having opposing excitation to keep the flux within the iron core.

While the elimination of certain redundant output voltage states will have a net consequence on the average device switching frequency (but not necessarily double, as per the modified DPWM1 approach), the output vectors that have been eliminated, i.e. those vectors in Fig. 4-13, have a consequence on the modulation for the NPC-CIC. In this space vector based approach, the triangles that are bounded by eliminated vectors must use 'three-level' vectors, as shown in Fig. 4-13. As an example, for the triangle bounded by  $\{2,2,-2\}$ ,  $\{1,1,-2\}$  and  $\{2,1,-2\}$  (as shown in Fig. 4-12), the vector state  $\{2,1,-2\}$  does not satisfy (4.7), and therefore is eliminated, as per Fig. 4-13. When the reference voltage is located in this triangle, the vectors used for switching must then be  $\{2,2,-2\}$ ,  $\{2,2,0\}$  and  $\{2,0,-2\}$ , i.e. the typical three-level bounding triangle. This results in the phase voltage having a mixed 3/5-level characteristic at modulation depths beyond 0.75.

# **4.3.1** A Complete Picture of the Space Vector Approach to Common mode Winding Voltage Elimination in the NPC-CIC

One of the conditions for space vector modulation is that the modulator must synthesize the reference voltage based on the 'nearest three' vectors, i.e. the bounding triangles on the space vector map. Let the triangles of Fig. 4-13 that have a side length of 'E' be termed the 'five-level' triangles, and the triangles that have a side length of '2E' be termed the 'three-level' triangles. With traditional 'center-aligned' space vector modulation approach [79], a synthesized output voltage,  $V_{OUT}$ , in Fig. 4-13 would switch from {1,0,-1} to {1,-1,-2} to {2,1,-2} to {1,0-1}, with the reversed sequence in the next half carrier cycle,  $T_8/2$ . The latter vectors would be identical to the space vector switching pattern of 'V<sub>0</sub>-V<sub>1</sub>-V<sub>2</sub>-V<sub>3</sub>-V<sub>2</sub>-V<sub>1</sub>-V<sub>0</sub>' as described in [79], but with {1,0,-1} being both V<sub>0</sub> and V<sub>3</sub> – the zero state vectors.

However, since there are two possible winding configurations for each output state (which involve coupled inductor excitation), there must also be co-ordination amongst the winding voltages within the inverter. Recall that the average voltage across an inductor must be zero over a switching cycle to avoid saturation. Therefore, if the output voltage, for a given point in the switching cycle, is created by a certain winding excitation, the equal and opposite winding excitation must occur in the second half of the



Fig. 4-15. The resultant three-phase winding voltages and output voltages over a carrier cycle,  $T_s = 333 \ \mu s$ , under the 'WCME' space vector approach for the NPC-CIC at the point 'V<sub>OUT</sub>' in Fig. 4-13.

switching cycle. The latter condition must also occur for all three phases over the switching cycle, or the three-limb coupled inductor will saturate, leading to excessive winding current magnitudes.

Fig. 4-15 illustrates a switching sequence satisfying the 'nearest three' vector condition of space vector modulation, while keeping the average winding voltage per switching cycle zero, i.e. (4.7). Note the output states { $V_{A,N}, V_{B,N}, V_{C,N}$ } are included in Fig. 4-15 for clarity on which states are selected. One important note about Fig. 4-15 is that the zero state vectors, i.e.  $V_0$  and  $V_3$ , have no need for an equal and opposite reversal, i.e.  $V_1$  and  $\overline{V_1}$ , since they have equal vector output states (or are redundant combinations of that output state). Therefore,  $V_0$  in both segments of the carrier cycle can have the same winding excitation, as it has the same timing,  $t_0/4$ , as  $V_3$ , which provides the equal and opposite winding excitation necessary. By reducing the number of winding voltage 'flips' the average increase in switching frequency can be reduced. Therefore, only the active vectors, i.e.  $V_1$  and  $V_2$ , need to have inverted winding voltage excitations in the second half of the carrier cycle.

By maintaining the 'nearest three' vector sequence approach, the common mode winding voltages can be eliminated with no impact on conversion quality up to a modulation depth of 0.75. Furthermore, voltage vectors can be selected to minimize the device switching frequency during operation. Both of these points were identified as



Fig. 4-16. MATLAB/SIMULINK representation of the translation of the three-phase references for triangle determination, and then calculation of duty cycles

challenges to three-limb coupled inductor operation in Chapter 3, and hence providing the motivation to use space vector analysis. To distinguish this approach against other modulation schemes mentioned thus far, the 'winding common-mode elimination space vector pulse-width modulation' is denoted 'WCME' SVPWM.

# 4.3.2 Implementation of 'WCME' SVPWM

This section details the selection of the 12 switching signals (or gating signals) from desired output voltage states and develops the 'WCME' space vector approach in a MATLAB/SIMULINK environment. Essentially, the space vector algorithm from [80], along with the selection of vectors, based on the optimized space vector switching presented in [79], is translated to the NPC-CIC inverter using the 'WCME' approach.

In order to implement the 'WCME' SVPWM scheme for the NPC-CIC, two stages must occur:

- The calculation of duty cycles for each triangle in Fig. 4-12, summarized in Fig. 4-16.
- 2. The translation of the triangle co-ordinate vectors to actual switching states in the converter, summarized in Fig. 4-17.

The calculation of the duty cycles uses established algorithms for multi-level space vector modulation, i.e. [80] and the detailed procedure given in Section 2.4. In brief, the three-phase references are translated into a two-dimensional co-ordinate system



Fig. 4-17. MATLAB/SIMULINK representation of the translation of the 'triangle number' and 'vector number' to an index position for the LUT, which stores the 'switching state' for the NPC-CIC

(with axes at  $60^{\circ}$ ) to locate the reference voltage in the appropriate bounding triangle, i.e. (2.7). Then, using (2.10)-(2.13), the duty cycle for each vector is calculated.

After the duty cycles are calculated, the signals  $d_1$ ,  $d_2$ ,  $d_3$  are produced, corresponding to the timing of vectors  $V_1$ ,  $V_2$ , and  $V_3$  (and therefore  $V_0$ ). However, this calculation does not taken into account that that the sequence should follow: i.e.  $V_0$ ,  $V_1$  and so forth. Instead, given that each duty cycle,  $d_N$ , is relative to the half period,  $T_S/2$ , the scaled duty cycles  $d_X$ ,  $d_Y$  and  $d_Z$  are found according to (4.8), (4.9) and (4.10) respectively.

$$\mathbf{d}_{Z} = \mathbf{d}_{3} / 2 \tag{4.8}$$

$$d_{\rm X} = d_1 + d_3 / 2 \tag{4.9}$$

$$d_{\rm Y} = d_2 + d_1 + d_3 / 2 \tag{4.10}$$

With  $d_X$ ,  $d_Y$ , and  $d_Z$  calculated from (4.8) to (4.10), the net result is that the vectors will switch according to the center-aligned space vector pattern, for example, the sequence in Fig. 4.15. Additionally, by giving a numerical association to the vector number, e.g. '1' for 'V<sub>1</sub>', a lookup table index is related to the eight vector states per triangle, as per (4.11).

$$8 \cdot \text{Triangle} + \text{Vector} = \text{Index} \tag{4.11}$$

This index is then used in the look-up table (or LUT, Fig. 4-17) composed of the switching states of the inverter, for each vector within each triangle. Therefore, the carrier essentially times out the duration of each index position, which then correspond to the duration of a certain switching state. Since there are 96 triangles in total (the transition to

'three-level triangles' will be addressed later in this section), and eight vector segments per triangle, there are 768 possible switching states over a fundamental cycle in the NPC-CIC.

The lookup table stores a 12-bit (as there are 12 switches in the NPC-CIC) number for each vector within a certain triangle, as shown in Fig. 4-17. Decomposing this number into single bits (via the appropriate 4-bit mask for each phase), the appropriate duty cycle for each switch of the NPC-CIC is found. The SIMULINK diagram in Fig. 4-17 summarizes the decomposition step of the procedure. The decision to use a lookup table approach was justified due to the ease of implementation on FPGA based control systems, such as the one used in this thesis.

The last part of the implementation is the actual population of the lookup table itself, which stores the total 768 switching states of the NPC-CIC, and satisfies (4.7), with an optimised selection of vector states. Each triangle illustrated on Fig. 4-12 is associated with an appropriate set of vectors, as selected according to the known rules for minimizing switching frequency in multi-level space vector modulation, [79]. Since each switch combination of the NPC-CIC produces a known output and winding voltage, as per (4.1) and (4.2), the appropriate switch combination needs to be selected for each triangle. Fortunately, all 96 triangle (and associated switch combinations) need not be manually selected; only the first 16 triangles of the first sextant are necessary, as each vector can be iteratively selected for the remaining sextants, as described in [72], and according to (4.12). Note in (4.12), ' $\theta$ ' refers to the electrical angle of the reference voltage in the first sextant.

$$V_{C}(\theta + 60^{\circ}) = V_{A}(\theta)$$

$$V_{A}(\theta + 60^{\circ}) = V_{B}(\theta)$$

$$V_{B}(\theta + 60^{\circ}) = V_{C}(\theta)$$
(4.12)

However, one vector state is not available in four of the triangles per sextant (i.e. the light grey triangles in Fig. 4-13), due to the winding common mode elimination condition of (4.7). Therefore, the modulator must select the larger 'three-level' triangles in these regions. Consider the five-level triangle bound by  $\{2,2,-1\}$ ,  $\{2,2,-2\}$  and  $\{2,1,-2\}$ , as highlighted in Fig. 4-12. The vector  $\{2,1,-2\}$  is not possible as only one limb would be excited, and therefore it is not present in Fig. 4-13. In each of these triangles, the algorithm is modified such that the vertices are replaced with those of the equivalent three-level triangle, e.g.  $\{2,2,0\}$ ,  $\{2,0,-2\}$  and  $\{2,2,-2\}$ . Accordingly, the duty cycles are doubled to scale to the larger three-level triangle, such that the equivalent average voltage dwell time is obtained as if it were the five-level triangle.

With each triangle mapped with known voltage vectors, the actual switch combinations for each vector are necessary to populate the look up table. As mentioned in Section 4.1, seven switching states are used to synthesize the output voltage of a given phase, e.g. in phase A ( $S_1S_2S_3S_4$ ): (0110) or '6', (1100) or 'C', (0011) or '3', (0010) or '2', (0111) or '7', (0100) or '4', and (1110) or 'E', which correspond to the output and winding voltages: (0, 0), (2E, 0), (-2E, 0), (-E, -2E), (-E, 2E), (E, -2E) and (E, 2E) respectively. Then, using the same starting condition for each switching cycle, e.g. positive winding voltage, the output vectors for each triangle, corresponding to a switching state, create the 12-bit value for the LUT, according to (4.13). The LUT for all 768 states is shown in the appendix of this thesis.

For state 'N': 
$$(S_{1.4}) \cdot 16^2 + (S_{5.8}) \cdot 16^1 + (S_{9.12}) \cdot 16^0 = LUT(N)$$
 (4.13)

# 4.3.3 Effect of 'WCME' SVPWM on Winding Currents and Line Voltages

By removing the winding common mode voltage in the three-limb coupled inductor, a high permeability path dictates the ripple within each winding, thereby keeping this ripple relatively low - similar to the modified DPWM1 approach in Chapter 3. However, as previously stated, the main challenge of common mode winding elimination is the consequence of these eliminated states on the average device switching frequency and the conversion quality of the coupled inductor converter.

Fig. 4-18 illustrates the upper and lower module currents for the NPC-CIC under the 'flipped carrier' DPWM1 and the 'WCME' SVPWM approach with a 3 kHz carrier frequency. Note that Fig. 4-18 demonstrates a peak ripple reduction by roughly a factor of three; however, this reduction is related to the ratio in permeability of the iron to air paths used in the simulation model. Note also that since this waveform is at a 3 kHz carrier frequency, the 'flipped carrier' DPWM1 scheme would need a 9 kHz carrier frequency, to bring the ripple close to that of the 'WCME' SVPWM - significantly favouring the 'WCME' SVPWM in terms of switching loss and electromagnetic interference reduction.

Since the 'WCME' SVPWM has full five-level switching (i.e. the line voltage step across the load is 'E'), it is important to note how this modulation approach has a mixed three/five level characteristic beyond modulation depths of 0.75. Note Fig. 4-19 where the line voltages for the 'WCME' SVPWM approach are illustrated at the modulation depths of 0.7, 0.8 and 0.9. At the modulation depth of 0.7, the line voltage is identical to a traditional five-level topology. However, with the modulation depths of 0.8

and 0.9, the duration of five-level characteristics decrease, while the three-level becomes more prominent; corresponding to the reference vector passing through the outer five-level triangle, i.e.  $\{2,1,-1\}$ ,  $\{2,0,-2\}$ , and  $\{1,-1,-2\}$ , with decreasing duration.



Fig. 4-18. Simulated module currents for phase A of the NPC-CIC with the 'flipped carrier' DPWM1 and 'WCME' space vector approach with  $f_0 = 50$  Hz,  $f_C = 3$  kHz,  $V_{DC} = 300$ V,  $L_W = 4$  mH,  $L_{AC} = 800 \mu$ H, and  $R_{AC} = 18 \Omega$  (delta connected)



Fig. 4-19. Simulated line voltage,  $V_{AB}$ , of the NPC-CIC under the 'WCME' space vector approach showing under increasing modulation depths of 0.7, 0.8 and 0.9 with  $f_0 = 50$  Hz,  $f_C = 3$  kHz,  $V_{DC} = 300V$ ,  $L_W = 4$  mH,  $L_{AC} = 800 \mu$ H, and  $R_{AC} = 18 \Omega$  (delta connected)

# 4.3.4 Average Device Switching Frequency

According to [79], space vector modulation approaches should synthesize the 'nearest three' vectors for a given output. Furthermore, each vector transition should, at most, have one switch turning off and one switching turning on per switching cycle. This condition gives the lowest possible average device switching frequency for the highest possible output quality, e.g. center-aligned space vector modulation.

Consider Fig. 4-20, which illustrates the switching pulses for phase A of the NPC-CIC, under the 'WCME' SVPWM approach, for two modulation depths of 0.2 and 0.7, over 30° of a fundamental cycle. While the approach discussed in Section 4.2 can be



Fig. 4-20. Phase A gating signals (or switching signals) over five carrier cycles, where  $T_s = 333 \ \mu s$ , for a modulation depth of 0.7 and 0.2.

applied to a discontinuous 'space vector' approach; in this thesis, a center-aligned version of space vector modulation is used due to the emphasis on output conversion quality, and therefore, the average device switching frequency is naturally higher than the 'flipped carrier' DPWM1. Even if the proposed method uses a discontinuous approach, the redundant vector combinations are still removed due to the condition of (4.7). Thus, for some modulation depths, the remaining vectors make it impossible to have only one switch transition per vector change. However, while the average device switching frequency must increase, it does not have to increase by double (unlike chapter 3).

In Fig. 4-20, the 30° capture of the fundamental cycle for phase A is used to demonstrate the device switching frequency. With modulation depths below 0.25, there is no effective increase in the average device switching frequency, i.e. each switch is active for 180° of the fundamental cycle, and the average device frequency is effectively half the carrier frequency ( $f_c/2$ ). On the other hand, for modulation depths over 0.5, extra switching segments occur, e.g. the highlighted section of Fig. 4-20, where the switch has two switching cycles per carrier cycle. Effectively, this occurs for 1/3 of the active switching period, and therefore the average device switching frequency is  $2f_c/3$ , when the modulation depth is 0.75. After this point, the average device switching frequency decreases due to the mixed 3/5-level switching, this frequency is at  $f_c/2$  again.

# 4.3.5. Neutral Point Balancing

One significant point about any neutral point clamped (or any split capacitor connection) is the center point between the two capacitors on the dc-link, and their ability



Fig. 4-21. Neutral point balancing of the NPC-CIC where a) illustrates the transformer effect present due to the three-phase coupled inductor and b) the simulated effect of the three-phase coupled inductor against the standard three-level NPC converter. The split-capacitors are unbalanced with resistances at power levels relative to the load resistance (e.g. 10% meaning the unbalancing resistance are sized to draw 10% of the power relative to the ac output power).

to maintain an even split of the applied dc voltage. This problem has been analyzed in detail, e.g. [32], and parasitic effects significantly influence the split-capacitor voltage balance, e.g. non-ideal switching behavior, and load unbalances. Thus, a closed loop controller is often used to inject a dc offset, into the modulator reference, to correct for any unbalance.

While the 'WCME' SVPWM approach does not limit the applicability of any neutral point correction scheme, since it can generate symmetric pulse-width modulation, it will also not introduce any unbalance to the split-capacitor connection. However, one of the advantages of the mutually coupled phases in the three-limb coupled inductor, is that each phase can act to balance the dc voltages of the remaining two phases. Specifically, by using a three-limb coupled inductor core, the neutral point can withstand more 'unbalanced' currents than in the three-level neutral point clamped topology.

Consider Fig. 4-21 a), which illustrates the equivalent three-phase circuit for an output voltage of  $\{1, 0, -1\}$ , with the three-phase coupled inductor excitation  $\{1, 0, -1\}$ . Since the two phases are coupled through the iron core, each capacitor can be considered to be coupled via a 1:1 turn ratio transformer, Fig. 4-21 a). Since the 'WCME' approach only uses those voltage states where the coupled inductor is excited by equal and opposite phases, this balancing effect is maximized.

If an average voltage unbalance exists of  $2\Delta E$  in the dc-link, it is equivalent to one capacitor being  $2E+\Delta E$  and the other being  $2E-\Delta E$ , Fig. 4-21 a). This unbalanced voltage would induce a balancing current to flow into the dot (left hand side of equivalent circuit), and flow out of the dot (on the right hand side), causing the unbalance  $\Delta E$  to become smaller in magnitude. Positive  $\Delta E$  that drives this current, reducing the energy stored in the capacitor corresponding to this unbalance, until an equilibrium point is established.

Fig. 4-21 b) demonstrates the neutral point deviation on a 300V system (150V would be the equal split across these capacitors), under a 2:1 power unbalance on the dclink (i.e. a resistor is used to draw twice the power from the top rail as the bottom) for both the NPC-CIC and a standard NPC inverter. Furthermore, since the load can balance the neutral point connection, two power ratios, relative to the load, of 10%, and 1% are used. At a carrier frequency of 20 kHz, the NPC-CIC is modulated with interleaved carriers, and the NPC converter is PD modulated. It can be seen from Fig. 4-18 b) that the NPC-CIC has a smaller deviation from 150V (i.e. 27V compared to 36V for  $m_A = 0.5$ under a 10% per-unit unbalancing power) over the modulation range compared to the NPC inverter.

However, as this correcting factor depends on the coupling between limbs, this factor can have limitations. To get a better idea of how the coupling between limbs helps correct an unbalanced voltage, this effect is isolated and examined in detail in Chapter 5. While the circuit topology is slightly different, the natural (or automatic) correction of the unbalanced voltages in the split-capacitor is identical. Therefore, this chapter will not delve into the influence of coupling between limbs and the balancing power of the coupled inductor converters, as this is covered in Chapter 5.

# 4.4 Experimental Setup

A 10kW experimental prototype is constructed, as shown in Fig. 4-22, to illustrate the general performance of the NPC-CIC, and the performance of the proposed 'WCME' modulation approach.



Fig. 4-22. Three-phase NPC-CIC prototype with three-phase, three-limb coupled inductor pictured



Fig. 4-23. Experimental prototype construction from two ACIB modules from Semikron [101]. Six asymmetric half-bridges are used to construct the NPC-CIC with the modules arranged as illustrated.

The organization of this section is as follows: a discussion of the construction of the NPC-CIC prototype, the three-limb coupled inductor core used, and the software environment employed to pulse width modulate the NPC-CIC.

#### 4.4.1 Construction of a 10kW Three-phase NPC-CIC prototype

One important point for the practical implementation of the NPC-CIC is the construction of a single-phase leg, as pictured in Fig. 4-23. In this figure, the NPC-CIC is the product of six asymmetrical bridges. Note that instead of requiring 24 devices, the NPC-CIC is constructed with six modules in total, lowering the design effort. In this prototype, six modules, (asymmetric bridge pack) SK75GARL065E, are selected with the ratings: 50A (peak collector current), 600V, and a maximum switching frequency of 20 kHz. To drive the IGBTs, dual SKHI61R drivers from SEMIKRON are used, and the supporting circuitry is built according to [101].

In all the given experimental results, the switching frequency is set at 3 kHz with a 300V dc-link (controlled with a 6 kW dc supply). For the R/L load tests: a three-phase series inductor with a dc inductance of 1.5 mH (3.5% at 50 Hz), and a three-phase delta connected 42  $\Omega$  resistor bank is used to load the inverter (P<sub>BASE</sub> = 3.2 kW, V<sub>BASE</sub> = 208V).

# 4.4.2 Three-limb Coupled Inductor Core

The three-limb coupled inductor core, as in Chapter 3, uses a '7/8' sized E-I core configuration is selected. The air gap of this core was kept as small as possible by clamping the 'I' bar to the 'E' core, and 6-mil laminations from [98] were selected for all tests. While one set of windings, Fig. 4-24 a), is used to obtain a measured total inductance ( $L_T$ ) of 12 mH, another set of windings was also used, as shown in Fig. 4-24 b), to achieve a smaller total inductance of 4 mH. Fig. 4-22 illustrates the final

construction of the cores with the 12 mH set of windings. Note that due to one coil configuration having fewer turns, the leakage reactance between these two coils will also differ.



Fig. 4-24. Three-phase windings used on the three-limb core: a) 128 windings per coil, with  $L_W = 4 \text{ mH} (L_T = 12 \text{ mH})$ , and b) 64 windings per coil, with  $L_W = 1 \text{ mH} (L_T = 4 \text{ mH})$ . Both coils are constructed by winding two parallel sets of wires together, but using 16 AWG in a) and 15 AWG in b).

# 4.4.3 Software Setup

To implement either the 'WCME' or 'flipped carrier' based modulation schemes, a graphically programmable FPGA, as pictured in Fig. 4-25, from LabView is used to minimize development time. As the MATLAB/SIMULINK models were designed to use spreadsheets, the development of the FPGA program designed around this same concept. Due to the graphic nature of LabView, the development of the programs used for this thesis can be derived from the discussion presented thus far, and therefore are not included here.



Fig. 4-25. Experimental LabView development system: pictured with oscilloscope, current probes, and 3 kW dc power supply

With either scheme, the FPGA program essentially has two tasks loops: a low frequency (i.e. at the carrier frequency) loop for calculation of the duty cycles, and pulse-

width modulation loop at the clock frequency of the FPGA unit (40 MHz). In the latter loop, the devices are controlled by active comparison of the duty cycles with a carrier wave at a 2.5ns resolution.

# 4.5 Experimental Results and Discussion

To verify the simulated results discussed in this chapter, the experimental results focus on two concepts: validation of the NPC-CIC as a multi-level inverter and the demonstration of the 'WCME' SVPWM as a necessary condition to allow for low switching frequencies with the three-limb coupled inductor. Therefore, the experimental results section includes a discussion to put each section into context, and these sections are as follows:

- General NPC-CIC performance (e.g. three-phase currents)
- Experimental confirmation of winding voltage elimination
- Output performance of the NPC-CIC under the 'WCME' approach

# 4.5.1 General NPC-CIC performance

As the general goal of the NPC-CIC development is aimed at a high-conversion quality to drive low voltage, low-inductance high speed electric machines, the first experimental demonstration deals with induction motor operation. In Fig. 4-26 a), an unloaded high-speed induction machine (with the construction details in [100]), is used to demonstrate the visual reduction of phase current ripple of the NPC-CIC against a standard two-level six-switch inverter. In Fig. 4-26 a), a standard interleaved carrier-based scheme modulates the NPC-CIC with a switching frequency of 15 kHz (due to the high electrical frequency of the electric machine).



Fig. 4-26. Motor validation with a) on an unloaded 600 Hz (18,000 rpm) induction machine, illustrating the NPC-CIC phase currents (lower set) against phase currents generated by a six-switch inverter under SVPWM and b) the neutral point stability of the NPC-CIC under a step change in load on a 2HP 60Hz (1800 rpm) induction machine.  $f_C = 15$  kHz,  $V_{DC} = 260$ V.



Fig. 4-27. Experimental: a) phase voltage,  $V_{A,N}$  and b) phase currents at a modulation depth of 0.7,  $f_C = 3 \text{ kHz}$ ,  $V_{DC} = 300 \text{ V}$ ,  $f_O = 50 \text{ Hz}$ ,  $L_W = 4 \text{ mH}$ ,  $L_{AC} = 1.5 \text{ mH}$ ,  $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$  (in delta)



Fig. 4-28. Experimental line voltage,  $V_{AB}$ , at modulation depths 0.35, 0.65 and 0.95,  $f_C = 3$  kHz,  $V_{DC} = 300V$ ,  $f_O = 50$  Hz,  $L_W = 4$  mH,  $L_{AC} = 1.5$  mH,  $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$  (in delta)

To illustrate the neutral point stability of the NPC-CIC under step-load changes, the experimental prototype is tested on a 2HP hysteresis dynamometer (MAGTROL DSP 6000). A step change in power (at the synchronous speed of 1800 rpm) from unloaded to 1 HP is performed, as seen in Fig. 4-26 b), and maintains the expected voltage of 130 before and after each change in load.

In Figs. 4-27 a) and b), the general inverter performance under the 'WCME' SVPWM approach, at a modulation depth of 0.7, with the corresponding phase voltage  $V_{A,N}$ , and the three phase currents. Additionally, Fig. 4-28 shows the line voltage,  $V_{AB}$ , for modulation depths 0.35, 0.65 and 0.95 under the 'WCME' SVPWM approach. This figure illustrates the mixed 3/5-level PWM for modulation depths over 0.75 (denoted by '2E' and 'E' respectively), and the full five-level switching below this modulation depth. The slightly distorted appearance of the line voltages is due to inadequate decoupling capacitance across each switch to cancel the dc-link inductance within the switch path.

# 4.5.1 Winding Current Reduction with the 'WCME' SVPWM Approach

Using only the high permeability states within the three-limb inductor allows the module current ripple,  $i_L$  and  $i_U$ , to be as minimized as much as possible (for a given inductance). With the 1 mH coils, Fig. 4-29 is a prime example of the motivation behind the winding common mode elimination. In this figure, the circulating winding current,  $i_{CW}$ , for phase A produced by the 'WCME' SVPWM approach is compared against the same current produced by the 'flipped carrier' DPWM1 approach. Eliminating the common mode winding voltages has reduced the peak circulating winding ripple current from approximately 20A to 2.5A. Note that this reduction is importance as it is dependent on the leakage reactance of the three-limb core from phase to phase.

With the 4 mH coils, Figs. 4-30 a) and b) illustrate the circulating winding current,  $i_{CW}$ , in phase A for both modulation approaches, under the modulation depths 0.35, 0.65 and 0.95. Like Fig. 4-29, the winding current ripple for the 'WCME' approach is significantly smaller than the 'flipped carrier' DPWM1. Under these modulation depths, the ac component of the common mode winding current under the 'WCME' approach is 0.25A, 0.26A, and 0.39A while the 'flipped carrier' DPWM1 approach is 2.34A, 3.95A and 5.81A. Clearly, for both Figs. 4-29 and 4-30, the reduction in circulating current for the 'WCME' approach is significant.

Fig. 4-31 a) illustrates the common mode winding current,  $i_{CM}$  between both schemes. It is important to note the modulation depth chosen, i.e.  $m_A = 0.7$ , is the worstcase ripple for the 'flipped carrier' DPWM scheme. At this modulation point, the alignment by flipping the winding excitation is at its minimal point, producing large duration common mode winding voltages, resulting in the large difference in current ripple seen in Fig. 4-31. Furthermore, in regards to the 'WCME' approach, it is apparently that some common mode winding current is circulating through the inverter. The presence of this current is a consequence of the practical implementation of the scheme, i.e. the scheme depends on matching winding voltages. As active devices can have different rise and fall times for their blocking current and voltage, some winding voltages is present, as seen in Fig. 4-31 a).

Lastly, Fig. 4-31 b) illustrates the winding volt-seconds for the three-limb coupled inductor between the two three-limb applicable schemes. It is clear that the 'WCME' approach causes the three-limb inductor to experimental smaller winding voltages for the modulation depths above 0.75 – confirming the mixed three/five-level approach to this scheme. However, since the 'flipped carrier' DPWM1 scheme uses a

discontinuous approach, the winding voltage duration per fundamental cycle should naturally be lower than the 'WCME' approach at lower modulation depths.



Fig. 4-29. Circulating winding current,  $i_{CW}$ , of phase A for 'flipped carrier' DPWM1 and 'WCME' SVPWM with a modulation depth of 0.7,  $f_C = 3 \text{ kHz}$ ,  $V_{DC} = 300\text{ V}$ ,  $f_O = 50 \text{ Hz}$ ,  $L_W = 1 \text{ mH}$ ,  $L_{AC} = 1.5 \text{ mH}$ ,  $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$  (in delta)



Fig. 4-30. Circulating winding current,  $i_{CW}$ , of phase A for a) 'flipped carrier' DPWM1 and b) 'WCME' SVPWM at the modulation depths 0.35, 0.65 and 0.95,  $f_C = 3$  kHz,  $V_{DC} = 300$ V,  $f_O = 50$  Hz,  $L_W = 4$  mH,  $L_{AC} = 1.5$  mH,  $R_{AC} = 42$   $\Omega$  (in delta)



Fig. 4-31. Experimental 'flipped carrier' DPWM1 and 'WCME' SVPWM with a) the three-phase common mode current,  $i_{CM}$ , and b) the winding volt-seconds on phase A versus modulation depth;  $f_C = 3 \text{ kHz}$ ,  $V_{DC} = 300$ V,  $f_O = 50 \text{ Hz}$ ,  $L_W = 4 \text{ mH}$ ,  $L_{AC} = 1.5 \text{ mH}$ ,  $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$  (in delta)

With a discontinuous version of the 'WCME' scheme, one would expect a reduction in winding volt-seconds, but the most important result from Fig. 4-31 b) is that only the modulation depth region of 0.5 to 0.75 sees a noticeable difference between the two approaches. This difference is due to the increased device switching during this region for the 'WCME' approach, but at its worst point, this difference is only 0.05 perunit. The meaning from this result is that, if the winding current ripple magnitude were close between the two schemes, the iron losses induced in the core would also be similar.

#### 4.5.2. Performance with No Common Mode Winding Voltages

Since the condition of zero common mode winding voltages eliminates certain vectors - otherwise achievable for standard interleaved schemes using separate inductors - it is important to examine the converter performance. Fig. 4-32 a) provides the total harmonic distortion (THD) of the current between the two schemes. In this figure, the 'WCME' approach sees increased distortion during the mixed three/five-level PWM regions, as opposed to the purely five-level PWM produced by the 'flipped carrier' DPWM1 approach. Below the modulation depth of 0.75, the output distortion is generally lower for the 'WCME' approach, due to the use of 'center-aligned' space vector modulation. Note that since the filter inductance is relatively high (3.5%), and the harmonic currents produced by both schemes are small, only minor differences between the schemes were obtained in Fig. 4-32 a).

To better clarify the differences in conversion quality between the two schemes, the line voltage harmonic volt-seconds is shown in Fig. 4-32 b). This figure corresponds to the approximate size of the inductive filter needed between the two schemes to obtain a relatively undistorted sinusoidal output. Up to a modulation depth of 0.75, as expected from using the 'center-aligned' space vector approach, the harmonic volt-seconds are lower than that obtained for the 'flipped carrier' DPWM1 scheme. Furthermore, after this modulation depth, the harmonic volt-seconds for the 'WCME' approach are lower than the reference three-level results, due to the mixed three/five-level characteristics of the former approach. While the 'flipped carrier' DPWM1 results lower harmonic volt-seconds, it should be noted that this scheme has already shown to be impractical at this carrier frequency, due to the excessive module current ripple. Therefore, it is not entirely accurate to compare filter sizes between the two converters.

Finally, the most important result of the winding common mode elimination is the impact of this scheme on the efficiency of the converter. Fig. 4-33 illustrates the efficiency over the modulation range between the two approaches, and the result is clear: the elimination of the common mode winding voltages significantly improves the efficiency over the output range of the converter. With this figure, the 'WCME' approach has met its goal: a clear improvement in efficiency when the converter is limited by switching frequency (e.g. in higher power devices), while maintaining a high dc/ac conversion quality.



Fig. 4-32. Experimental 'flipped carrier' DPWM1 and 'WCME' SVPWM with a) the total harmonic distortion of the phase current and b) the line voltage harmonic volt-seconds of  $V_{AB}$  versus modulation depth;  $f_C = 3 \text{ kHz}$ ,  $V_{DC} = 300\text{ V}$ ,  $f_O = 50 \text{ Hz}$ ,  $L_W = 4 \text{ mH}$ ,  $L_{AC} = 1.5 \text{ mH}$ ,  $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$  (in delta)



Fig. 4-33. Experimental 'flipped carrier' DPWM1 and 'WCME' SVPWM total conversion efficiency (i.e.  $P_{OUT}/P_{IN}$ ) versus modulation depth;  $f_C = 3 \text{ kHz}$ ,  $V_{DC} = 300 \text{ V}$ ,  $f_O = 50 \text{ Hz}$ ,  $L_W = 4 \text{ mH}$ ,  $L_{AC} = 1.5 \text{ mH}$ ,  $R_{AC} = 42 \Omega$  (in delta)

# 4.6 Chapter Summary

This chapter presents the NPC-CIC as an evolution of the asymmetric bridge coupled inductor converter as applied in a three-phase, five-level, dc/ac converter system. With consideration of the examined switching states, a viable switching approach, termed 'WCME' SVPWM, is illustrated to eliminate the common mode winding voltage states, at a minimal increase in device switching frequency and decrease in conversion quality. An experimental prototype is developed and the general performance of the NPC-CIC is

presented, along with the proposed modulation scheme. The 'WCME' significantly improves the conversion efficiency, as evidenced by the experimental results, without significantly affecting the conversion quality or the device switching frequency for most of the modulation range.

# Chapter 5 - Asymmetric Coupled Inductor Bridge as a Modular Balancing Bridge

In this chapter, a topological variation to the ACIB, the Modular Balancing Bridge (MBB), see Fig. 5-1, is presented for automatically balancing a series connection of voltage sources, e.g. battery cells in an electric vehicle. Analysis of the MBB is presented to predict the average balancing currents that flow under a range of voltage imbalances, and these currents are related to various circuit parameters to aide in design.



Fig. 5-1. ACIB configuration: a modular balancing bridge for balancing a series of unbalanced voltage sources

Specifically, the balancing action for two internal voltage sources within the MBB is described, and the resulting current from an internal voltage difference is derived. The balancing of voltages between MBBs is then described, along with the resulting current that flows due to these voltage unbalances. Due to the modular nature of the circuit, commercial transformers are selected to demonstrate the automatic balancing of the MBB. Using the weight of these transformers and the derived maximum power relationships, the power density is demonstrated for the MBB. Practical design considerations are presented, and experimental results confirm operation of the MBB.

# 5.1 The Modular Balancing Bridge

The novelty of the MBB is primarily due to its modular approach to balancing a series of voltage sources. While some patents exist for 'automatic', or balancing without voltage feedback, for split-capacitors [102, 103], the MBB is able to provide automatic voltage balancing for an arbitrary number of series connected voltage sources. This is unlike traditional balancing circuits, which require co-ordination of the battery information from the Battery Management System (BMS), as seen in Fig. 5-2, and specific control algorithms, according to the cell chemistry of the battery



Fig. 5-2. Relationship between the battery management system and balancing cell for a series of connected battery cells



Fig. 5-3. The ACIB: a) as a single modular balancing bridge (MBB) and b) the four-winding '1:1:1:1' coupled inductor showing: inter-bridge and intra-bridge windings

selected. Unlike the works presented in [91-93], the MBB does not require custom transformer designs for different cell configurations. Furthermore, since the transformer is identical for each MBB, the overall part cost is lowered due to using commercially available transformers and through volume cost discounts.

The MBB is essentially a multi-level dc/dc converter, as seen in Fig. 5-3 a). In Fig. 5-3 b), the 1:1:1:1 transformer of the MBB has four-windings per core: two windings internal to the MBB (i.e. the intra-bridge windings), and two windings cascading one MBB to neighboring MBBs (i.e. the inter-bridge windings). This second set of windings is unique to the MBB and is required to extend the balancing action across a series of voltage sources, e.g. battery cells. Lastly, it is important to note that the components within each MBB have identical ratings, size and current/voltage stresses.

#### 5.2 Intra-bridge Voltage Balancing of the MBB

In this section, the balancing of the two internal battery cells, Ep and En, is related to the voltage unbalance within this internal battery pair, and the resulting average balancing current. As lithium-ion batteries have complex current to terminal voltage relationships [80], the average balancing current can be related to the circuit parameters and therefore, the intra-balancing ability of the MBB. Note that the module currents of Chapter 3 have been renamed ' $i_p$ ' and ' $i_n$ ' to help with the discussion presented in this chapter.

A SPICE simulation model of the circuit in Fig. 5-3 a) is developed, as shown in Fig. 5-4, to verify the expression developed for the intra-bridge balancing current. This model uses a realistic diode model that incorporates a series resistance and device capacitance. However, for simplicity, and since the effect of the parasitic device parameters, such as device capacitance, is described in Section 5.4, the MOSFET switch is modeled as a switched resistance, as per Fig. 5-4 - with the resistance corresponding to the on-state resistance of the device. Finally, the coupled inductor is modeled using a simple four-inductor circuit, as seen in Fig. 5-4, with a coupling co-efficient between the two windings of approximately 0.99. Note that all series resistances, i.e. winding or any other parasitic resistance, is lumped together in the coupled inductor model.

#### 5.2.1 Basic Operation of the MBB for Unbalanced Intra-bridge Voltages

The analysis of the intra-bridge balancing is based on circuit inductances and voltage unbalance, but due to the relatively small operating power level, the parasitic device resistances are ignored in this section. As such, three basic circuit parameters are useful for predicting the balancing currents flowing in the circuit: the average voltage between a pair of battery cells, Ep and En, as per (5.1), the per-unit voltage unbalance between this pair of battery cells, as per (5.2) and the base current, as per (5.3).

$$(Ep + En)/2 = \overline{Epn}$$
(5.1)

$$\Delta = (Ep - En)/(Ep + En)$$
(5.2)

$$I_{BASE} = \frac{E_{BASE}}{L_{W} f_{C}}, \quad E_{BASE} = \overline{Epn}$$
(5.3)

To maximize the intra-bridge voltage balancing, the duty cycle of each switch in Fig. 5-3 a), is set to 50% - as a duty cycle less than 50% reduces the voltage balancing ability, and greater than 50% could potentially saturate the coupled inductor. Due to the coupling between the 'p' and 'n' windings (as per Fig. 5-3), the magnetizing inductance of the core is four times the winding inductance,  $L_W$ . Therefore, over a switching cycle,  $T_S$ , the magnetizing inductance,  $L_M$ , is alternatively excited by 2Epn and -2Epn, as in Fig. 5-5 a) and b).


Fig. 5-4. SPICE simulation model of a single MBB to illustrate the intra-voltage balancing between two internal voltage sources



Fig. 5-5. Ideal equivalent circuits with magnetizing current paths for a) positive excitation and b) negative excitation with c) the differential current,  $i_{\Delta}$ , equivalent circuit

If either battery voltage differs from the average voltage, as per (5.2), a differential voltage ( $\Delta \overline{Epn}$ ) exists across the leakage inductance, L<sub>e</sub>, of a winding within the coupled inductor. As a result, a differential current component exists,  $i_{\Delta}$ , in addition to the magnetizing current,  $i_M$ , in each winding, as per Fig. 5.5 c). In either excitation state, a path for positive or negative differential current flows, resulting in  $i_M + i_{\Delta}$  flowing from the cell with the higher than average voltage, i.e.  $(1+\Delta)\overline{Epn}$ , and  $i_M - i_{\Delta}$  flowing from the cell with the lower than average, i.e.  $(1-\Delta)\overline{Epn}$ . Hence, a differential current of  $2i_{\Delta}$  flows into the center tap of Ep and En, causing the voltage unbalance to reduce. Effectively, the balancing current,  $i_{\Delta}$ , is removing charge from the cell with the higher than average voltage, inthe cell with the balancing this charge in the cell with the lower than average balancing current,  $i_{\Delta}$ , is zero. This balancing current,  $i_{\Delta}$ , is the 'intra-bridge balancing

current', and the average of this current is related to the balancing power of the circuit for intra-bridge voltage unbalances.

To understand how the intra-bridge balancing current is influenced by the perunit leakage inductance,  $L_{pu}$ , and the per-unit intra-bridge voltage unbalance,  $\Delta$ , Fig. 5-6 a) illustrates the module currents,  $i_p$  and  $i_n$ . In Fig. 5-6 a), a per-unit intra-bridge unbalance  $\Delta = 1\%$  causes an increase of  $i_{\Delta}$  and decrease of  $i_{\Delta}$  relative to  $i_M$ , for  $i_p$  and  $i_n$ respectively. Note that due to device conduction drops of the diodes, the conduction period is reduced by  $T_s/T_s'$ , which can be related to the per-unit diode voltage drop  $v_D$ , via 5.4:

$$\frac{T_{S}}{T_{S}'} \approx \frac{2\overline{Epn}}{2\overline{Epn} + 2V_{D}} \equiv \frac{1}{1 + v_{D}}$$
(5.4)

Furthermore, the conduction time  $T_d$ , is illustrated in Fig. 5-6 a), marking the time of positive balancing current during the diode conduction stage (i.e. the demagnetization period, as shown in Fig. 5-6). After this point, as one of the winding currents is now zero, the balancing current decreases proportionately to En/2L<sub>w</sub> or (1- $\Delta$ )  $\overline{\text{Epn}}/2L_w$ .

In Fig. 5-6 b), the balancing current is illustrated for both  $\Delta = 1\%$  and 2%. Note in this figure during the time T<sub>d</sub>, the balancing current is still increasing in magnitude. Therefore, the time T<sub>d</sub> can be found by equating the peak module current in at time T<sub>s</sub>/2, with the time it takes the module current to reach zero, as in (5.5). Note also that the 'n' winding is altered by I<sub>BASE</sub>·(1-2 $\Delta$ /L<sub>pu</sub>) during the switch conduction period (or magnetization period), and I<sub>BASE</sub>·(1+2 $\Delta$ /L<sub>pu</sub>) during the diode conduction period (or demagnetization period).

$$T_{d} \approx \frac{T_{S}}{2} \left[ \frac{1 - 2\Delta/L_{pu}}{1 + 2\Delta/L_{pu}} \right]$$
(5.5)

With (5.5), the average of the balancing current can be defined by knowing that the average of a triangular waveform is the peak divided by two, as shown in (5.6) and (5.7). A good design point for choosing the maximum average balancing current is such that the lower winding current is zero, while the upper winding current is twice that of the magnetizing current – a point which occurs when the ratio of the per-unit voltage unbalance,  $\Delta$ , to the per-unit leakage inductance, L<sub>pu</sub>, is 1:2. Thus, we can define our ideal maximum average balancing current, as defined in (5.8).

$$\overline{i_{\Delta}} \approx \frac{I_{BASE}}{4} \left[ \frac{\Delta}{L_{pu}} \right] \cdot \left[ 1 + \frac{2T_d}{T_S} \right] \cdot \left[ \frac{1}{1 + v_D} \right]$$
(5.6)

$$\therefore \text{ via (4.4), } \overline{i_{\Delta}} \approx \frac{I_{\text{BASE}}}{2} \left[ \frac{\Delta}{L_{\text{pu}}} \right] \cdot \left[ \frac{1}{1 + 2\Delta/L_{\text{pu}}} \right] \cdot \left[ \frac{1}{1 + v_{\text{D}}} \right]$$
(5.7)

$$\left(\overline{i_{\Delta}}\right)_{max} = I_{BASE}/8 \text{ for } \Delta/L_{pu} = 0.5$$
 (5.8)

The main significance of (5.8) is to provide a relationship between the maximum dc balancing current and the maximum voltage unbalance for a given per-unit leakage inductance. With the maximum voltage unbalance for a given base current, a maximum power can be calculated and used to compare the balancing ability of various commercial transformers. The approximate dc balancing current, as predicted by (5.7), is plotted against a simulation and is found to be in close agreement, as shown in Fig. 5-7. Note that (5.7) does not have any dependence on the switch or diode on-state resistances, due to the relatively small voltage drops produced by the balancing current for the base values of current chosen.



Fig. 5-6. Simulated a) module and magnetization currents for  $\Delta = 1\%$  and b) the intra-bridge balancing current  $i_{\Delta}$  with  $\Delta - 1\%$  and 2%. Device parameters:  $r_{ON} = 30 \text{ m}\Omega$ ,  $r_{OFF} = 55 \text{m}\Omega$ ,  $V_D = 0.34\text{V}$ ,  $f_C = 100 \text{ kHz}$ , Epn = 4V,  $I_{BASE} = 400 \text{ mA}$ ,  $L_W = 100 \mu\text{H}$  and  $L_{pu} = 10\%$ .



Fig. 5-7. Predicted and simulated average intra-bridge balancing current from (4.7) against the per-unit voltage unbalance to leakage inductance ratio for  $I_{BASE} = 200$ , 400 and 800 mA. Device parameters:  $r_{ON} = 30 \text{ m}\Omega$ ,  $r_{OFF} = 55 \text{m}\Omega$ ,  $V_D = 0.34 \text{V}$ , Epn = 4 V,  $L_W = 100 \text{ }\mu\text{H}$  and  $L_{pu} = 10\%$ . Base currents are obtained with  $f_C = 200$ , 100 and 50 kHz.

#### 5.2.2 First Order Approximation of the Device Parameter Effects

While Fig. 5-7 illustrates close agreement with the predicted dc balancing current from (5.7), the magnitude of the base current is relatively low considering the charge capacity of modern lithium polymer batteries (e.g. 20Ah), and the current rating of the MOSFET (6A). In other words, consider that for a modern lithium polymer battery, drawing 20A for an hour will use 100% of capacity. Since the voltage difference between fully charged and discharged in this battery can be 400mV (with a 4V cell) [104], the balancing circuit must use small leakage inductances to allow for large balancing currents with a relatively small per-unit voltage imbalance.

Redrawing Fig. 5-5 a)-c) with the diode voltage drops and device conduction resistances produces Fig. 5-8 a)-c). Clearly, as the intra-bridge balancing current increases in magnitude, the voltage drop across the parasitic resistances will similarly increase. As this parasitic voltage drop can alter the net voltage exciting the leakage inductance, the net balancing current can decrease. Thus, to predict the average intrabridge balancing current at larger magnitudes of balancing current, some account of the device parameters must be considered. Since the per-unit intra-bridge voltage unbalance will effectively change during the magnetization and de-magnetization periods, a first order approximation of the voltage drops experienced across each parasitic device resistance is made to improve the prediction accuracy of the balancing current made in (5.7).

Consider the slope of the intra-bridge balancing current, with respect to time, for Fig. 5-6 b) during the magnetization period ( $T_s/2$ ), with the model given in Fig. 5-8 c) to



Fig. 5-8. Approximate parasitic equivalent circuits with magnetizing current paths for a) positive excitation and b) negative excitation with the differential current,  $i_{\Delta}$ , equivalent circuit during c) the switch conduction time and d) the diode conduction time

account for the voltage drop across the series resistance,  $V_{ON}$ , as per (5.9). Although (5.9) is a solvable first-order differential equation, a first order approximation of the effect of device resistances is found to be adequate for transformer sizing requirements. Consider then the peak of the balancing current, as in (5.10), and the approximate device voltage drop across the switch, as one-half this peak balancing current multiplied by the on-state resistance, as in (5.11). Note that the on-state resistance of the windings can also be incorporated into  $r_{ON}$ , as per (5.11). By separating out the peak balancing current, as in (5.12) and (5.13), the on-state per-unit voltage unbalance is defined in (5.14).

$$\frac{di_{\Delta}}{dt} = \frac{\Delta \overline{Epn} - V_{ON}}{L_{W} L_{PU}}, \quad V_{ON} = i_{\Delta} r_{ON}$$
(5.9)

$$i_{\Delta,peak} \approx \left[\frac{\Delta \overline{Epn} - V_{ON}}{L_W L_{PU}}\right] \cdot \frac{T_S}{2}$$
(5.10)

$$V_{\rm ON} = i_{\Delta} r_{\rm ON} \approx \frac{i_{\Delta, \text{peak}} r_{\rm ON}}{2}$$
(5.11)

$$\Rightarrow i_{\Delta,\text{peak}} \approx \left[\frac{\Delta \overline{\text{Epn}}}{L_{W}L_{PU}}\right] \cdot \frac{T_{S}}{2} - \left[\frac{i_{\Delta,\text{peak}}r_{ON}}{2L_{W}L_{PU}}\right] \frac{T_{S}}{2}$$
(5.12)

$$\Rightarrow i_{\Delta,\text{peak}} (1 + \frac{r_{\text{ON}}}{4L_{W}L_{PU}f_{S}}) \approx \frac{\Delta \overline{\text{Epn}}}{2L_{W}L_{PU}f_{S}}$$
(5.13)

$$\therefore \quad \Delta_{\rm ON} \approx \frac{\Delta}{(1 + r_{\rm ON} / 4L_{\rm W}L_{\rm PU}f_{\rm S})}$$
(5.14)

During the de-magnetization state, recognizing that the series voltage drop,  $V_{OFF}$ , subtracts from the intra-bridge differential voltage, as in (5.15) and (5.16), the off-state per-unit voltage unbalance can be expressed in (5.17). For simplicity, assume that time

 $T_d$ , is defined as per (5.5), giving leading to (5.17) via the same development as in (5-12) to (5-14).

$$i_{\Delta,peak} \approx \left[\frac{\Delta \overline{Epn} - V_{OFF}}{L_W L_{pu}}\right] \cdot T_d$$
(5.15)

$$V_{OFF} = i_{\Delta} r_{OFF} \approx \frac{i_{\Delta, peak} r_{OFF}}{2}$$
(5.16)

$$\therefore \quad \Delta_{\text{OFF}} \approx \frac{\Delta}{1 + \frac{r_{\text{OFF}}}{4L_{\text{W}}L_{\text{pu}}f_{\text{C}}} \left[\frac{1 - 2\Delta/L_{\text{pu}}}{1 + 2\Delta/L_{\text{pu}}}\right]}$$
(5.17)

With the equivalent on and off state per-unit voltage unbalances developed, as per (5.14) and (5-17), the average balancing current can be derived, taking into account the series parasitic device resistances. Using the same logic as in (5.5), the time  $T_d$  can be altered to include  $\Delta_{ON}$  and  $\Delta_{OFF}$ , via (5.18). Then, as three-segments with different areas are produced, the net average over the time  $T_s$  can be calculated as per (5.19), leading to the average balancing current in (5.20). Note that as in (5.7), (5.20) is modified by the onstate voltage drops produced by the diodes in the de-magnetization period.

$$T_{\rm D} = \frac{T_{\rm S}}{2} \cdot \frac{1 - 2\Delta_{\rm ON} / L_{\rm PU}}{1 + 2\Delta_{\rm OFF} / L_{\rm PU}}$$
(5.18)

$$\overline{i_{\Delta}} = \frac{T_{\rm S}/2}{T_{\rm S}} \frac{(i_{\Delta,\text{peak}} \otimes T_{\rm S}/2)}{2} + \frac{T_{\rm D}}{T_{\rm S}} \frac{(i_{\Delta,\text{peak}} \otimes T_{\rm D} - i_{\Delta,\text{peak}} \otimes T_{\rm S}/2)}{2}$$
(5.19)

$$+\frac{T_{\rm D}}{T_{\rm S}} \left( i_{\Delta, \text{peak} @ T_{\rm S}/2} \right) + \frac{T_{\rm S} - T_{\rm D} - T_{\rm S}/2}{T_{\rm S}} \frac{\left( i_{\Delta, \text{peak} @ T_{\rm D}} \right)}{2}$$
$$\therefore \overline{i_{\Delta}} = \frac{I_{\rm BASE}}{4} \left[ \frac{\Delta_{\rm ON}}{L_{\rm pu}} \left( 1 + \frac{T_{\rm d}}{T_{\rm S}} \right) + \frac{\Delta_{\rm OFF}}{L_{\rm PU}} \left( \frac{T_{\rm d}}{T_{\rm S}} \right) \right] \cdot \left[ \frac{1}{1 + v_{\rm D}} \right]$$
(5.20)

With device parameters  $r_{ON}=30m\Omega$ ,  $r_{OFF}=55m\Omega$ ,  $V_D=0.34V$  and with  $I_{BASE}=4A$  and 8A, a simulation and the predictions from (5.20) are illustrated in Fig. 5-9, along with the predictions from (5.7).

In Fig. 5-9, the predictions of the average balancing current closely matches the average current measurements obtained from simulation. While the biggest point of error is when the ratio of  $\Delta/L_{pu}$  is 0.5, the remaining points are within 5% of the simulated current measurements, compared to 20% error obtained by ignoring device parameters. Therefore, the first order approximation is justified, as it improves the accuracy of the predicted currents sufficiently for design purposes.



Fig. 5-9. Average intra-bridge average current: using (5.7), (5.20) and values from simulation for a)  $I_{BASE} = 4A$ , and b)  $I_{BASE} = 8A$ . Simulated device parameters:  $r_{ON} = 30 \text{ m}\Omega$ ,  $r_{OFF} = 55m\Omega$ ,  $V_D = 0.34V$ , Epn = 4V,  $L_W = 5 \mu H$  and  $L_{pu} = 10\%$ . Base currents obtained with  $f_C = 100 \text{ kHz}$  and 50 kHz.

#### 5.2.3 Resultant Voltage Balancing

With the single MBB, as depicted in Fig. 5-4, 1 mF capacitors are used to simulate batteries to reduce simulation time. Fig. 5-10 illustrates the intra-bridge balancing operation with an initial per-unit imbalance of  $\Delta = 4\%$ ,  $I_{BASE} = 800$  mA,  $E_{BASE} = 4V$ ,  $L_W = 50 \mu$ H,  $L_{pu} = 10\%$  and  $f_C = 50$  kHz. In Fig. 5-10, the capacitor voltage, without any closed loop control, naturally converges to the average voltage of 4V. In this manner, the 'automatic' or 'natural' balancing ability of the MBB is able to compensate for internal voltage imbalances, regardless of the type of voltage source.



Fig. 5-10. Simulated intra-bridge voltage balancing of a pair of 1 mF capacitors with  $\Delta = 4\%$ . Simulated device parameters:  $r_{ON} = 30 \text{ m}\Omega$ ,  $r_{OFF} = 55 \text{m}\Omega$ ,  $V_D = 0.34 \text{V}$ ,  $f_C = 50 \text{ kHz}$ , Epn = 4V,  $I_{BASE} = 800 \text{ m}A$ ,  $L_W = 50 \mu\text{H}$  and  $L_{pu} = 10\%$ .

# 5.3 Inter-Bridge Voltage Balancing

While the intra-bridge voltages refers to the voltages internal to the MBB, this section details the operation of the series connected MBBs, in order to balance an entire



Fig. 5-10. Topological configuration of two cascaded MBBs with two four-winding toroids to illustrate the inter-bridge winding connection to adjacent MBBs

battery string. Instead of using two internal windings, as for Section 5.2, two inter-bridge windings, from Fig. 5-3 b), cascade the voltage balancing effect through 'N' number of cells with 'N/2' MBBs. Therefore, this section derives the average inter-bridge balancing current as a function of the circuit parameters used in the MBB. The discussion evolves in an identical fashion as Section 5.2, but with a focus on four battery cells (two intra-bridge and two inter-bridge) employed in the balancing operation, i.e. Fig 5-10.

With the inter-bridge windings connected to neighboring MBBs, the unbalance  $\Delta$  does not impact the inter-bridge voltage balancing, as by definition, the intra-bridge balancing does not magnetize the core. However, before the detailed operation is discussed for this aspect of the balancing operation, it is important to mention the simulation model, as shown in Fig. 5-11. In the simulation model, the general MBB topology is stacked to balance four battery cells, with the same devices as used in Section 5.2. Furthermore, the four-winding coupled inductor is modeled using the same two-winding model as in Section 5.2, but with an ideal 1:1 transformer coupling those two windings to another set of windings for the opposing MBB. This four winding coupled inductor arrangement is depicted in Fig. 5-12.

# 5.3.1 Basic Operation of the MBB for Unbalanced Inter-bridge Voltages

The average of the two adjacent MBB battery voltages is defined as  $\overline{E_{12}}$ , as per (5.21), and the inter-bridge voltage unbalance,  $\alpha$ , is therefore defined in (5.22). To explain the inter-bridge balancing, the base voltage,  $E_{BASE}$ , is set to  $\overline{E_{12}}$  - although, this



Fig. 5-12. SPICE simulation model of the two cascaded four-winding coupled inductors used in the inter-bridge balancing for the MBBs



Fig. 5-11. SPICE simulation of the power electronics model for the two MBBs

base voltage should be the same average voltage as Epn (Section 5.2), given that that the base voltage is the battery cell voltage used. Since each adjacent MBB does not share the same magnetic core, i.e. Figs. 5-13 a) and b), the difference in magnetizing voltage causes a net balancing current,  $i_{\alpha}$  in Fig. 5-10, which is limited by the leakage inductance of the two adjacent windings, i.e.  $4L_{e}$ , as shown in Fig. 5-13 c).

$$\overline{\mathrm{E}_{12}} = \left(\overline{\mathrm{Epn}_{1}} + \overline{\mathrm{Epn}_{2}}\right)/2 \tag{5.21}$$

$$\alpha = \left(\overline{\text{Epn}_{1}} - \overline{\text{Epn}_{2}}\right) / \left(\overline{\text{Epn}_{1}} + \overline{\text{Epn}_{2}}\right)$$
(5.22)

The balancing current,  $i_{\alpha}$ , removes charge from the MBB with the higher than average voltage,  $\overline{E_{12}}(1+\alpha)$ , and places the charge into the MBB with the lower than average voltage,  $\overline{E_{12}}(1-\alpha)$ , until the per-unit voltage unbalance,  $\alpha$ , is reduced to zero. This resultant balancing current is termed the 'inter-bridge balancing current',  $i_{\alpha}$ , and the average of this current is related to the inter-bridge balancing power.



Fig. 5-13. Ideal equivalent circuits for the inter-bridge voltage balancing with magnetizing current illustrated: a) positive excitation and b) negative excitation with c) inter-bridge balancing current

Whereas in the intra-bridge case, the module currents were increased or decreased by an equal and opposite balancing current; in the inter-bridge scenario, this effect is instead present in the 'bridge' currents,  $i_N$ , associated with the MBB<sub>N</sub>. These currents are the sum of the magnetizing and balancing current, i.e.  $i_1 = i_{M,1} + i_{\alpha}$ , and  $i_2 = i_{M,2} - i_{\alpha}$ . With this definition in mind, consider Fig. 5-14, which depicts the bridge current with an increasing inter-bridge per-unit voltage unbalance of  $\alpha = 1\%$ , 2%, and 3% and a per-unit inductance of 10%. Whereas the intra-bridge currents had a period of increasing balancing current after the switches had turned off, this is not the case for the balancing current, as seen in Fig. 5-14. Considering only the balancing current in Fig. 5-15, outside of the on-state diode voltage drop, the magnetization and de-magnetization periods excite the leakage reactance equally.

As in Section 5.2, the average inter-bridge balancing current is a function of the physical parameters of the circuit and the per-unit voltage unbalance,  $\alpha$ . Again, using triangular area formulas, the average balancing current over a switching period, T<sub>s</sub>, is given in (5.23). The diode voltage drop acts to reduce the duration of balancing, by the per-unit diode voltage drop, as per (5.23). Additionally, as for the intra-bridge case, the ratio of per-unit voltage unbalance to leakage inductance is set to 0.5 (as one bridge current is zero here), giving the ideal maximum dc balancing current, as in (5.24).

$$\overline{\mathbf{i}_{\alpha}} \approx \frac{\mathbf{I}_{\text{BASE}}}{4} \left[ \frac{\alpha}{\mathbf{L}_{\text{pu}}} \right] \cdot \left[ \frac{1}{1 + \mathbf{v}_{\text{D}}} \right]$$
(5.23)

$$(\overline{i_{\alpha}})_{max} = I_{BASE} / 8 \text{ for } \alpha / L_{pu} = 0.5$$
 (5.24)



Fig. 5-14. Bridge currents for an inter-bridge unbalance  $\alpha = 1$ , 2, and 3% for MBB<sub>1</sub> and MBB<sub>2</sub>.  $r_{ON} = 30 \text{ m}\Omega$ ,  $r_{OFF} = 55 \text{m}\Omega$ ,  $V_D = 0.34 \text{V}$ ,  $f_C = 100 \text{ kHz}$ ,  $E_{BASE} = 4 \text{V}$ ,  $I_{BASE} = 400 \text{ mA}$ ,  $L_W = 100 \mu$ H and  $L_{pu} = 10\%$ .



Fig. 5-15. Inter-bridge balancing current,  $i_{\alpha}$ , between MBB1 and MBB2 for an inter-bridge voltage unbalance  $\alpha = 1$ , 2, and 3%.  $r_{ON} = 30 \text{ m}\Omega$ ,  $r_{OFF} = 55\text{m}\Omega$ ,  $V_D = 0.34\text{V}$ ,  $I_{BASE} = 400 \text{ mA}$ ,  $f_C = 100 \text{ kHz}$ , Epn = 4V,  $L_W = 100 \text{ }\mu\text{H}$  and  $L_{pu} = 10\%$ .

As a validation of (5.23), consider the plot of the predicted average balancing current produced by this equation against a simulation, as shown in Fig. 5-16. Like the lower base current value comparison in Section 5.2.1, the inter-bridge predictions are shown to follow closely the simulation, while ignoring the parasitic device resistances. However, due to the increased number of devices, these resistances have a more pronounced impact on the inter-bridge balancing current had up to a 15% percent gain in accuracy at high base current values, while taking into account the device resistances, Section 5.3.2 shows an even greater impact on the inter-bridge balancing current due to these parasitic effects.

Lastly, the module currents of each respective MBB (i.e. MBB<sub>1</sub> and MBB<sub>2</sub>) is shown in Fig. 5-17, with  $L_{pu} = 10\%$ ,  $\alpha = 1\%$ ,  $\Delta_1 = \Delta_2 = 1\%$ . The average of the module



Fig. 5-16. Predicted and simulated average inter-bridge balancing current from (5.23) against the per-unit voltage unbalance to leakage inductance ratio for  $I_{BASE} = 200$ , 400 and 800 mA. Device parameters:  $r_{ON} = 30 \text{ m}\Omega$ ,  $r_{OFF} = 55 \text{m}\Omega$ ,  $V_D = 0.34 \text{V}$ ,  $E_{12} = 4 \text{V}$ ,  $L_W = 100 \text{ }\mu\text{H}$  and  $L_{pu} = 10\%$ . Base currents are obtained with  $f_C = 200$ , 100 and 50 kHz.



Fig. 5-17. Module currents for MBB<sub>1</sub> and MBB<sub>2</sub> with  $\alpha = \Delta = 1\%$ . Device parameters:  $r_{ON} = 30$  m $\Omega$ ,  $r_{OFF} = 55m\Omega$ ,  $V_D = 0.34V$ ,  $f_C = 100$  kHz, Epn = 4V,  $I_{BASE} = 400$  mA,  $L_W = 100 \mu$ H and  $L_{pu} = 10\%$ .

currents,  $(i_p + i_n)/2$ , produce the bridge currents for each respective MBB. As the module currents are increased or decreased relative to the average bridge voltage, the intra-bridge unbalance, by definition, is not impacted by these voltage unbalances. However, Fig. 5-17 serves to illustrate that while the balancing parameters are independent of one another, the device current stresses is the result of both intra and inter-bridge voltage unbalances.

#### 5.3.2 First Order Approximation of the Device Parameter Effects

As in the intra-bridge case, for base currents closer to the MOSFET current rating (i.e. where the device voltage drops can be significant), a simple account of the parasitic effects on the balancing performance is necessary. Moreover, it is important to understand how the parasitic device resistances affects the balancing (intra or interbridge), as these parameters can vary widely with the selection of devices. Therefore, this



Fig. 5-18. Approximate parasitic equivalent circuits with magnetizing current paths for a) positive excitation and b) negative excitation with the differential current,  $i_a$ , equivalent circuit during c) the switch conduction time and d) the diode conduction time

section details the development of the dc inter-bridge balancing current prediction with a simple first order approximation of the device resistances.

By adding the series resistances to the balancing paths for both the magnetization and de-magnetization periods, the equivalent circuit of Fig. 5-13 is reproduced in Fig. 5-18. While the intra-bridge balancing current exist on a per module basis (meaning that  $2i_{\Delta}$ effectively balanced the two batteries), the inter-bridge has only one path from each MBB. Consequently, the number of devices in series with the inter-bridge balancing current is increased when compared to the intra-bridge case, and therefore the effect of the parasitic device resistances is greater on the inter-bridge balancing current.

Fig. 5-18 c) illustrates the equivalent inter-bridge balancing circuit, during the magnetization period, when considering the parasitic device resistances. In the same manner as (5.9) to (5.14), the inter-bridge per-unit voltage unbalance,  $\alpha_{ON}$ , can be expressed in (5.25). However, unlike the intra-bridge balancing current, the inter-bridge balancing current does not continue to increase in magnitude after the switch turns off; therefore, during the de-magnetization period, or the diode conduction period, the voltage drop, V<sub>OFF</sub>, adds to the de-magnetization voltage, as in (5.26). Knowing that the peak balancing current is related to the diode conduction period as in (5.27), the net effect on the inter-bridge per-unit voltage unbalance,  $\alpha_{OFF}$ , is given in (5.28).

$$\alpha_{\rm ON} = \alpha \cdot \frac{1}{1 + r_{\rm ON}/4L_{\rm W}L_{\rm pu}f_{\rm C}}$$
(5.25)

$$\frac{\mathrm{di}_{\alpha}}{\mathrm{dt}} = -\left[\frac{\overline{\mathrm{E}_{12}} + \mathrm{V}_{\mathrm{OFF}}}{\mathrm{L}_{\mathrm{W}}\mathrm{L}_{\mathrm{pu}}}\right] \tag{5.26}$$

$$\Rightarrow 0 \approx i_{\alpha,peak} - \left[\frac{\alpha \overline{E_{12}} + V_{OFF}}{L_W L_{pu}}\right] \cdot \frac{T_S}{2} & V_{OFF} = \frac{i_{\alpha,peak} r_{OFF}}{2}$$

$$\Rightarrow \left[\frac{\alpha \overline{E_{12}}}{L_W L_{pu}}\right] \cdot \frac{T_S}{2} \approx i_{\alpha,peak} - \frac{i_{\alpha,peak} r_{OFF}}{4L_W L_{pu}}$$

$$\Rightarrow \left[\frac{\alpha \overline{E_{12}}}{L_W L_{pu}}\right] \cdot \frac{T_S}{2} \approx i_{\alpha,peak} \left(1 - \frac{r_{OFF}}{4L_W L_{pu}}\right)$$

$$\therefore \quad \alpha_{OFF} \approx \frac{\alpha}{(1 + r_{OFF} / 4L_W L_{pu} f_C)}$$
(5.27)
(5.27)
(5.28)

However, as the balancing current is affected by the on and off state device resistance paths, key regions are necessary to derive the average of this current. Consider Fig. 5-19 and Fig. 5-20, which illustrate the bridge currents and balancing current waveforms respectively under increasing  $\alpha$ , with device parameters:  $r_{ON} = 30m\Omega$ ,  $r_{OFF} = 55m\Omega$ , and  $V_D = 0.34V$ . These waveforms are reproduced under a base current of 8A, rather than 400mA, as in Figs. 5-14 and 15.



Fig. 5-19. Bridge currents for a voltage unbalance  $\alpha = 1\%$  for MBB<sub>1</sub> and MBB<sub>2</sub>. Device parameters:  $r_{ON} = 30 \text{ m}\Omega$ ,  $r_{OFF} = 55 \text{m}\Omega$ ,  $V_D = 0.34 \text{V}$ ,  $f_C = 50 \text{ kHz}$ ,  $E_{12} = 4 \text{V}$ ,  $I_{BASE} = 8 \text{ A}$ ,  $L_W = 5 \mu \text{H}$  and  $L_{pu} = 10\%$ .

The first point about the influence of the series device resistances is the effect during the diode conduction state. The period marked ' $T_A$ ' in Fig. 5-19 marks the point at which the balancing current hits 0A, and the period marked ' $T_B$ ' marks the point at which the bridge current hits 0A. Region  $T_A$  is the direct result of the mismatch between on and off resistances during each respective conduction period, e.g. the device resistances differ by 30:55m $\Omega$  in Fig. 5-19. One significant difference with the inter-bridge balancing current is that this current is bipolar - i.e. negative balancing current can exist. Therefore, due to having bipolar current flow, the mismatch of device resistances



Fig. 5-20. Inter-bridge balancing current,  $i_{\alpha}$ , between MBB<sub>1</sub> and MBB<sub>2</sub> for a voltage imbalance  $\alpha = 1$  %. Device parameters:  $r_{ON} = 30 \text{ m}\Omega$ ,  $r_{OFF} = 55 \text{m}\Omega$ ,  $V_D = 0.34 \text{V}$ ,  $I_{BASE} = 8 \text{ A}$ ,  $f_C = 50 \text{ kHz}$ ,  $E_{12} = 4 \text{V}$ ,  $L_W = 5 \mu\text{H}$  and  $L_{pu} = 10\%$ .

can cause the inter-bridge balancing currents to reverse, as clearly possibly on examination of the equivalent circuit in Fig. 5-18 c) and d). This subtracts from the net inter-bridge balancing current, and increases until one of the bridge currents hits zero, i.e. time  $T_B$ .

Therefore, from Figs. 5-19 and 5-20, because of the effect of device resistances, conduction periods,  $T_A$  and  $T_B$ , must be taken into account for the average balancing current derivation. To simplify the equations, let 'a' and 'b' be the co-efficient that scale  $T_S/2$  to each conduction period,  $T_A$  and  $T_B$ .

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{di_{\alpha(ON)}}{dt} \cdot \frac{T_S}{2} &- \frac{di_{\alpha(OFF)}}{dt} \cdot T_A = 0 \\ \frac{\alpha_{ON} \overline{E_{12}}}{L_W L_{pu}} \cdot \frac{T_S}{2} &= \frac{\alpha_{OFF} \overline{E_{12}}}{L_W L_{pu}} \cdot T_A \\ \therefore \quad T_A &= \frac{\alpha_{ON}}{\alpha_{OFF}} \cdot \frac{T_S}{2} = a \cdot \frac{T_S}{2} \\ \frac{di_{2(ON)}}{dt} \cdot \frac{T_S}{2} - \frac{di_{2(OFF)}}{dt} \cdot T_B = 0 \\ \frac{\overline{E_{12}}}{L_W} \cdot \frac{T_S}{2} \left(1 + \alpha_{ON} + \frac{2\alpha_{ON}}{L_{pu}}\right) = \frac{\overline{E_{12}}}{L_W} \cdot T_B \left(1 + \alpha_{OFF} + \frac{2\alpha_{OFF}}{L_{pu}}\right) \\ \therefore \quad T_B &= \frac{(1 + \alpha_{ON} + 2\alpha_{ON} / L_{pu})}{(1 + \alpha_{OFF} + 2\alpha_{OFF} / L_{pu})} \cdot \frac{T_S}{2} = b \cdot \frac{T_S}{2} \end{aligned}$$
(5.30)

With  $T_A$  and  $T_B$ , along with the on and off time per-unit inter-bridge voltage unbalance, the average balancing current can be derived as the sum of the average waveform over the periods: 0 to  $T_S/2$ ,  $T_S/2$  to  $T_A$ ,  $T_A$  to  $T_B$ , and  $T_B$  to  $T_S$ , as per (5.31).

105

$$\begin{split} \overline{i_{\Delta}} &= \frac{T_{S}/2}{T_{S}} \frac{(i_{\alpha,peak@T_{S}/2})}{2} + \frac{T_{A}}{T_{S}} \frac{(i_{\alpha,peak@T_{S}/2})}{2} + \\ &\frac{T_{B} - T_{A}}{T_{S}} \frac{(i_{\alpha,peak@T_{B}})}{2} + \frac{T_{S} - T_{B}}{T_{S}} \frac{(i_{\alpha,peak@T_{B}})}{2} \\ &\overline{i_{\Delta}} &= \frac{1}{2} \frac{(i_{\alpha,peak@T_{S}/2})}{2} + \frac{a}{2} \frac{(i_{\alpha,peak@T_{S}/2})}{2} + \\ &\frac{(b-a)}{2} \frac{(i_{\alpha,peak@T_{S}})}{2} + \frac{(1-b)}{2} \frac{(i_{\alpha,peak@T_{B}})}{2} \\ i_{\alpha,peak@T_{S}/2} &= \frac{I_{BASE}}{2} \cdot \left[ \frac{\alpha_{ON}}{L_{pu}} \right] \quad \& i_{\alpha,peak@T_{B}} = -\frac{I_{BASE}}{2} \cdot \left[ \frac{\alpha_{OFF}}{L_{pu}} \right] (b-a) \\ &\therefore \quad \overline{i_{\alpha}} &= \frac{I_{BASE}}{8} \left( \frac{\alpha_{ON}}{L_{PU}} (1+a) - \frac{\alpha_{OFF}}{L_{PU}} (b-a) (1-a) \right) \cdot \left[ \frac{1}{1+v_{D}} \right] \end{split}$$
(5.31)

With device parameters  $r_{ON}=30m\Omega$ ,  $r_{OFF}=55m\Omega$ ,  $V_D=0.34V$  and with  $I_{BASE} = 4A$  and 8A, a simulation and the predictions from (5.31) are illustrated in Fig. 5-21, along with the predictions from (5.23). In the case of the 4A base current case, Fig, 5-21 a), the first order approximation drops the error from a high of 30% down to 4.5%, and 33% compared to 7.5% for the 8A base current test case in Fig. 5-21 b).



Fig. 5-21. Average inter-bridge average current: predicted using (5.23), predicted using (5.31) and simulated values for a)  $I_{BASE} = 4A$ , and b)  $I_{BASE} = 8A$ . Simulated device parameters:  $r_{ON} = 30 \text{ m}\Omega$ ,  $r_{OFF} = 55\text{m}\Omega$ ,  $V_D = 0.34\text{V}$ ,  $T_S = 10 \text{ }\mu\text{s}$ , Epn = 4V,  $L_W = 5 \text{ }\mu\text{H}$  and  $L_{pu} = 10\%$ . Base current values are obtained for  $f_C = 100 \text{ kHz}$  in a) and 50 kHz in b).

### 5.3.3 Resultant Voltage Balancing

With the two MBB units cascaded, as per Fig. 5-10, 1 mF capacitors were used to simulate batteries with an initial per-unit inter-bridge voltage unbalance of 4%, as per Fig. 5-22 a). These results are achieved with  $I_{BASE} = 800$  mA,  $E_{BASE} = 4V$ ,  $L_W = 50 \mu$ H,  $L_{pu} = 10\%$  and  $f_C = 50$  kHz. Like the intra-bridge voltage balancing case, the unbalance converges to zero. However, when compared to Fig. 5-9, the inter-bridge balancing is slower, due to having only one balancing current path (compared to two for the intra-

bridge circuit). With the same circuit parameters, this point can be further emphasized by considering the balancing rates with  $\alpha = 4\%$ , and  $\Delta = 2\%$ , as in Fig 5-22 b).



Fig. 5-22. Simulated inter-bridge voltage balancing of four 1 mF capacitors with a)  $\alpha$ = 4% and b)  $\alpha$  = 4% and  $\Delta$  = 2%. Simulated device parameters:  $r_{ON}$  = 30 mΩ,  $r_{OFF}$  = 55mΩ,  $V_D$  = 0.34V,  $f_C$  = 50 kHz,  $E_{12}$  = 4V,  $I_{BASE}$  = 800 mA,  $L_W$  = 50 µH and  $L_{pu}$  =10%.

# 5.4 Peak Balancing Power versus Transformer Size

In this section, the balancing power of the MBB is estimated and an approach to the sizing of a commercial transformer is presented. As the MBB is intended to be a modular, low-cost solution, a commercial transformer is selected and the minimum switching frequency for each transformer is calculated to achieve the maximum balancing power. With the commercial transformer selected, an estimate of the power density of the MBB is obtained against available transformers in the same series.

The net result of the discussion presented in Sections 5.2 and 5.3 is the development of an average balancing current expression, for both the intra-bridge and inter-bridge balancing behaviors. The ratio of the per-unit leakage inductance to the per-unit voltage imbalances sets a maximum limit for the average balancing current that can flow, which is proportional to the base current,  $I_{BASE}$ . With a given transformer and winding inductance, the maximum rms current and the peak magnetizing current is calculated. Since the inter-bridge voltage unbalance affects the magnetizing current, the peak magnetizing current is obtained using the bridge current slopes of Fig. 5-14 giving (5.32). When the ratio of per-unit leakage inductance to voltage imbalance is 1:2, one module current is essentially zero and the other is twice the magnetizing current. With the magnetizing current given in (5.32), the maximum rms module current can be calculated as in (5.33).

$$\hat{i}_{M} \approx \frac{I_{BASE}}{4} (1+\alpha)$$
 (5.32)

$$i_{p,RMS} \approx \frac{I_{BASE}}{2\sqrt{2}} (1+\alpha)$$
 (5.33)

Thus, with the use of (5.32) and (5.33), key device ratings can be calculated for the selection of the transformer and power electronics.

One of the primary benefits of the MBB is that it does not require custom designed transformers, which depend on the number of battery cells used in the system. Therefore, a six-winding transformer ('hexapath') with a 1:1 ratio for each winding, is selected from Coilcraft [105]. Using this line of transformers, with two windings connected in parallel for the intra-bridge connections (to increase the total current capability), and using (5.32) and (5.33), the circuit parameters are iteratively modified to keep within rated thermal limits. With a cell voltage of 4V, the remaining manipulated variable is the switching frequency. Therefore, while a low switching frequency maximizes the balancing capability, the switching frequency must increase to keep below rated copper losses and saturation values. To illustrate this, the 'HP' line from the 'hexapath' series from Coilcraft is selected - with six core sizes and five different air-gap lengths. With the switching frequency and magnetizing inductance given by the inductor selected,  $\Delta = \alpha = 5\%$ , and  $L_{pu} = 10\%$  in (5.8), (5.23), (5.32) and (5.33), with  $E_{BASE} = 4V$ , the peak balancing power can be determined in (5.34).

$$P_{MAX} = 2E_{BASE} \left( \overline{\tilde{i}_{\varepsilon}} \right)_{max}, \text{ where } \varepsilon = \alpha \text{ or } \Delta$$
(5.34)



Fig. 5-23. Commercially available "hexa-path" inductors from Coilcraft [105] with peak balancing power and inductor weight shown as a function of balancing currents,  $i_{\alpha}$  and  $i_{\Delta}$ .  $\Delta = \alpha = 5\%$ ,  $L_{pu} = 10\%$ . Ideal devices assumed, and power is obtained at the switches frequencies in Fig. 5-24.

In Table 5-1, with the 'HP2' series selected, the winding inductances, weight and specific current limits are illustrated. With the series HP1 to HP6, a peak power-

balancing graph is produced, as per Fig. 5-23, and the switching frequency required to obtain each power level illustrated in Fig. 5-24.



Fig. 5-24. Commercially available hexa-path inductors from Coilcraft [105] with corresponding switching frequency required to obtain the peak power illustrated in Fig. 5-23 for each inductor.  $\Delta = \alpha = 5\%$ , L<sub>pu</sub> = 10%. Ideal devices are assumed.

Inductor Number	1	2	3	4	5
Name	1600L	0216L	0116L	0083L	0066L
L <sub>W</sub> (μΗ)	78.4	10.6	5.7	4.1	3.2
I <sub>SAT</sub> (A)	-	0.770	1.60	2.10	2.50
I <sub>RMS</sub> (A)	1.13	1.13	1.13	1.13	1.13
Weight (g)	2.75	2.75	2.75	2.75	2.75

Table 5-1. HP2 Series six-winding coupled inductor from Coilcraft [105]

Note that the 'inductor number' of Fig. 5-23 and 5-24 refers to the number within a given series, and compares the ideal power for each transformer size. Note also that the inductor number 1 in each series has no air-gap (and therefore no energy storage), which explains the relatively low balancing power. Using the weight of each transformer, the ideal power density (e.g. W/g) of the MBB, is capable of just under 3.5W/g.

Fig. 5-24 illustrates the required switching frequency from the power electronics to achieve the balancing power of Fig. 5-23. This figure is an important dimension to the power capability of the transformers HP1 and HP2 - as these transformers are the lightest, with the highest power density. However, from Fig. 5-24, it is clear that a significantly higher switching frequency is necessary for the higher inductor numbers compared to the other lines.

## 5.5 Practical Device Switching Issues

Since the automatic voltage balancing operation relies on the synchronized excitation of each four winding coupled inductor, this section details the



Fig. 5-25. The effect of a non-linear C<sub>DG</sub> (simulated via external capacitor) on the module currents of a single MBB with Δ = 5%. f<sub>C</sub> = 95 kHz, L<sub>W</sub> = 78.6µH, E<sub>12</sub> = 4V and L<sub>pu</sub> = 10%.
non-ideal switching behavior, and its influence on the balancing behavior. Therefore, the goal of this section is to allow the designer additional considerations when selecting the power electronic components.

One non-ideal effect is the control signal delay that can exist between the gating signals of the MBBs. Essentially, this time difference causes one switch to turn off earlier, and since this is not common in both windings, a differential voltage is created across the leakage reactance of the transformer. This in turn negates the balancing current, as depicted in Fig. 5-25, shown as ' $i_{drop}$ '. However, even with synchronized switching, a delay difference can still occur due to improper device selection. Since the MBB is a discontinuous conduction converter, the turn on current magnitude is zero. During the turn-off time though, the device sees the full module current.

With a FET device, the turn-off time is related to the charging of a capacitor,  $C_{GD}$  (realistically  $C_{GD}+C_{DS}$  [94]), as shown in Fig. 5-26 c). The voltage across  $C_{GD}$  is essentially zero when the switch is on, but charges to the blocking voltage during switch off. However, the device capacitances for a MOSFET device can be non-linear with the blocking voltage [94]. As an example, consider two device capacitance curves of two commercial MOSFETs in Figs. 5-26 a) and b). If a pair of MBB MOSFETs is blocking 8.16V and the other pair is blocking 7.84V (i.e.  $\alpha = 2\%$ , for  $E_{BASE} = 4V$ ), and if the switch utilized is from Fig. 5-26 a),  $C_{GD}$  can vary from 45pF to 55pF. With each pair of devices having a slightly different  $C_{GD}$ , they will exhibit slightly different turn off times. However, if the switch selected is from Fig. 5-26 b), where  $C_{GD}$  is approximately linear in the operating range, then the two MBBs will switch in synchronism - maximizing the balancing power. Therefore, the selected power electronics should be selected to operating in a linear region of its device capacitances versus blocking voltage, i.e. close to the device's rated voltage.



Fig. 5-26. Device blocking voltage V<sub>DS</sub> versus device capacitances for two example devices: a)
 30V, 5A MOSFET [106] and b) 20V, 6A MOSFET [107]. Device capacitances for MOSFETs are illustrated in c).

#### 5.6 Experimental Setup

In order to validate conclusions made via simulation and demonstrate the MBB operation, an experimental prototype consisting of two MBBs is constructed, as in Fig. 5-27. Two HP2-0216L "hexa-path" inductors were selected as each MBB's coupled inductor, giving  $L_W = 10.6 \mu$ H and  $L_{pu} \approx 1\%$ . Each MBB had two filter inductors (L = 1.6 $\mu$ H) to limit the effects of switching mismatch, raising the total  $L_{pu} \approx 15\%$ . Additionally, to illustrate how the parasitic resistive effects can impact the balancing current, two HP2-0116L coupled inductors were also used with the parameters:  $L_W = 5.6 \mu$ H, and  $L_{pu}$  is designed to be 5%.

Four 20V, 5A MOSFET modules (AO3420) [107] were driven at a 50% duty cycle, from a Texas Instruments F2812 DSP unit at a switching frequency of 100 kHz for the HP2-0216L results ( $L_W = 10.6 \mu$ H) and 95 kHz for the HP2-0116L results. The MOSFET modules were chosen due to the operational parameters and relatively their linear device capacitances around the balancing range of the circuit. Note the device parameters for the circuit:  $V_D = 0.3V$  (schottky diodes),  $r_{OFF} = 60 \text{ m}\Omega$  and  $r_{ON} = 30 \text{ m}\Omega$  (with 10 m $\Omega$  attributed to winding/miscellaneous resistances).



Fig. 5-27. Experimental prototype shown with four 20Ah batteries and two HP2-0116L 'hexawinding' transformers

To demonstrate the experimental winding currents, and draw conclusions about the bridge currents, four 1mF capacitors were loaded with resistors to allow for quick manipulation of  $\alpha$  and  $\Delta$ . However, as the circuit is intended for battery operation, a prototype, Fig. 5-27, is designed around four 20Ah Li-polymer batteries ePLB-C020, from EIG [104], and the balancing operation is demonstrated using two coupled inductors with an order of magnitude difference in inductance: HP2-1600L (L<sub>w</sub> = 78.4 µH) and the HP2-0116L (L<sub>w</sub> = 6.8 µH). This was intended to emphasize the difference in balancing power, and both units are designed with L<sub>pu</sub> = 5% in this scenario.

## 5.7 Experimental Results

In the experimental results, three main categories are discussed. One is the accuracy of the simulation tools relative to the measured experimental results. This is an important consideration, as the predictions from Sections 5.2 and 5.3 are verified against the simulated results. Another subject is the effect of the parasitic resistance on the balancing of the circuit. With the presented results, two test cases are given: one with little to no apparent effect of the device resistances and another with a very apparent effect on the device resistances. Finally, the MBB will be used to balance four batteries that have a inter-bridge voltage unbalance. The main point from this result is the difference between the selected coupled inductors and their effect on the balancing time of the 20Ah batteries.

The module currents, within the two MBBs, are presented for the simulated and experimental results given the high  $L_{pu}$  scenario, and the HP2-0216L inductor in Fig. 5-28 a) and b) respectively. Conversely, with the same devices, but differing  $L_{pu}$  and using the HP2-0116L inductor, the simulated and experimental results are shown for the

simulated and experimental results in Fig. 5-29 a) and b). These two figures illustrate the effect when the device voltage drop across the parasitic resistance in Fig. 5-28 is small, compared to a large device voltage drop, as shown in Fig. 5-29. This result is further emphasised in the bridge currents, taken with varying  $\alpha$ , for both inductors in Fig. 5-30. Finally, the average battery voltage versus time is given in Fig. 5-31 for the lowest balancing power inductor in the HP2 line (the gap-less HP2-1600L), and the HP2-0116L.

# 5.8 Discussion

The module currents displayed in Figs. 5-28 and 5-29 closely match the experimental with the simulated values. However, for the case with the 5% leakage inductance, Fig. 5-29, more differences exist due to the simulated switch model and estimation of winding resistances. Furthermore, while the peak module currents are matched quite well between the simulated and experimental results, the diode conduction periods differ in terms of slope. This can be attributed to differences in the simulated diode module during the switch turn off time, compared to the actual experimental results. However, the 'rounded' waveform characteristic of the low per-unit inductance case clearly suggests the influence of device resistances, and this result is present in both the simulated and experimental cases.

The bridge currents also emphasize the effects of device resistance. With a low per-unit leakage inductance, more balancing current flows for a given base current. With the device parameters given, the expected time period  $T_A$  is roughly 1.6 µs (approximate as the low  $L_{pu}$  case uses 95 kHz switching frequency) and 4.32 µs. The measured period  $T_A$  is roughly 1.25 µs for the low  $L_{pu}$  case and approximately 4 µs for the high  $L_{pu}$  case, confirming that the first order approximation is sufficient for design purposes. The predicted average inter-bridge balancing currents for the 2% cases are 243mA and 111mA. The actual measured average currents are 258mA and 120mA, or 6% and 7.5% error respectively. If the device resistances are ignored in the predictions, the currents are predicted to be 726mA and 117mA or 181% and 2.5% error respectively. Clearly, ignoring the device resistances will severally underestimate the inter-bridge balancing current.

Fig. 5-31 illustrates the balancing of four battery cells over time with two different inductors. It is clear from the trend line of the HP2-1600L inductor that, while



Fig. 5-28. Module currents a) simulated versus b) experimental for MBB<sub>1</sub> and MBB<sub>2</sub> when  $\alpha = 4.25\%$ ,  $\Delta_1 = 2.4\%$ ,  $\Delta_2 = 0.30\%$ . Simulated device parameters:  $E_{12}=4V$ ,  $f_C = 100$  kHz,  $L_{pu} = 15\%$  and  $L_W = 10.6 \mu$ H,  $V_D = 0.3V$ ,  $r_{OFF} = 60 \text{ m}\Omega$  and  $r_{ON} = 30 \text{ m}\Omega$ 



Fig. 5-29. Module currents: a) simulated versus b) experimental for MBB<sub>1</sub> and MBB<sub>2</sub> when  $\alpha = 1.81\%$ ,  $\Delta_1 = 0.73\%$ ,  $\Delta_2 = 0.89\%$ . Simulated device parameters: E<sub>12</sub>=4V, f<sub>C</sub> = 95 kHz, L<sub>pu</sub> = 5% and L<sub>W</sub> = 5.6  $\mu$ H, V<sub>D</sub> = 0.3V, r<sub>OFF</sub> = 60 m $\Omega$  and r<sub>ON</sub> = 30 m $\Omega$ 



Fig. 5-30. Experimental bridge currents for MBB<sub>1</sub> and MBB<sub>2</sub>: a)  $\alpha = 2$  and 4% with  $L_{pu} = 15\%$ ,  $L_W = 10.6 \mu$ H and  $f_C = 100 \text{ kHz}$ , b)  $\alpha = 1$ , 2 and 3% with  $L_{pu} = 5\%$ ,  $L_W = 5.6 \mu$ H, and  $f_C = 95 \text{ kHz}$ . Simulated device parameters:  $E_{12}=4V$ ,  $V_D = 0.3V$ ,  $r_{OFF} = 60 \text{ m}\Omega$  and  $r_{ON} = 30 \text{ m}\Omega$ 

balancing occurs, the total balancing time would take several days at the given rate. Replacing the HP2-1600L with the HP2-0116L inductor significantly increases the balancing power, and this is evident in Fig. 5-31. Note that the steady state value would be 3.84V (assuming no losses), and the initial  $\alpha$  is 2.6%. While this might seem small, the operating range of the battery is 4.0V to 3.6V. Therefore, the initial unbalance represents nearly 50% of the total operational region of the batteries, and it is unlikely that the circuit would experience this magnitude of unbalance in practice.



Fig. 5-31. MBB<sub>1</sub> and MBB<sub>2</sub> battery cell voltages against time (in hours) with an initial unbalance of  $\alpha = 1\%$  using two 'hexa-path' transformers: HP2-1600L (L<sub>W</sub> = 78.6 µH) and HP2-0116L (L<sub>W</sub> = 5.6 µH) design with L<sub>pu</sub> = 5% and f<sub>C</sub> = 95 kHz.

## 5.9 Chapter Summary

A modular converter is presented that uses the natural leakage inductance of a four-winding coupled inductor to automatically control the voltage balancing of serially connected batteries. Although chosen for the presentation simplicity of using four battery cells, this circuit is intended for large battery strings, as present in modern transportation applications. This chapter demonstrated the size requirements versus the average balancing power, practical design details that limit the balancing rate and the effect of component values on the balancing power. This balancing action allows for minimized control hardware, and coupled with the modular nature of the converter system, cost effectiveness for traditionally costly non-dissipative balancing systems.

# **Chapter 6 - Conclusions and Future Work**

The research contributions described in this thesis were in both theoretical and experimental. The suggestions for future work extends on two possible themes: possible improvements in the modulation schemes that eliminate the common mode voltages in coupled inductor converters, and improving the modular balancing bridge for balancing speed at smaller voltage differences.

## 6.1 Summary of Contributions

The contributions made in this thesis can be summarized as follows:

- Identification of non-zero common mode winding states that exist when a threelimb coupled inductor is used in a three-phase coupled inductor converter.
- Presentation of a carrier-based modulation technique for the SS-CIC to highlight the challenges involved in the elimination of these common mode winding voltages.
- Experimental development of a 60 kW, dual six-switch converter system. This system was used to illustrate the common mode winding voltages present in traditional modulation schemes and their resultant common mode currents.
- Experimental development of a 10 kW, asymmetric half-bridge based, SS-CIC prototype. This prototype was used to illustrate the efficiency of the converter when the load rating was similar to the rated power of the converter.
- The development of a three-phase, five-level NPC coupled inductor converter (NPC-CIC) from the ACIB. By moving to a five-level platform, the potential to eliminate the output filter is possible, thereby increasing the power density of the multi-level converter, and potentially lowering costs.
- A space vector based approach was described that eliminates the common mode winding voltages in the five-level NPC-CIC. The space vector based approach was justified on the basis of converter complexity, and the ease with which the output voltage conversion quality can be optimised with this approach. Additionally, a space vector based analysis allows for the consideration of device switching frequency - an important aspect to converter efficiency.
- Experimental development of a 10 kW, asymmetric half-bridge based NPC-CIC prototype. This converter was developed to validate the space vector based

approach against other approaches that did not eliminate the common mode winding voltages.

- The development of a modular balancing bridge (MBB) based on the ACIB. The MBB can balance any number of voltage sources, independant of the characteristics of that voltage source, and without the requirement of cell voltage feedback.
- The derivation of the balancing currents for balancing voltages internal to the MBB and for balancing voltages between MBBs to the per-unit circuit parameters. These per-unit circuit parameters are derived to aide in the design of the MBB for an arbitrary number of voltage sources, and is related to a transformer size to illustrate the power density potential of the MBB.
- Experimental validation of the MBB balancing four 20 Ah lithium ion based batteries. A custom circuit was designed and populated with two transformers to illustrate the balancing power between these two transformers. Moreover, the converter was shown to operate for over 15 hours with stable temperatures, confirming that the design discussion presented for the MBB is appropriate.

# 6.2 Future Work

With the ACIB-based dc/ac converters, one promising directive for future rwork is the potential for conversion quality improvement in the space vector based 'common mode winding voltage elimination' approaches. Second, improvements can also be made in the operation of the MBB, with potentially faster correction when 'small' voltage differences are remaining in the battery string.

The space vector based approach described in Chapter 4 is not limited to the fivelevel, NPC-CIC. In fact, this converter was selected due to its optimal properties as a high quality, low-voltage dc/ac converter. However, any coupled inductor based converter can be analyzed in the fashion presented for Chapter 4, as the concept involves applying the condition that all useable vectors must use switching states where the common mode winding voltages sum to zero. Therefore, this approach can be extended to seven-level variants of the coupled inductor converters, or the three-level converter, as presented in Chapter 3.

Moreover, the space vector based approach, described in Chapter 4, details common mode winding elimination, and uses space vector rules to minimize the effect of eliminating these states on conversion quality and device switching frequency. When the



Fig. 6-1. Three-level space vector map of the SS-CIC with common mode winding voltage producing vectors eliminated. The first sextant is used as an example for segmenting the switching of vectors for regions a, b, c and d.

common mode winding voltage zero sum condition is applied, all coupled inductor converters will lose voltage output states at the outer edge of the sextant, e.g. Fig. 6-1. In this thesis, the approach justified using the larger 'three-level' triangles for the five-level converter due to the small impact on conversion quality when at higher modulation depths. However, if this same approach were applied to the SS-CIC, at modulation depths over 0.5, the switching would feature two-level voltage states - significantly reducing the conversion quality over half of the modulation cycle.

In Fig. 6-1, instead of selecting the  $\{1,1,1\}$  or  $\{-1,-1,-1\}$  vectors at modulation depths over 0.5, i.e. instead of using the 'two-level' triangle, the trapezoid can be segmented into non-equilateral triangles, as shown in Fig. 6-1. In this manner, vectors can be included to maintain three-level switching on one or more phases. Therefore, the conversion quality of coupled inductor converters that employ three-limb coupled inductors can be improved at the higher modulation depths.

However, as the segmentation of Fig. 6-1 is into triangles that are not described by 60° axes, the modulation approach would have to change significantly to incorporate these improvements. As an example, the determination of the regions 'a','b','c' or 'd' would incorporate methods not typically found in various space vector related literature. Furthermore, the calculation of the duty cycle of each vector would require a unique transformation for each segment. Lastly, as the number of available vectors is reduced at this point, the manipulation of switching states to minimize the device switching frequency would not be possible. Therefore, for the SS-CIC, the device switching frequency could increase by an appreciable amount. With the modular balancing bridge, the designs presented in this thesis focused on a maximum assumed voltage unbalance. However, this presents a trade off for the designer: if the designed voltage unbalance is too high, the converter will compensate quickly, but as the voltage unbalance converges towards zero, the balancing speed will slow. This is because the balancing speed for the MBB has a negative exponential characteristic that depends on the starting voltage unbalance and the corresponding maximum balancing current.

However, one potential avenue for future work is enabling a 'dual' control mode in the MBB. In this manner, the MBB can be sized for a large voltage unbalance, and will automatically balance this voltage until it reaches a certain threshold. Afterwards, active control can begin to interleave the switching of the MBB units, to balance the remaining small voltages. As the interleaved cells would only see the leakage reactance, large balancing currents can flow, reducing the balancing time dramatically.

# 6.3 Concluding Remarks

This thesis explored the application of an asymmetrical coupled inductor bridge for solving particular limitations in emerging energy systems. The modular approach and reduced number of active devices is selected to keep system costs lower, while maintaining high power density for low-voltage applications. While battery systems are one potential application of this work, it is clear that such systems will begin to play an increased role in our world as low-energy density renewable resources replace highenergy density non-renewable resource. Therefore, it is hoped that this thesis will contribute to improving the performance of certain low-voltage applications, without influencing the cost by an appreciable amount.

# **Bibliography**

- [1] M.H. Rashid, Power Electronics Handbook, Burlington, MA: Elsevier, 2007
- [2] Chan, C.C.; Chau, K.T., "An overview of power electronics in electric vehicles," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.44, no.1, pp.3-13, Feb 1997
- [3] Seung-Ki Sul; Sang-Joon Lee; , "An integral battery charger for four-wheel drive electric vehicle," *Industry Applications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.31, no.5, pp.1096-1099, Sep/Oct 1995
- [4] Khan, F.H.; Tolbert, L.M.; Webb, W.E.; , "Hybrid Electric Vehicle Power Management Solutions Based on Isolated and Nonisolated Configurations of Multilevel Modular Capacitor-Clamped Converter," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.56, no.8, pp.3079-3095, Aug. 2009
- [5] Glinka, M.; Marquardt, R.; , "A new AC/AC multilevel converter family," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.52, no.3, pp. 662-669, June 2005
- [6] Affanni, A.; Bellini, A.; Franceschini, G.; Guglielmi, P.; Tassoni, C.; , "Battery choice and management for new-generation electric vehicles," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.52, no.5, pp. 1343-1349, Oct. 2005
- Jonghoon Kim; Jongwon Shin; Changyoon Chun; Cho, B.H.; , "Stable Configuration of a Li-Ion Series Battery Pack Based on a Screening Process for Improved Voltage/SOC Balancing," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.27, no.1, pp.411-424, Jan. 2012
- [8] www.futurevehicletechnologies.com
- [9] Li Ran; Dawei Xiang; Kirtley, J.L.; , "Analysis of Electromechanical Interactions in a Flywheel System With a Doubly Fed Induction Machine," *Industry Applications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.47, no.3, pp.1498-1506, May-June 2011
- [10] M.M Flynn, "A Methodology for Evaluating and Reducing Rotor Losses, Heating, and Operational Limitations of High-Speed Flywheel Batteries," Ph.D dissertation, Univ. Texas, Austin, TX, 2003
- [11] Knight, A.M.; Salmon, J.; Syed, H.; Vafakhah, B.; Ewanchuk, J.; , "A compact variable speed drive for mobile flywheel energy storage systems," *Electrical Machines (ICEM)*, 2010 XIX International Conference on , vol., no., pp.1-6, 6-8 Sept. 2010
- [12] Peng, F.Z.; , "A generalized multilevel inverter topology with self voltage balancing," *Industry Applications Conference, 2000. Conference Record of the 2000 IEEE*, vol.3, no., pp.2024-2031 vol.3, 2000
- [13] R. H. Baker and L. H. Bannister, "Electric power converter," U.S. Patent 3 867 643, Feb. 1975.
- [14] J. Dixon, A. A. Breton, F. E. Rios, J. Rodriguez, J. Pontt, and M. A. Perez, "High-power machine drive, using non redundant 27-level inverters and active front end rectifiers," IEEE Trans. Power Electron., vol. 22, no. 6, pp. 2527–2533, Nov. 2007.
- [15] Malinowski, M.; Gopakumar, K.; Rodriguez, J.; Pérez, M.A.; , "A Survey on Cascaded Multilevel Inverters," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.57, no.7, pp.2197-2206, July 2010
- [16] M. Perez, J. Rodriguez, J. Pontt, and S. Kouro, "Power distribution in hybrid multi-cell converter with nearest level modulation," in Proc. IEEE ISIE, Jun. 2007, pp. 736–741.
- [17] Tolbert, L.A.; Fang Zheng Peng; Cunnyngham, T.; Chiasson, J.N.; , "Charge balance control schemes for cascade multilevel converter in hybrid electric vehicles," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.49, no.5, pp. 1058-1064, Oct 2002
- [18] Rodriguez, J.; Jih-Sheng Lai; Fang Zheng Peng; , "Multilevel inverters: a survey of topologies, controls, and applications," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.49, no.4, pp. 724-738, Aug 2002

- [19] S. Lu and K. A. Corzine, "Advanced control and analysis of cascaded multilevel converters based on P-Q compensation," IEEE Trans. Power Electron., vol. 22, no. 4, pp. 1242–1252, Jul. 2007.
- [20] Zhong Du; Ozpineci, B.; Tolbert, L.M.; Chiasson, J.N.; , "DC-AC Cascaded H-Bridge Multilevel Boost Inverter With No Inductors for Electric/Hybrid Electric Vehicle Applications," *Industry Applications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.45, no.3, pp.963-970, May-june 2009
- [21] M. Glinka, "Prototype of multiphase modular-multilevel-converter with 2 MW power rating and 17-level-output-voltage," in Proc. IEEE 35th Power Electron. Spec. Conf., 2004, vol. 4, pp. 2572–2576.
- [22] A. Lesnicar and R. Marquardt, "A new modular voltage source inverter topology," in Proc. 10th EPE, 2003, pp. 1–10.
- [23] T. A. Meynard and H. Foch, "Multi-level choppers for high voltage applications," Eur. Power Electron. Drives J., vol. 2, no. 1, p. 41, Mar. 1992.
- [24] C. Hochgraf, R. Lasseter, D. Divan, and T. A. Lipo, "Comparison of multilevel inverters for static var compensation," in Conf. Rec. IEEE-IAS Annu. Meeting, Oct. 1994, pp. 921–928.
- [25] A. Nabae, I. Takahashi, and H. Akagi, "A new neutral-point clamped PWM inverter," IEEE Trans. Ind. Applicat., vol. IA-17, pp. 518–523, Sept./Oct. 1981.
- [26] Teichmann, R.; Bernet, S.; , "A comparison of three-level converters versus two-level converters for low-voltage drives, traction, and utility applications," *Industry Applications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.41, no.3, pp. 855- 865, May-June 2005
- [27] De, S.; Banerjee, D.; Siva Kumar, K.; Gopakumar, K.; Ramchand, R.; Patel, C.; , "Multilevel inverters for low-power application," *Power Electronics, IET*, vol.4, no.4, pp.384-392, April 2011
- [28] Welchko, B.A.; de Rossiter Correa, M.B.; Lipo, T.A.; , "A three-level MOSFET inverter for low-power drives," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.51, no.3, pp. 669-674, June 2004
- [29] D'Errico, L.; Lidozzi, A.; Solero, L.; , "Neutral point clamped converter for high fundamental frequency applications," *Power Electronics, IET*, vol.4, no.3, pp.296-308, March 2011
- [30] Teichmann, R.; Malinowski, M.; Bernet, S.; , "Evaluation of three-level rectifiers for low-voltage utility applications," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.52, no.2, pp. 471-481, April 2005
- [31] Lee, K.; Wenxi Yao; , "Quantitative system compatibility and characteristics analysis of two-level and three-level low voltage industrial drives," *Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE), 2011 IEEE*, vol., no., pp.3442-3449, 17-22 Sept. 2011
- [32] Rodriguez, J.; Bernet, S.; Steimer, P.K.; Lizama, I.E.; , "A Survey on Neutral-Point-Clamped Inverters," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.57, no.7, pp.2219-2230, July 2010
- [33] Soeiro, T.; Kolar, J.; , "The New High Efficiency Hybrid Neutral-Point-Clamped Converter," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.PP, no.99, pp.1, 0
- [34] T. Brückner, S. Bernet, and H. Güldner, "The active NPC converter and its lossbalancing control," IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron., vol. 52, no. 5, pp. 855-868, June 2005
- [35] Schweizer, M.; Lizama, I.; Friedli, T.; Kolar, J.W.; , "Comparison of the chip area usage of 2-level and 3-level voltage source converter topologies," *IECON 2010 - 36th Annual Conference on IEEE Industrial Electronics Society*, vol., no., pp.391-396, 7-10 Nov. 2010
- [36] Schweizer, M.; Kolar, J.W.; , "High efficiency drive system with 3-level T-type inverter," *Power Electronics and Applications (EPE 2011), Proceedings of the 2011-14th European Conference on*, vol., no., pp.1-10, Aug. 30 2011-Sept. 1 2011
- [37] Mahrous, E.A.; Rahim, N.A.; Hew, W.P.; , "Three-phase three-level voltage source inverter with low switching frequency based on the two-level inverter topology," *Electric Power Applications, IET*, vol.1, no.4, pp.637-641, July 2007

- [38] Tsung-Po Chen; , "Dual-Modulator Compensation Technique for Parallel Inverters Using Space-Vector Modulation," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.56, no.8, pp.3004-3012, Aug. 2009
- [39] Younghoon Cho; Koran, A.; Miwa, H.; York, B.; Jih-Sheng Lai; , "An Active Current Reconstruction and Balancing Strategy With DC-Link Current Sensing for a Multi-phase Coupled-Inductor Converter," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.27, no.4, pp.1697-1705, April 2012
- [40] Stanley, G.R.; Bradshaw, K.M.; , "Precision DC-to-AC power conversion by optimization of the output current waveform-the half bridge revisited," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.14, no.2, pp.372-380, Mar 1999
- [41] Asiminoaei, L.; Aeloiza, E.; Enjeti, P.N.; Blaabjerg, F.; , "Shunt Active-Power-Filter Topology Based on Parallel Interleaved Inverters," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.55, no.3, pp.1175-1189, March 2008
- [42] Cougo, B.; Costan, V.; Meynard, T.; Forest, F.; Laboure, E.; , "A new intercell transformer for interleaved converters," *Power Electronics and Applications, 2009. EPE '09. 13th European Conference on*, vol., no., pp.1-10, 8-10 Sept. 2009
- [43] Ogasawara, S.; Takagaki, J.; Akagi, H.; Nabae, A.; , "A novel control scheme of a parallel current-controlled PWM inverter," *Industry Applications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.28, no.5, pp.1023-1030, Sep/Oct 1992
- [44] Asimmoaei, L.; Aeloiza, E.; Kim, J.H.; Enjeti, P.; Blaabjerg, F.; Moran, L.T.; Sul, S.K.; ,
   "An interleaved active power filter with reduced size of passive components," *Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition, 2006. APEC '06. Twenty-First Annual IEEE* , vol., no., pp. 8 pp., 19-23 March 2006
- [45] Chang-Soon Lim; Kui-Jun Lee; Rae-Young Kim; Dong-Seok Hyun; , "Analytical approach of circulating currents mitigation effect using coupled inductor in the parallel three-phase boost converters," *Power Electronics and ECCE Asia (ICPE & ECCE), 2011 IEEE 8th International Conference on*, vol., no., pp.493-498, May 30 2011-June 3 2011
- [46] Ferreira, A.C.; Kennel, R.M.; "Interleaved or sequential switching for increasing the switching frequency," *Power Electronics, 2007. ICPE '07. 7th Internatonal Conference* on, vol., no., pp.738-741, 22-26 Oct. 2007
- [47] Di Zhang; Wang, F.; El-Barbari, S.; Sabate, J.A.; Boroyevich, D.; , "Improved Asymmetric Space Vector Modulation for Voltage Source Converters with Low Carrier Ratio," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.27, no.3, pp.1130-1140, March 2012
- [48] Di Zhang; Fei Wang; Burgos, R.; Boroyevich, D.; , "Common-Mode Circulating Current Control of Paralleled Interleaved Three-Phase Two-Level Voltage-Source Converters With Discontinuous Space-Vector Modulation," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions* on , vol.26, no.12, pp.3925-3935, Dec. 2011
- [49] Kun Xing; Lee, F.C.; Borojevic, D.; Zhihong Ye; Mazumder, S.; , "Interleaved PWM with discontinuous space-vector modulation," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.3414, no.5, pp.906-917, Sep 1999
- [50] Forest, F.; Meynard, T.A.; Laboure, E.; Costan, V.; Sarraute, E.; Cuniere, A.; Martire, T.; , "Optimization of the Supply Voltage System in Interleaved Converters Using Intercell Transformers," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.22, no.3, pp.934-942, May 2007
- [51] Laboure, E.; Cuniere, A.; Meynard, T.A.; Forest, F.; Sarraute, E.; , "A Theoretical Approach to InterCell Transformers, Application to Interleaved Converters," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.23, no.1, pp.464-474, Jan. 2008
- [52] Cougo, B.; Gateau, G.; Meynard, T.; Bobrowska-Rafal, M.; Cousineau, M.; , "PD Modulation Scheme for Three-Phase Parallel Multilevel Inverters," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.59, no.2, pp.690-700, Feb. 2012
- [53] Zumel, P.; Garcia, O.; Cobos, J.A.; Uceda, J.; , "Magnetic integration for interleaved converters," *Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition, 2003. APEC '03. Eighteenth Annual IEEE*, vol.2, no., pp.1143-1149 vol.2, 9-13 Feb. 2003
- [54] Di Zhang; Wang, F.; Burgos, R.; Rixin Lai; Thacker, T.; Boroyevich, D.; , "Interleaving impact on harmonic current in DC and AC passive components of paralleled three-phase

voltage-source converters," *Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition, 2008. APEC 2008. Twenty-Third Annual IEEE*, vol., no., pp.219-225, 24-28 Feb. 2008

- [55] Kimball, J.W.; Zawodniok, M.; , "Reducing Common-Mode Voltage in Three-Phase Sine-Triangle PWM With Interleaved Carriers," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions* on, vol.26, no.8, pp.2229-2236, Aug. 2011
- [56] Cougo, B.; Meynard, T.; Gateau, G.; , "Parallel Three-Phase Inverters: Optimal PWM Method for Flux Reduction in Intercell Transformers," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.26, no.8, pp.2184-2191, Aug. 2011
- [57] Di Zhang; Fei Wang; Burgos, R.; Rixin Lai; Boroyevich, D.; , "DC-Link Ripple Current Reduction for Paralleled Three-Phase Voltage-Source Converters With Interleaving," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.26, no.6, pp.1741-1753, June 2011
- [58] Di Zhang; Wang, F.; Burgos, R.; Rixin Lai; Boroyevich, D.; , "Impact of Interleaving on AC Passive Components of Paralleled Three-Phase Voltage-Source Converters," *Industry Applications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.46, no.3, pp.1042-1054, May-june 2010
- [59] Beechner, T.; Jian Sun; , "Asymmetric interleaving a new approach to operating parallel converters," *Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition, 2009. ECCE 2009. IEEE*, vol., no., pp.99-105, 20-24 Sept. 2009
- [60] Neacsu, D.O.; Wagner, E.; Borowy, B.; , "Selection of the PWM algorithm for 3-phase interleaved converters," *Industry Applications Conference, 2002. 37th IAS Annual Meeting. Conference Record of the*, vol.3, no., pp.1958-1965 vol.3, 13-18 Oct. 2002
- [61] Di Zhang; Fei Wang; Burgos, R.; Boroyevich, D.; , "Total Flux Minimization Control for Integrated Inter-Phase Inductors in Paralleled, Interleaved Three-Phase Two-Level Voltage-Source Converters With Discontinuous Space-Vector Modulation," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.27, no.4, pp.1679-1688, April 2012
- [62] Balog, R. S.; Krein, P. T.; , "Coupled-Inductor Filter: A Basic Filter Building Block," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.PP, no.99, pp.1, 0
- [63] Guangyong Zhu; McDonald, B.A.; Kunrong Wang; , "Modeling and Analysis of Coupled Inductors in Power Converters," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.26, no.5, pp.1355-1363, May 2011
- [64] Qianhong Chen; Ligang Xu; Xiaoyong Ren; Lingling Cao; Xinbo Ruan; , "A novel coupled inductor for interleaved converters," *Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), 2010 Twenty-Fifth Annual IEEE*, vol., no., pp.920-927, 21-25 Feb. 2010
- [65] In Gyu Park; Seon Ik Kim; , "Modeling and analysis of multi-interphase transformers for connecting power converters in parallel," *Power Electronics Specialists Conference*, 1997. PESC '97 Record., 28th Annual IEEE, vol.2, no., pp.1164-1170 vol.2, 22-27 Jun 1997
- [66] Hausmann, R.; Barbi, I.; , "Three-Phase DC–AC Converter Using Four-State Switching Cell," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.26, no.7, pp.1857-1867, July 2011
- [67] Ueda, F.; Matsui, K.; Asao, M.; Tsuboi, K.; , "Parallel-connections of pulsewidth modulated inverters using current sharing reactors," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.10, no.6, pp.673-679, Nov 1995
- [68] Floricau, D.; Floricau, E.; Gateau, G.; , "New Multilevel Converters With Coupled Inductors: Properties and Control," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.58, no.12, pp.5344-5351, Dec. 2011
- [69] Mori, H.; Matsui, K.; Kondo, K.; Yamamoto, I.; Hasegawa, M.; , "Parallel-connected five-level PWM inverters," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.18, no.1, pp. 173-179, Jan 2003
- [70] Mishra, S.; Adda, R.; Joshi, A.; , "Inverse Watkins–Johnson Topology-Based Inverter," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.27, no.3, pp.1066-1070, March 2012
- [71] Zixin Li; Ping Wang; Yaohua Li; Fanqiang Gao; , "A Novel Single-Phase Five-Level Inverter With Coupled Inductors," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.27, no.6, pp.2716-2725, June 2012

- [72] D.G. Holmes, T.A. Lipo, Pulse Width Modulation for Power Converters, Piscataway, NJ: IEEE Press, 2003.
- [73] H.W. Van der Broeck, H. Skudelny, and G. Stanke, "Analysis and realization of a pulse width modulator based on voltage space vectors" IEEE Trans. on Industry Applications, vol. 24, no. 1, Jan./Feb. 1988, pp. 142-150.
- [74] Blaabjerg, F.; Freysson, S.; Hansen, H.-H.; Hansen, S.; , "A new optimized space-vector modulation strategy for a component-minimized voltage source inverter," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.12, no.4, pp.704-714, Jul 1997
- [75] Haoran Zhang; Von Jouanne, A.; Shaoan Dai; Wallace, A.K.; Fei Wang; , "Multilevel inverter modulation schemes to eliminate common-mode voltages," *Industry Applications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.36, no.6, pp. 1645-1653, Nov/Dec 2000
- [76] Khan, H.; Miliani, E.; Drissi, K.E.K.; , "Discontinuous Random Space Vector Modulation for Electric Drives: A Digital Approach," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.27, no.12, pp.4944-4951, Dec. 2012
- [77] Holmes, D.G.; , "The significance of zero space vector placement for carrier-based PWM schemes," *Industry Applications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.32, no.5, pp.1122-1129, Sep/Oct 1996
- [78] Hava, A.M.; Kerkman, R.J.; Lipo, T.A.; , "Simple analytical and graphical methods for carrier-based PWM-VSI drives," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.14, no.1, pp.49-61, Jan 1999
- [79] McGrath, B.P.; Holmes, D.G.; Lipo, T.; , "Optimized space vector switching sequences for multilevel inverters," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.18, no.6, pp. 1293-1301, Nov. 2003
- [80] Celanovic, N.; Boroyevich, D.; , "A fast space-vector modulation algorithm for multilevel three-phase converters," *Industry Applications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.37, no.2, pp.637-641, Mar/Apr 2001
- [81] Lu, R.; Zhu, C.; Tian, L.; Wang, Q.; , "Super-Capacitor Stacks Management System With Dynamic Equalization Techniques," *Magnetics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.43, no.1, pp.254-258, Jan. 2007
- [82] Salmon, J.; Ewanchuk, J.; , "A Single Switch Split DC-Rail Boost Converter Topology Operated Under Steady-State Unbalanced Load Conditions in Discontinuous Conduction," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.22, no.6, pp.2454-2465, Nov. 2007
- [83] von Jouanne, A.; Dai, S.; Zhang, H.; , "A multilevel inverter approach providing DC-link balancing, ride-through enhancement, and common-mode voltage elimination," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.49, no.4, pp. 739- 745, Aug 2002
- [84] Hasegawa, K.; Akagi, H.; , "Low-Modulation-Index Operation of a Five-Level Diode-Clamped PWM Inverter With a DC-Voltage-Balancing Circuit for a Motor Drive," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.27, no.8, pp.3495-3504, Aug. 2012
- [85] Kutkut, N.H.; Divan, D.M.; , "Dynamic equalization techniques for series battery stacks," *Telecommunications Energy Conference, 1996. INTELEC '96., 18th International*, vol., no., pp.514-521, 6-10 Oct 1996
- [86] Jian Cao; Schofield, N.; Emadi, A.; , "Battery balancing methods: A comprehensive review," *Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference, 2008. VPPC '08. IEEE*, vol., no., pp.1-6, 3-5 Sept. 2008
- [87] Pascual, C.; Krein, P.T.; , "Switched capacitor system for automatic series battery equalization," *Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition*, 1997. APEC '97 Conference Proceedings 1997., Twelfth Annual, vol.2, no., pp.848-854 vol.2, 23-27 Feb 1997
- [88] Baughman, A.C.; Ferdowsi, M.; , "Double-Tiered Switched-Capacitor Battery Charge Equalization Technique," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.55, no.6, pp.2277-2285, June 2008
- [89] Kutkut, N.H.; , "A modular nondissipative current diverter for EV battery charge equalization," *Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition, 1998. APEC '98.*

Conference Proceedings 1998., Thirteenth Annual, vol.2, no., pp.686-690 vol.2, 15-19 Feb 1998

- [90] Hong-Sun Park; Chong-Eun Kim; Gun-Woo Moon; Joong-Hui Lee; Jeon Keun Oh; , "Charge Equalization with Series Coupling of Multiple Primary Windings for Hybrid Electric Vehicle Li-Ion Battery System," *Power Electronics Specialists Conference*, 2007. PESC 2007. IEEE , vol., no., pp.266-272, 17-21 June 2007
- [91] Hong-Sun Park; Chol-Ho Kim; Ki-Bum Park; Gun-Woo Moon; Joong-Hui Lee; , "Design of a Charge Equalizer Based on Battery Modularization," *Vehicular Technology, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.58, no.7, pp.3216-3223, Sept. 2009
- [92] Chol-Ho Kim; Moon-Young Kim; Hong-Sun Park; Gun-Woo Moon; , "A Modularized Two-Stage Charge Equalizer With Cell Selection Switches for Series-Connected Lithium-Ion Battery String in an HEV," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.27, no.8, pp.3764-3774, Aug. 2012
- [93] Hong-Sun Park; Chong-Eun Kim; Chol-Ho Kim; Gun-Woo Moon; Joong-Hui Lee; , "A Modularized Charge Equalizer for an HEV Lithium-Ion Battery String," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.56, no.5, pp.1464-1476, May 2009
- [94] R.W Erickson, D. Maksimovic, Fundamentals of Power Electronics, 2nd edition, Norwell, MA: Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2001.
- [95] Cougo, B.; Friedli, T.; Boillat, D.O.; Kolar, J.W.; , "Comparative Evaluation of Individual and Coupled Inductor Arrangements for Input Filters of PV Inverter Systems," *Integrated Power Electronics Systems (CIPS), 2012 7th International Conference on*, vol., no., pp.1-8, 6-8 March 2012
- [96] Feng Zheng; Yunqing Pei; Yuanqiang Liu; Laili Wang; Xu Yang; Zhaoan Wang; , "Design Coupled Inductors for Interleaved Converters Using a Three-Leg Core," *Magnetics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.44, no.12, pp.4697-4705, Dec. 2008
- [97] W. T. McLyman, Transformer and Inductor Design Handbook, 3rd edition, NY: Marcel Dekker, Inc. 2004.
- [98] http://www.thomasandskinner.com/
- [99] Vafakhah, B.; Ewanchuk, J.; Salmon, J.; , "Multicarrier Interleaved PWM Strategies for a Five-Level NPC Inverter Using a Three-Phase Coupled Inductor," *Industry Applications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.47, no.6, pp.2549-2558, Nov.-Dec. 2011
- [100] Ewanchuk, J.; Salmon, J.; Vafakhah, B.; , "A Five-/Nine-Level Twelve-Switch Neutral-Point-Clamped Inverter for High-Speed Electric Drives," *Industry Applications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.47, no.5, pp.2145-2153, Sept.-Oct. 2011
- [101] www.semikron.com
- [102] W. A. Peterson, G. G. Roden, "Magnetically Coupled Autonomous Battery Equalization Circuit" US. Patent: 6,222,344
- [103] H. Schmidt, M. Jantsch, "Method and Device for Charge Exchange Between a plurality of Energy Stores or Converters Connected in Series". US. Patent: 5,821,792
- [104] http://www.eigbattery.com/
- [105] http://www.coilcraft.com/
- [106] Part SP8K1: http://www.rohm.com/
- [107] Part AO320: http://www.aosmd.com/

# Appendix

# Switch Selection Tables (with index input)

Index	Sa	Sb	Sc	Hex	Index	Sa	Sb	Sc	Hex	Index	Sa	Sb	Sc	Hex
0	6	6	6	666	257	6	6	6	666	515	2	7	6	276
1	6	2	7	627	258	2	6	7	267	516	7	2	6	726
2	4	14	6	4E6	259	6	4	14	64E	517	6	6	6	666
3	6	6	6	666	260	6	14	4	6E4	518	14	6	4	E64
4	6	6	6	666	261	7	6	2	762	519	7	2	6	726
5	14	4	6	E46	262	6	6	6	666	520	6	2	14	62E
6	6	7	2	672	263	6	14	4	6E4	521	6	3	6	636
7	6	6	6	666	264	6	12	12	6CC	522	2	3	7	237
8	5	14	6	5E6	265	6	14	4	6E4	523	6	2	14	62E
9	4	6	7	467	266	2	14	6	2E6	524	6	7	4	674
10	6	6	3	663	267	3	6	6	366	525	7	3	2	732
11	2	7	11	27B	268	3	6	6	366	526	6	3	6	636
12	7	2	11	72B	269	7	4	6	746	527	6	7	4	674
13	6	6	3	663	270	6	4	14	64E	528	6	6	12	66C
14	14	6	2	E62	271	6	12	12	6CC	529	6	2	14	62E
15	14	4	6	E46	272	2	14	6	2E6	530	2	7	6	276
16	12	4	14	C4E	273	2	6	7	267	531	3	3	6	336
17	12	6	6	C66	274	3	6	3	363	532	3	3	6	336
18	4	6	7	467	275	2	14	6	2E6	533	7	2	6	726
19	6	2	7	627	276	7	4	6	746	534	6	7	4	674
20	6	7	2	672	277	3	6	3	363	535	6	6	12	66C
21	14	6	2	E62	278	7	6	2	762	536	4	6	14	46E
22	12	6	6	C66	279	7	4	6	746	537	6	2	14	62E
23	12	14	4	CE4	280	4	12	14	4CE	538	2	7	6	276
24	4	6	7	467	281	6	4	14	64E	539	2	3	7	237
25	6	2	7	627	282	2	14	6	2E6	540	7	3	2	732
26	2	7	11	27B	283	2	6	7	267	541	7	2	6	726
27	4	6	7	467	284	7	6	2	762	542	6	7	4	674
28	14	6	2	E62	285	7	4	6	746	543	14	6	4	E64
29	7	2	11	72B	286	6	14	4	6E4	544	4	7	12	47C
30	6	7	2	672	287	14	12	4	EC4	545	4	3	14	43E
31	14	6	2	E62	288	3	4	14	34E	546	6	3	6	636
32	12	12	6	CC6	289	3	6	6	366	547	4	7	12	47C
33	12	4	7	C47	290	2	12	14	2CE	548	14	2	12	E2C
34	4	14	11	4EB	291	3	4	14	34E	549	6	3	6	636
35	6	6	3	663	292	3	14	4	3E4	550	14	3	4	E34
									r	r				
----	----	----	----	-----	-----	---	----	----	-----	-----	----	---	----	-----
36	6	6	3	663	293	7	12	4	7C4	551	14	2	12	E2C
37	14	4	11	E4B	294	3	6	6	366	552	2	3	14	23E
38	12	14	2	CE2	295	3	14	4	3E4	553	4	7	12	47C
39	12	12	6	CC6	296	2	12	14	2CE	554	6	7	4	674
40	4	6	7	467	297	2	14	6	2E6	555	7	3	4	734
41	4	7	11	47B	298	3	14	2	3E2	556	2	3	14	23E
42	12	4	7	C47	299	2	12	14	2CE	557	6	2	14	62E
43	4	6	7	467	300	7	12	4	7C4	558	14	2	12	E2C
44	14	6	2	E62	301	3	4	7	347	559	7	3	4	734
45	12	14	2	CE2	302	7	4	6	746	560	2	7	12	27C
46	14	2	11	E2B	303	7	12	4	7C4	561	2	3	14	23E
47	14	6	2	E62	304	3	4	7	347	562	6	6	12	66C
48	12	6	6	C66	305	3	6	3	363	563	2	7	12	27C
49	12	2	7	C27	306	2	12	7	2C7	564	7	2	12	72C
50	4	7	11	47B	307	3	4	7	347	565	6	6	12	66C
51	6	3	11	63B	308	3	14	2	3E2	566	7	3	4	734
52	6	3	11	63B	309	7	12	2	7C2	567	7	2	12	72C
53	14	2	11	E2B	310	3	6	3	363	568	12	6	12	C6C
54	12	7	2	C72	311	3	14	2	3E2	569	4	7	12	47C
55	12	6	6	C66	312	2	14	6	2E6	570	6	7	4	674
56	12	4	7	C47	313	6	12	12	6CC	571	6	3	6	636
57	4	6	7	467	314	2	12	14	2CE	572	6	3	6	636
58	6	6	3	663	315	2	14	6	2E6	573	6	2	14	62E
59	12	4	7	C47	316	7	4	6	746	574	14	2	12	E2C
60	12	14	2	CE2	317	7	12	4	7C4	575	12	6	12	C6C
61	6	6	3	663	318	6	12	12	6CC	576	6	2	14	62E
62	14	6	2	E62	319	7	4	6	746	577	7	3	4	734
63	12	14	2	CE2	320	6	12	6	6C6	578	3	3	6	336
64	4	7	11	47B	321	2	14	6	2E6	579	6	2	14	62E
65	6	3	11	63B	322	3	4	7	347	580	6	7	4	674
66	4	6	7	467	323	6	12	6	6C6	581	3	3	6	336
67	4	7	11	47B	324	6	12	6	6C6	582	2	3	14	23E
68	14	2	11	E2B	325	3	14	2	3E2	583	6	7	4	674
69	14	6	2	E62	326	7	4	6	746	584	6	3	12	63C
70	6	3	11	63B	327	6	12	6	6C6	585	12	3	12	C3C
71	14	2	11	E2B	328	3	12	12	3CC	586	12	6	12	C6C
72	12	12	6	CC6	329	3	6	6	366	587	6	3	12	63C
73	12	6	3	C63	330	3	12	6	3C6	588	6	3	12	63C
74	12	12	3	CC3	331	3	12	12	3CC	589	12	6	12	C6C
75	6	6	3	663	332	3	12	12	3CC	590	12	3	12	C3C
76	6	6	3	663	333	3	12	6	3C6	591	6	3	12	63C

										r				
77	12	12	3	CC3	334	3	6	6	366	592	6	3	12	63C
78	12	6	3	C63	335	3	12	12	3CC	593	12	3	12	C3C
79	12	12	6	CC6	336	3	12	12	3CC	594	12	6	12	C6C
80	12	12	6	CC6	337	3	6	6	366	595	6	3	12	63C
81	12	6	3	C63	338	3	12	6	3C6	596	6	3	12	63C
82	12	12	3	CC3	339	3	12	12	3CC	597	12	6	12	C6C
83	6	6	3	663	340	3	12	12	3CC	598	12	3	12	C3C
84	6	6	3	663	341	3	12	6	3C6	599	6	3	12	63C
85	12	12	3	CC3	342	3	6	6	366	600	3	3	12	33C
86	12	6	3	C63	343	3	12	12	3CC	601	6	3	12	63C
87	12	12	6	CC6	344	3	12	6	3C6	602	3	3	6	336
88	12	6	6	C66	345	3	6	3	363	603	3	3	12	33C
89	12	3	3	C33	346	3	12	3	3C3	604	3	3	12	33C
90	12	6	3	C63	347	3	12	6	3C6	605	3	3	6	336
91	6	3	3	633	348	3	12	6	3C6	606	6	3	12	63C
92	6	3	3	633	349	3	12	3	3C3	607	3	3	12	33C
93	12	6	3	C63	350	3	6	3	363	608	3	3	12	33C
94	12	3	3	C33	351	3	12	6	3C6	609	6	3	12	63C
95	12	6	6	C66	352	3	12	6	3C6	610	3	3	6	336
96	12	6	6	C66	353	3	6	3	363	611	3	3	12	33C
97	12	3	3	C33	354	3	12	3	3C3	612	3	3	12	33C
98	12	6	3	C63	355	3	12	6	3C6	613	3	3	6	336
99	6	3	3	633	356	3	12	6	3C6	614	6	3	12	63C
100	6	3	3	633	357	3	12	3	3C3	615	3	3	12	33C
101	12	6	3	C63	358	3	6	3	363	616	6	3	12	63C
102	12	3	3	C33	359	3	12	6	3C6	617	12	3	12	C3C
103	12	6	6	C66	360	3	12	12	3CC	618	12	6	12	C6C
104	12	12	6	CC6	361	3	6	6	366	619	6	3	12	63C
105	12	6	3	C63	362	3	12	6	3C6	620	6	3	12	63C
106	12	12	3	CC3	363	3	12	12	3CC	621	12	6	12	C6C
107	6	6	3	663	364	3	12	12	3CC	622	12	3	12	C3C
108	6	6	3	663	365	3	12	6	3C6	623	6	3	12	63C
109	12	12	3	CC3	366	3	6	6	366	624	4	7	12	47C
110	12	6	3	C63	367	3	12	12	3CC	625	6	3	12	63C
111	12	12	6	CC6	368	3	4	7	347	626	2	3	14	23E
112	12	6	3	C63	369	2	12	14	2CE	627	4	7	12	47C
113	4	7	11	47B	370	3	12	6	3C6	628	14	2	12	E2C
114	12	4	7	C47	371	3	4	7	347	629	7	3	4	734
115	12	6	3	C63	372	3	14	2	3E2	630	6	3	12	63C
116	12	6	3	C63	373	3	12	6	3C6	631	14	2	12	E2C
117	12	14	2	CE2	374	7	12	4	7C4	632	3	3	12	33C

118	14	2	11	E2B	375	3	14	2	3E2	633	6	3	12	63C
119	12	6	3	C63	376	3	12	6	3C6	634	3	3	6	336
120	12	6	7	C67	377	3	6	3	363	635	3	3	12	33C
121	12	3	4	C34	378	3	12	3	3C3	636	3	3	12	33C
122	12	6	6	C66	379	3	12	6	3C6	637	3	3	6	336
123	6	3	2	632	380	3	12	6	3C6	638	6	3	12	63C
124	6	3	7	637	381	3	12	3	3C3	639	3	3	12	33C
125	12	6	6	C66	382	3	6	3	363	640	6	2	7	627
126	12	3	14	C3E	383	3	12	6	3C6	641	4	6	14	46E
127	12	6	2	C62	384	6	6	6	666	642	6	6	6	666
128	4	14	6	4E6	385	2	7	6	276	643	6	2	7	627
129	6	6	6	666	386	6	4	14	64E	644	6	7	2	672
130	2	6	7	267	387	6	6	6	666	645	6	6	6	666
131	4	14	6	4E6	388	6	6	6	666	646	14	6	4	E64
132	14	4	6	E46	389	6	14	4	6E4	647	6	7	2	672
133	7	6	2	762	390	7	2	6	726	648	12	6	6	C66
134	6	6	6	666	391	6	6	6	666	649	4	7	6	476
135	14	4	6	E46	392	4	14	12	4EC	650	6	7	2	672
136	6	4	7	647	393	6	6	12	66C	651	6	3	3	633
137	14	12	4	EC4	394	2	6	14	26E	652	6	3	3	633
138	6	12	6	6C6	395	2	7	6	276	653	6	2	7	627
139	6	14	2	6E2	396	7	2	6	726	654	14	2	6	E26
140	6	4	7	647	397	7	6	4	764	655	12	6	6	C66
141	6	12	6	6C6	398	6	6	12	66C	656	4	7	6	476
142	4	12	14	4CE	399	14	4	12	E4C	657	6	3	6	636
143	6	14	2	6E2	400	6	4	14	64E	658	4	6	14	46E
144	12	12	6	CC6	401	2	6	14	26E	659	4	7	6	476
145	4	14	11	4EB	402	3	6	6	366	660	14	2	6	E26
146	6	14	2	6E2	403	3	2	7	327	661	14	6	4	E64
147	12	12	6	CC6	404	3	7	2	372	662	6	3	6	636
148	12	12	6	CC6	405	3	6	6	366	663	14	2	6	E26
149	6	4	7	647	406	7	6	4	764	664	4	6	14	46E
150	14	4	11	E4B	407	6	14	4	6E4	665	4	7	6	476
151	12	12	6	CC6	408	2	6	14	26E	666	6	7	2	672
152	4	12	14	4CE	409	2	7	6	276	667	7	3	2	732
153	4	14	6	4E6	410	6	4	14	64E	668	2	3	7	237
154	6	4	7	647	411	2	6	14	26E	669	6	2	7	627
155	2	6	7	267	412	7	6	4	764	670	14	2	6	E26
156	7	6	2	762	413	6	14	4	6E4	671	14	6	4	E64
157	6	14	2	6E2	414	7	2	6	726	672	12	2	7	C27
158	14	4	6	E46	415	7	6	4	764	673	4	3	7	437

159	14	12	4	EC4	416	3	3	6	336	674	6	3	3	633
160	2	14	11	2EB	417	2	7	12	27C	675	12	2	7	C27
161	6	12	6	6C6	418	3	2	14	32E	676	12	7	2	C72
162	2	12	7	2C7	419	6	6	12	66C	677	6	3	3	633
163	2	14	11	2EB	420	6	6	12	66C	678	14	3	2	E32
164	7	4	11	74B	421	3	7	4	374	679	12	7	2	C72
165	7	12	2	7C2	422	7	2	12	72C	680	4	3	7	437
166	6	12	6	6C6	423	3	3	6	336	681	12	2	14	C2E
167	7	4	11	74B	424	2	6	14	26E	682	14	2	6	E26
168	4	12	7	4C7	425	3	2	14	32E	683	4	3	7	437
169	6	4	7	647	426	7	4	12	74C	684	14	3	2	E32
170	7	4	11	74B	427	2	6	14	26E	685	4	7	6	476
171	14	12	2	EC2	428	7	6	4	764	686	12	7	4	C74
172	4	12	7	4C7	429	2	14	12	2EC	687	14	3	2	E32
173	2	14	11	2EB	430	3	7	4	374	688	12	2	14	C2E
174	6	14	2	6E2	431	7	6	4	764	689	4	3	14	43E
175	14	12	2	EC2	432	6	12	12	6CC	690	6	3	6	636
176	4	14	11	4EB	433	2	14	12	2EC	691	12	2	14	C2E
177	12	12	6	CC6	434	3	4	14	34E	692	12	7	4	C74
178	4	12	7	4C7	435	3	6	6	366	693	6	3	6	636
179	4	14	11	4EB	436	3	6	6	366	694	14	3	4	E34
180	14	4	11	E4B	437	3	14	4	3E4	695	12	7	4	C74
181	14	12	2	EC2	438	7	4	12	74C	696	4	7	6	476
182	12	12	6	CC6	439	6	12	12	6CC	697	4	3	7	437
183	14	4	11	E4B	440	3	2	14	32E	698	6	3	3	633
184	6	12	6	6C6	441	3	3	6	336	699	4	7	6	476
185	6	4	7	647	442	2	6	14	26E	700	14	2	6	E26
186	7	4	11	74B	443	3	2	14	32E	701	6	3	3	633
187	3	6	11	36B	444	3	7	4	374	702	14	3	2	E32
188	3	6	11	36B	445	7	6	4	764	703	14	2	6	E26
189	2	14	11	2EB	446	3	3	6	336	704	12	6	12	C6C
190	6	14	2	6E2	447	3	7	4	374	705	12	2	14	C2E
191	6	12	6	6C6	448	2	14	12	2EC	706	14	2	6	E26
192	6	4	7	647	449	2	6	14	26E	707	6	3	6	636
193	12	12	6	CC6	450	6	12	12	6CC	708	6	3	6	636
194	4	12	7	4C7	451	2	14	12	2EC	709	4	7	6	476
195	6	4	7	647	452	7	4	12	74C	710	12	7	4	C74
196	6	14	2	6E2	453	6	12	12	6CC	711	12	6	12	C6C
197	14	12	2	EC2	454	7	6	4	764	712	12	3	3	C33
198	12	12	6	CC6	455	7	4	12	74C	713	12	3	6	C36
199	6	14	2	6E2	456	3	3	6	336	714	12	6	6	C66

								1	1					
200	6	12	3	6C3	457	3	3	12	33C	715	12	3	3	C33
201	3	6	11	36B	458	3	6	12	36C	716	12	3	3	C33
202	3	12	11	3CB	459	6	6	12	66C	717	12	6	6	C66
203	6	12	3	6C3	460	6	6	12	66C	718	12	3	6	C36
204	6	12	3	6C3	461	3	6	12	36C	719	12	3	3	C33
205	3	12	11	3CB	462	3	3	12	33C	720	12	3	3	C33
206	3	6	11	36B	463	3	3	6	336	721	12	3	6	C36
207	6	12	3	6C3	464	3	3	6	336	722	12	6	6	C66
208	6	12	3	6C3	465	3	3	12	33C	723	12	3	3	C33
209	3	6	11	36B	466	3	6	12	36C	724	12	3	3	C33
210	3	12	11	3CB	467	6	6	12	66C	725	12	6	6	C66
211	6	12	3	6C3	468	6	6	12	66C	726	12	3	6	C36
212	6	12	3	6C3	469	3	6	12	36C	727	12	3	3	C33
213	3	12	11	3CB	470	3	3	12	33C	728	12	3	6	C36
214	3	6	11	36B	471	3	3	6	336	729	12	3	12	C3C
215	6	12	3	6C3	472	3	6	6	366	730	12	6	12	C6C
216	12	12	3	CC3	473	3	6	12	36C	731	12	3	6	C36
217	12	12	6	CC6	474	3	12	12	3CC	732	12	3	6	C36
218	6	12	11	6CB	475	6	12	12	6CC	733	12	6	12	C6C
219	12	12	11	CCB	476	6	12	12	6CC	734	12	3	12	C3C
220	12	12	11	CCB	477	3	12	12	3CC	735	12	3	6	C36
221	6	12	11	6CB	478	3	6	12	36C	736	12	3	6	C36
222	12	12	6	CC6	479	3	6	6	366	737	12	3	12	C3C
223	12	12	3	CC3	480	3	6	6	366	738	12	6	12	C6C
224	12	12	3	CC3	481	3	6	12	36C	739	12	3	6	C36
225	12	12	6	CC6	482	3	12	12	3CC	740	12	3	6	C36
226	6	12	11	6CB	483	6	12	12	6CC	741	12	6	12	C6C
227	12	12	11	CCB	484	6	12	12	6CC	742	12	3	12	C3C
228	12	12	11	CCB	485	3	12	12	3CC	743	12	3	6	C36
229	6	12	11	6CB	486	3	6	12	36C	744	12	3	3	C33
230	12	12	6	CC6	487	3	6	6	366	745	12	3	6	C36
231	12	12	3	CC3	488	3	3	6	336	746	12	6	6	C66
232	6	12	3	6C3	489	3	3	12	33C	747	12	3	3	C33
233	3	6	11	36B	490	3	6	12	36C	748	12	3	3	C33
234	3	12	11	3CB	491	6	6	12	66C	749	12	6	6	C66
235	6	12	3	6C3	492	6	6	12	66C	750	12	3	6	C36
236	6	12	3	6C3	493	3	6	12	36C	751	12	3	3	C33
237	3	12	11	3CB	494	3	3	12	33C	752	12	2	14	C2E
238	3	6	11	36B	495	3	3	6	336	753	12	3	6	C36
239	6	12	3	6C3	496	3	6	12	36C	754	4	3	7	437
240	2	14	11	2EB	497	3	2	14	32E	755	12	2	14	C2E

241	4	12	7	4C7	498	2	14	12	2EC	756	12	7	4	C74
242	6	12	11	6CB	499	3	6	12	36C	757	14	3	2	E32
243	2	14	11	2EB	500	3	6	12	36C	758	12	3	6	C36
244	7	4	11	74B	501	7	4	12	74C	759	12	7	4	C74
245	6	12	11	6CB	502	3	7	4	374	760	12	3	6	C36
246	14	12	2	EC2	503	3	6	12	36C	761	12	3	12	C3C
247	7	4	11	74B	504	3	6	6	366	762	12	6	12	C6C
248	12	12	3	CC3	505	3	6	12	36C	763	12	3	6	C36
249	12	12	6	CC6	506	3	12	12	3CC	764	12	3	6	C36
250	6	12	11	6CB	507	6	12	12	6CC	765	12	6	12	C6C
251	12	12	11	CCB	508	6	12	12	6CC	766	12	3	12	C3C
252	12	12	11	CCB	509	3	12	12	3CC	767	12	3	6	C36
253	6	12	11	6CB	510	3	6	12	36C					
254	12	12	6	CC6	511	3	6	6	366					
255	12	12	3	CC3	512	2	7	6	276					
256	6	4	14	64E	513	4	6	14	46E					
					514	6	6	6	666					